## NEGOTIATING PARENTAL LEAVES IN CORPORATE ALBERTA

## TATUM FRASER Master of Arts, University of Lethbridge, 2021

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

## **MASTER OF ARTS**

in

## **SOCIOLOGY**

Department of Sociology University of Lethbridge LETHBRIDGE, ALBERTA, CANADA

© Tatum Fraser, 2021

## NEGOTIATING PARENTAL LEAVES IN CORPORATE ALBERTA

## TATUM FRASER

Date of Defence: July 20, 2021

Dr. M. Mellow Thesis Supervisor	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. K. Granzow Thesis Examination Committee Member	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. M. Runte Thesis Examination Committee Member	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. Tom Perks Chair, Thesis Examination Committee	Associate Professor	Ph.D.

## **DEDICATION**

To my Dad, a champion of workplace gender equality who inspired the undertaking of this research. You are a role model, mentor, and hero to all who know you.

## **ABSTRACT**

This thesis inquiry has analysed the ways in which parental leaves are experienced by those working in medium to large corporations in Alberta. The aim of this research was to discover the implications of parental leave on workers within a corporate setting and to better understand how these implications differ by gender. Within the broader contexts of feminist political economy and social constructionism, my research uncovered three primary findings. First, leave-taking individuals lack appropriate policy knowledge. Next, leave-taking individuals redefine their leaves in non-standard ways. Lastly, leave-taking individuals struggle to balance worker and parent identities both within and outside of the home and workplace. My findings suggest that a one size fits all maternity and parental leave policy is not enough.

## **PREFACE**

This qualitative research obtained in this document gained approval from the University of Lethbridge Human Participant Research Committee as well as compliance with the Tri-Council standards. This included the approval of flyers or advertisements for participants, and participant consent forms. The COVID-19 pandemic was an unforeseeable circumstance that arose during the interviewing stages of my research. Care and consideration was given to the health and safety of myself and participants and the majority of my interviews were conducted virtually via Zoom. In the instance that interviews could not be completed virtually, in-person, outdoor, and socially distanced interviews took place.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to show gratitude to those who helped throughout my graduate degree. Firstly, I would like to thank my wonderful supervisor Dr. Muriel Mellow for her continued support, assistance, and direction over the past two years. Without her, I would have never properly learned how to 'swim' within the pages of my research. I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. Mary Runte and Dr. Kara Granzow who in conjunction with Dr. Muriel Mellow have demonstrated the strength and power of women in academia.

Next, I would like to thank my family for their unwavering support and unconditional love. My grandparents, parents, and sisters pushed me to learn the values of perseverance and resilience in the face of adversity. I am thankful for their pep talks and thesis edits but I'm mostly thankful for the hours they spent listening to me babble on about parental leave.

Finally, my heartfelt thanks goes out to all the new parents who participated in this study. Without their contributions and insights, this thesis would not have been possible. I am beyond appreciative for the life advice they were willing to share. If I should be so lucky, I will take the words and stories shared by my participants to inform my parental leave one day.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedicationi	ii
Abstracti	V
Preface	.v
Acknowledgements	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Research Questions	5
1.2 Objectives	6
1.3 Theoretical Frameworks	6
Chapter 2: Literature Review	2
2.1 Geographic Comparisons from Québec and European Countries	2
2.2 The Question of Unpaid Domestic Work	0
2.3 Fathers' Reluctance to Take Parental Leave	23
2.4 Organizational Cultures and Stigmatizations	26
2.5 Structural Features and Organizational Culture	3
2.6 Discussion: Theory and Literature	8
Chapter 3: Methodology	1
3.1 Ontology and Methodological Frameworks	1
3.2 Research Participants and Sampling Frame	3
3.3 Participant Recruitment	6
3.4 Qualitative Interviews. 4	8
3.5 The Influence of the COVID-19 Pandemic on my Methodology 5	51
3.6 Data Management and Analysis	3

3.7 Conclusion	55
Chapter 4: Feminist Political Economy and Leave Experiences	57
4.1 Feminist Political Economy	58
4.2 Occupational Position of Participants	59
4.3 Gendered Experiences of Leave and Work	62
4.4 Structural Features Influencing a Participant's Choice of Leave	68
4.5 Penalties Towards Employees Who Take Leave	77
4.6 Knowledge of Parental Leave Policy	81
4.7 Redefining Leave	85
4.8 Conclusion	89
Chapter 5: Social Constructionism and The Reactions Of Others	91
5.1 Social Constructionism	91
5.2 Gender-Differentiated Reactions to Leave by Co-Workers and Managers	93
5.3 Gender-Differentiated Reactions to Leave by Spouses	99
5.4 Organizational Culture Influencing Participants' Choice of Leave	102
5.5 The Worker-Parent Identity Crisis	107
5.6 Conclusion	112
Chapter 6: COVID-19 and Its Influence On My Research	114
6.1 Emerging Research on Parenting and Working During COVID-19	114
6.2 COVID-19 Temporary Parental Leave Policy Changes	120
6.3 COVID-19 and Managing The Return To Work	122
6.4 COVID-19 and Participants' Answering Strategies	124
6.5 Redefining Leave and COVID-19	127

6.6 Conclusion	128
Chapter 7: Conclusion	130
7.1 Research Questions, Literature, and Subsequent Findings	131
7.2 Return to Theory	138
7.3 Recommendations and Suggestions for Additional Research	142
7.4 Final Thoughts	145
References	146
Appendix 1: Thematic Codes	154

## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

My research examines the impacts of taking parental leave on workers in medium to large businesses in Alberta. This research is primarily based on interviews with individuals who are currently taking parental leave or who have recently returned to work after parental leave. The Canadian government recently added an option for five additional weeks of parental benefits (if the leave is shared by both parents) effective March 2019. Extended parental benefits and leave, up to 61 weeks, have been available in Canada since 2017 (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2019b). Workers now have the option for longer parental leaves, and more men may be taking leaves, so concerns about negative reactions by co-workers and employers may be heightened with these changes. Improving workplace attitudes toward leave uptake is especially important to encourage the second parent to take the additional leave that is now provided for them. Additionally, an investigation into the newness of these policies and the knowledge new parents have about these polices is valuable to further understand parental leave experiences. My research evaluates the implications of paid leave on an individual's status within a company in light of these recent policy changes. This chapter will outline my research questions and primary objectives with a concluding discussion of the theoretical frameworks guiding this thesis inquiry.

My thesis contributes to knowledge in the field by using an employment perspective to analyze how the individual's uptake of parental leave is influenced by organizational cultures and corporate attitudes and norms. Organizational culture can be defined as shared sets of values and beliefs that influence employee actions (Hass & Hwang, 2007, 54). Much of the current research surrounding maternity and parental leave

describes how leave uptake influences families more broadly—specifically in regards to domestic labour, divisions of parenting, and childcare (Borgkvist et al. 2018; Doucet 2006; McKay & Doucet 2010; Rehel 2014). When conceptualizing parental leave, the employment perspective I am considering is an interesting facet and at times is overlooked in current literature. I recognize it is valuable to describe the influences of parental leave on families due to the topic's popularity in current research and the practical outcomes it has for families. However, my thesis can provide timely insights in the field in regards to the impact on individuals as employees in light of recent governmental policy changes.

An employment perspective considers the ways in which factors related to an individual's employment, such as position in company and seniority, can influence the uptake of parental leave. As well, an employment perspective considers all the formal and informal interactions with others in the workplace that shape a future parent's decision-making. These factors can influence what type of leave a parent takes (12 or 18 months), the possibility to complete working tasks throughout leave, and what type of position an individual returns to post-leave such as a shift to part-time hours. Tremblay and Genin (2010) underscore the importance of an employment perspective by emphasizing what they believe to be the primary goal of parental leave. They state "[p]arental leave is designed to allow parents to concentrate on family matters for a certain period, to keep their job and to return to their paid employment afterwards without a problem"(533). A smooth return to employment post-leave seems to be a goal of parental leave policies in addition to facilitating space for family matters. An examination of discussions surrounding employment and leave-taking is valuable to better understand the interrelated

experiences of working and parenting, including the return to work within the parameters of government policy.

McKay and co-authors (2016) utilize similar employment perspectives in their research when they state "[l]eaves of absence straddle the intersection of employment relations and family life, and government realms of social/family policy and labour market policy" (549). Taking an employment perspective when discussing parental leave is valuable because it not only recognizes working and parenting to be intertwined but it also functions in unison with feminist political economy to facilitate broader discussions surrounding how inequalities come about. Workplaces are understood by both Doucet & McKay (2020) and Moss & Deven (2015) to be an "unresolved presence" which becomes a determinant of whether parents take leave or not and the environment into which parents return after taking leave (Moss & Deven, 2015, 142). The conjunction between leave as it relates to employment and workplaces more broadly is what this thesis is most interested in discussing. The employment perspective is use in a growing body of literature that attends to connections between parental leave policies and workplace cultures (for example, see Doucet & McKay 2020; Moss & Deven 2015; Tremblay & Genin 2010).

Maternity and parental benefits and leaves in Canada are as follows. A fifteen week maternity leave is given to the birth-giving parent (including surrogates) at fifty-five percent of average weekly insurable earnings. Parental leave can be broken down into standard and extended benefits. Both the standard and extended benefits are open to birth and adoptive parents and can be taken by one parent or shared by both. The standard parental leave includes a thirty-five week leave at fifty-five percent of average weekly

insurable earnings. The extended parental leave includes a sixty-one week leave at thirty-three percent of average weekly insurable earnings.

Lastly, the recently added March 2019 parental leave includes a five-week standard leave at fifty-five percent of average weekly insurable earnings or an eight-week extended at thirty-three percent of average weekly insurable earnings only if the leave is taken by the second parent (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2019a). The standard parental leave includes a total of forty weeks of leave with one parent taking no more than thirty-five weeks while the extended parental leave includes a total of sixty-nine weeks of leave with one parent taking no more than sixty-one weeks. The rate of parental leave uptake by men in 2016 was roughly twelve percent (Department of Finance 2018). There also were temporary provisions made to the maternity and parental leave qualifications during the COVID-19 pandemic (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2021). These provisions will be discussed in Chapter 6.

The Canadian government has shifted the terminology surrounding the recently added parental benefit over the past two years from acknowledging 'second parents' to just 'parent(s)'. My usage of the term second parents across this thesis was influenced by the earlier use of this language by the government. In 2018, a year in advanced of the program, The Department of Finance announced a press release where phrases like "two parent families" and "second parent leave" were used (Department of Finance 2018). Additionally, at the time the benefit took effect in 2019, quotes on the Government of Canada website from The Honourable Maryam Monsef described that the benefit will create "stronger bonds between fathers or second parents and their babies" (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2019e).

Furthermore, The Government of Canada provides two parent examples on their website, in addition to single parent examples, through the use of infographics to better explain the uptake of this leave (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2019d). It should be noted that even though the term 'parent(s)' denotes multiplicity, the examples provided on the Government of Canada website do not include any type of polygamous family or scenarios where three parents would be sharing parental leave. In addition to these examples, other Canadian scholars like Doucet (2020) who research the recently added parental benefit use the term second parent when describing fathers or other parents who take this leave. These caveats including initial government terminology, current examples on The Government of Canada website, and usage of term by other scholars have led me to apply the term 'second parent' throughout the entirety of this thesis.

According to Findlay & Kohen (2012), the uptake of leave by gender is very disproportionate as Canadian mothers on average take forty-four weeks of leave while fathers only take an average of two and a half weeks (3). These averages differ for parents living in Québec who utilize additional benefits for leave sharing by parents. Overall, parental leaves both historically and currently are still very gendered (Pettigrew 2020). The term 'maternity leave' is often conflated with what is actually parental leave. My research is most interested in the aspects of parental leave. While these policies are nation-wide, they may be received differently in Alberta and across various provinces.

## 1.1 RESEARCH QUESTIONS

1. When individuals take parental leave, what experiences do they have in regards to impacts on their relationships with co-workers or managers?

- 2. When individuals take leave, what experiences do they have in regards to impacts on their status in the company, their eligibility for promotions or salary increases, or other conditions of work?
- 3. What are the gender differences of leave experiences in relation to paid work?
- 4. Does taking leave as the second parent have any particular impacts on individuals' experiences?

#### 1.2 OBJECTIVES

My primary objective regarding this analysis of parental leave is to contribute to sociological knowledge regarding worker concerns and fears over parental leave, especially in light of business culture, employment experiences, and recent changes in government policy. Workers now have the option for longer parental leaves, and the additional weeks dedicated to the second parent may impact the numbers of men taking leaves, so concerns about negative reactions by co-workers and employers may be heightened. My data only includes heterosexual couples therefore I am primarily talking about fathers as second parents.

#### 1.3 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS

This section reviews the theoretical frameworks used in this research, specifically social constructionism and feminist political economy. This section begins with a description of my two primary frameworks and concludes with a discussion on how theory may be integrated with literature. As theoretical frameworks, these theories ground my research in the sociological tradition of social relationships, interaction, and society. Social constructionism and feminist political economy provide insights about interventions and moderations of these leaves from managers, employers, co-workers,

and more broadly hierarchies within a workplace. My two chosen theoretical lens, social constructionism and feminist political economy, are used by current scholars and provide interesting insights to this research (Andrew 2003; Armstrong & Armstrong 1990; Jon Maroney & Luxton 2014; Elder-Vass 2007; Vosko 2002).

Social constructionism looks at how interaction creates the meanings that we attach to people, places, and things in terms of our social, cultural, and historical context (Elder-Vass 2007). Social constructionism is useful when conceptualizing issues pertaining to industry-specific policy and workplace stigmatization (Elder-Vass 2007).

Social constructionism is used by authors in the field to conceptualize how different organizational cultures construct norms and attitudes and how individuals interpret these norms. Furthermore, social constructionism can also be applied to the creation of gender roles and divisions of labour within families. For organizational culture, socially constructed norms can differ between departments in a single company or between particular corporations more broadly (Acker 1990). Organizational structures also shape the conditions employees experience before and after taking a leave. These experiences may include apprehensions individuals feel when telling supervisors their plan for leave (Borgkvist et al. 2018). Regardless of the legalities of leave, individuals may feel the constructions of specific organizational cultural norms also influence their decisions. For individual family units, social constructionism dictates how leave is negotiated resulting in divisions of labour both within the household and workplace (McKay & Doucet 2010). If the mother assumes majority of the leave, then social constructionism would suggest that she will take a lead on domestic work as well.

Social constructionism has been useful when deciding how questions should be phrased in interviewing. My interview questions have been framed in ways that allow participants to indirectly speak to the organizational cultures within which they work. Social constructionism has been able to provide multidimensional insights surrounding reactions to leave in the workplace. The questions I asked, within a social constructionist framework, have uncovered biases toward and stigmatization of employees who take leaves. Understanding the ways leaves are constructed in organizational culture have helped me better understand why individuals negotiate the leaves they do.

Feminist political economy focuses on how inequalities are produced. This framework emphasizes economic and political factors to explain inequalities for particular bodies in capitalist economic frameworks (Pupo, Duffy, & Glenday, 2017, 252). Feminist political economy is a valuable theoretical framework because parental leave encompasses gendered and classed experiences of working and parenting.

Additionally, feminist political economy can map onto examinations of government regimes and the market (Jon Maroney & Luxton 2014; Meisenbach et al. 2008; Peterson 2005; Vosko 2002). This is an important evaluation when understanding parental leave as part of broader economic structures.

Feminist political economy encompasses many theoretical frameworks that both predate and grow out of its theoretical structures. Much of the literature surrounding feminist political economy tends to pinpoint political economy and historical materialism as the foundation of the theory (Armstrong & Armstrong, 1990, 47). More specifically, it has been argued that historical materialism draws attention to economic structures that position different experiences for women and men and for people of different social

classes, creating the foundation for political economy and later feminist political economy.

Authors in the field utilize feminist political economy to understand both women's and men's experiences of parental leave to be unique on the basis of gender differences. Both women and men experience many obstacles to taking parental leaves. Particular policies and corporate norms may hinder the uptake of leaves. Prior to the March 2019 parental leave provisions, feminist political economy scholars would recognize second parents as excluded from leave narratives and therefore removed from particular domestic and parenting narratives, as well as being positioned differently in policy. As well, feminist political economy may help us to understand access to leave policies by those who are not cis-gendered. Without the feminist political economy framework these unique experiences may never be evaluated.

Many scholars from the field utilize elements from both social constructionism and feminist political economy in their research. Secondary theories that grow out of social construction and feminist political economy are helpful to consider. Fleischmann and Sieverding (2015) leverage backlash theory to hypothesize what people's reactions may be to men who take leave. Fleischmann and Sieverding do not look at men's experiences directly rather they ask university students to evaluate hypothetical scenarios. For Fleischmann and Sieverding, backlash theory examines how economic and social sanctions are a response to unconventional behavior (464). This unconventional behavior may include acting in gender-counterstereotypical ways. The usage of backlash theory in Fleischmann and Sieverding's study emphasizes that backlash towards men taking parental leave is socially constructed. The process of researching backlash reinforces the

assumption that backlash may be persistent in the construction of organizational cultures and the norms surrounding men and parental leave. Although backlash was not an official finding of the study, the authors found backlash necessary to study because of its socially constructed tendencies. Backlash theory, although independent of social constructionism, is employed similarly using social frameworks to conceptualize how interactions affect meaning.

The interplay between social constructionism and feminist political economy is clear. Feminist political economy recognizes that both women and men are disadvantaged by particular social constructions in organizational cultures and families. When leave experiences are constructed in different ways, feminist political economy can evaluate gender and class relations and denote new narratives in the shifting economy. Lastly, feminist political economy helps to deconstruct privilege and power dynamics within parental leave policies. Power dynamics may include access to Employment Insurance (EI), hiring practices, social class and the organizational position of workers, and cultural stigmatization surrounding new mothers. These power dynamics are created through social constructions at personal, corporate, and government levels. Backlash theory, social constructionism, feminist political economy, and historical materialism are just some of the theoretical frameworks in the literature today. Each theory helps to shed light on people's experiences in employment, in relation to taking leave.

The remainder of this thesis will begin with a literature review outlining the primary findings and discussions from other scholars in the field. Next, I will describe the methodology for this thesis inquiry including insights into participant recruitment and the qualitative interviewing process. Chapter 4 will begin with discussions of feminist

political economy and the leave experiences of participants. Chapter 5 will describe social constructionism and how it pertains to the reactions of others. Chapter 6 will describe the COVID-19 pandemic in relation to experiences of leave-taking. Finally, my conclusion will summarize the analysis and findings of this research while making recommendations for additional future research.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

In this literature review, I will outline five areas of concern that frame this project. I will first examine geographic comparisons to maternity and parental leave policies in Québec and European countries which are similar to the Canadian federal government's recently added option for five additional weeks of parental benefits for the second parent. This policy is aimed at encouraging both parents to take leave, with the hope that men, in particular, will be encouraged to do so. Other topics I will consider are unpaid domestic work, fathers' reluctance to take parental leave, organizational culture and stigmatization, and structural features in relation to organizational culture. My hope is that the literature review outlines the uniqueness of the employment perspective in parental leave research as well as highlights the timeliness of my thesis inquiry.

# 2.1 GEOGRAPHIC COMPARISIONS FROM QUÉBEC AND EUROPEAN COUNTRIES

This section will review studies from places with non-transferable leave policies similar to the recently added parental benefits in Canada. The important points in this section are the positive outcomes this type of leave has on a father's participation in the household and suggestions to further revise Canada's current parental leave policies. I will discuss the following points in relation to Alberta's organizational culture.

Much of the current Canadian research does not reference the recently added parental benefits implemented in March 2019, making my research inquiry very timely for the field. Doucet and co-authors (2020) have recently published an article describing parental leave policy changes in the context of COVID-19 which will be described in

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The recently added parental benefit, implemented in March 2019, will be referred to as the *recently added parental benefits* for the remainder of this thesis.

Chapter 6. Current research provides comparisons to Québec and various European countries, like Sweden, who have had non-transferable parental leave policies since 2006 and 1993 respectively (Calnitsky 2019; Hass & Hwang 2007, 2008, 2019a, 2019b; McKay & Doucet 2010). There have been many positive outcomes from these leave policies in Québec and European countries, one of the most cited examples being fathers' increased participation in domestic labour (Hass & Hwang 2007, 2008, 2019a, 2019b; McKay & Doucet 2010; McKay, Mathieu, & Doucet 2016).

Since Alberta has a very distinct organizational culture, characterized by conservative ideology and the prominence of oil and gas, I was curious if the recently added parental benefit was working in similar ways to Québec and various European countries. Williams (2017) argues that the oil and gas industry is the most powerful, global, essential, and lucrative industry in the world making workplace policies in this industry vary in regards to its impacts on employees, industry, and even the economy (123). Moreover, Hass and Hwang (2019b), researching in Sweden, highlight how private sector corporations are slower than the public sector to support fathers' leave-taking due to cost concerns and the profit driven nature of companies even in the relatively profamily climate of Nordic countries (13). I was interested to see if similar corporate values are being negotiated in private sector Alberta. In this section, I will describe what literature is stating about Québec and European countries and consider how this might relate to the experiences of those working in Alberta.

Québec is unique when compared to other Canadian provincial and territorial jurisdictions. Québec utilizes Employment Insurance (EI) programs as well as Québec Parental Insurance Plan (QPIP) to provide avenues to maternity and parental leaves. QPIP

departs from EI in four significant ways: A) lower eligibility criteria (\$2000 earnings) and inclusion of the self-employed; B) non-transferable parental leave; C) greater flexibility with plan options and; D) higher income replacement rates (McKay & Doucet, 2010, 302-303). The lower eligibility criteria differs from the rest of Canada because EI uses hours of insurable employment rather than earnings. (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2019c). The recently added parental benefit policy in the rest of Canada is similar to QPIP under the non-transferable parental leave. QPIP more generally helps couples negotiate parental leaves in a landscape where they may have been previously excluded from accessing leave due to obstacles like low income. McKay and co-authors (2016) describe positive outcomes of QPIP when they state:

Our comparison of programs reveals that far greater access and equality of access by income are achieved in Québec under QPIP than in the rest of Canada under EI. Further, we found that annual household income makes a difference to mothers' access to parental leave benefits, particularly for families earning less than \$30,000 per year in the rest of Canada (555).

Québec's QPIP parental leave model provides insights into what outcomes similar policies in Alberta could have for organizational culture. I was curious to see if the new revisions to leave policy, which lack QPIP's lower eligibility criteria, were as beneficial in Alberta in light of recent economic downturns and the COVID-19 pandemic.

The non-transferable parental leave portion of QPIP and the recently added parental benefit policy help to combat divisions of gendered roles in domestic work.

These non-transferable weeks of leave have come to be known as 'daddy days' as they are aimed at facilitating men taking a lead on domestic labour and women remaining in the workplace. McKay and Doucet (2010) state:

With a longer leave period now available, we also found that mothers' attachment to work contributed to fathers taking leave. It is also important to emphasize that non-transferable paternity leave for fathers - now available in Québec - does make a significant difference, although it, and greater coverage rates for mothers, leads to more fathers taking leave for less time, in comparison to longer leave patterns by fewer fathers outside of Québec, who only have access to gender-neutral leave – the only option in their provinces (317).

A shift in parenting and gendered roles in households is what the recent parental benefit policy in Canada is attempting to achieve. The majority of men will not simply take a lead on domestic labour if they are already the lead financial provider for the household. Non-transferable leave helps to dismantle these notions (Björk Eydal et al., 2015, 178).

Hass and Hwang (2008) describe men's participation in domestic labour in the context of Sweden. Parental leave was available in Sweden beginning in 1974, and non-transferable parental leave became available starting in 1993. Sweden leverages this non-transferable policy to promote gender equality, with women and men having equal opportunities and responsibilities to contribute economically to the family and care for children (85). The organizational culture in Sweden promotes dual earner families opposed to the single earner family model (Almqvist & Duvander, 2014, 20). Policy development in Sweden focuses on encouraging men to take more responsibility for their children, as well as freeing women's time for labour market work (Almqvist & Duvander, 2014, 20).

Hass and Hwang (2008) state "[o]ne important type of family policy that can encourage men's participation in early childcare is government-mandated paid parental leave. Taking leave would presumably help men become more actively involved in sharing childcare with women" (87). Hass and Hwang's description here is very pertinent since I am using the social constructionist perspective as a framework. Understanding parenting as something that is learned, rather than something that is natural, helps in

supporting the non-transferable parental leave policy. As well, viewing parenting as a learned skill helps dismantle heteronormative norms that promote the idea that only women possess maternal instincts.

Many Nordic countries differ in their political climate and strictness of policy.

Björk Eydal and co-authors (2015) describe each of the five Nordic countries positioning Norway, Sweden and Iceland as more left wing and Finland and Denmark as more conservative (177). Denmark is the only Nordic country without a dedicated parental leave. Overall, these four countries, Norway, Sweden, Iceland, and Finland are the leaders in parental leave policy. Björk Eydal and co-authors summarize the primary goal of parental leave policies for the Nordic countries when they state:

Despite these differences, all the Nordic countries still seem to be moving in the direction of the dual earner/dual care model in the construction of their parental leave construction while in the case of Denmark the development of the parental leave scheme suggests that gender equality is less institutionally supported. (177)

This dual earner and dual care model seems to be a similar goal to that of the recently added parental benefits in Canada. Literature shows that dual parental models have been successful and aid in shaping new cultural norms surrounding uptake of maternity and parental leaves.

Germany has had non-transferable parental leave since 2007. This non-transferable parental leave policy is similar to Sweden and other Nordic countries. While authors have cited similar outcomes for non-transferable parental leaves in Germany, there are nuanced outcomes pertaining to public and private sector corporations that could be similar to Alberta. Geisler and Kreyenfeld (2018) in their article on parental leave in Germany explain "[o]ur analysis also supports prior research that showed that workplace characteristics, sector of employment and type of employment contract are

important determinants of fathers' parental leave usage. Public sector employees were more likely than private sector employees to have taken leave before the reform, and this gap persisted after the reform" (284). The European countries mentioned and Québec are more overtly liberal, as opposed to Alberta, making these suggestions more attainable. I was interested in examining if parental leaves under the new parental benefit policy are working in similar or contradictory ways to Québec and European countries.

This review of the literature from Québec and various European countries answers questions regarding how parental leave policies such as non-transferable leave days are encouraging the second parent to take parental leave. This question is important because organizational culture in Alberta may differ from these other geographic locations.

Women's labour force participation rate in Alberta in 2019, among those 25 years and older, was sixty-six percent which is high when compared to other Canadian provinces which sits at fifty-nine percent (Statistics Canada, 2019). I was curious if women's labour force participation in Alberta was higher due to the strength of Alberta's economy and the competitive profit-driven nature of organizational culture in the province.

Men's labour force participation rate in Alberta in 2019, among those 25 years and older, was seventy-nine percent is drastically higher when compared to women in the same category in Alberta which was sixty-six percent (Statistics Canada, 2019), and represents a larger gap then in most other Canadian provinces. If women and men are given equal access to employment and promotions, then these numbers should be more equal. Furthermore, *Forbes Magazine* recently released an article titled "Canada's Best Employers," the 2020 list of best employers was based on criteria including gender equity and work-life balance. Out of the top fifty companies, there was not one Alberta

corporation listed (*Forbes Magazine*, 2020). I was curious if these labour force participation disparities were more influenced by gender dynamics or the characteristics of organizational culture in the province.

Alberta's organizational culture is characterized by right wing ideology tied to long term political conservatism in the province and hegemonic masculinity due to ingrained notions of frontier and cowboy culture. Richards (2019) underscores these notions of masculinity through discussions of the stampede when she states "[m]any of these performance practices produce an affective climate of crude optimism that is politically and economically expedient for the petroleum industry, underwrites settler innocence, and legitimizes the expropriation of Indigenous land" (141). The cowboy ethos is directly tied to masculinity and is intertwined with the prominence of the oil and gas industry in the province (Williams 2017; Miller 2004).

Prior to 2015, the Progressive Conservative PC party (currently known as the UCP) had a four decade hold on the Albertan electorate (Acuña, 2015, 301-305). The conservative agenda typically encompasses a neo-liberal ethos that indirectly, and at times directly, influence organizational culture in the province. Stefanick (2015) furthers this argument stating "[t]he merging of the political arm of government and the administrative apparatus that serves it is part of the legacy of the 'business government' tradition in Alberta" (364). Since the Alberta government has such a strong influence on corporations and organizational culture it is clear that hegemonic masculine ideals prevail.

Alberta business culture situates men in high earning careers and subsequent breadwinner roles in their families (Miller 2004; Richards 2019; Williams 2019).

Williams (2019) describes this masculinity further when she states: "[o]rganizations are structured in ways to benefit men and qualities associated with masculinity. The concept of 'organizational logic' illuminates how the routine features of bureaucratic organizations, including job descriptions, compensation systems, and performance evaluations, are all biased against women" (200-201). These masculine practices within an organization are reinforced by the dominance of the oil and gas industry in Alberta which has historically been known to have social and economic significance on a global scale. Miller (2004) describes how the oil and gas industry becomes inherently masculine through three major processes. She states:

The dominant, or hegemonic, masculinity in the oil industry is expressed through three major themes, or processes: everyday interactions are characterized by informalism and paternalism based on shared masculine interests that exclude women from power; individualistic competition is combined with a dominant engineering occupational culture effectively to reinforce the division of work by gender; and gendered interactions and occupations are embedded in a consciousness derived from the powerful symbols of the frontier myth and romanticized cowboy hero. The result of these processes and their underlying consciousness is a powerfully masculine culture. (48)

Alberta business culture has arrived at a point where masculinity is not only intertwined within the employee demographic, but in the day-to-day practices and organizational values and assumptions. These masculine practices can become problematic in the face of parental leave uptakes because masculinity remains tightly bound to breadwinning in the family (Williams, 2017, 121). The presence of masculinity, the dominance of the oil and gas industry, and values tightly bound to breadwinning make Alberta business culture a distinct area of consideration for this research inquiry.

## 2.2 THE QUESTION OF UNPAID DOMESTIC WORK

This section will review how parental leaves effect divisions of gender roles in unpaid domestic work. Most research to date has tended to focus on heterosexual couples, and to combine discussions of maternity and parental leave. My research, however, is focused on parental leave and was open to hearing the experiences of same-sex couples and adoptive couples. The important points in this discussion (covered in this section and the next) are how women are disproportionately responsible for domestic work; how governmental policy creates barriers to parental leave uptake; and more generally how these obstacles perpetuate heteronormative leave experiences. I will be discussing these three issues in relation to parental leaves and in light of the recently added parental benefits in Canada.

Current literature looks closely at how leave uptake affect decisions and roles within the household – including decisions about domestic labour, divisions of parenting, and childcare. The question of unpaid domestic work is one that is popular among current sociological inquires. Research shows that mothers are still disproportionately responsible for unpaid domestic and caring work (Borgkvist et al. 2018; Calnitsky 2019; Doucet 2006; Hass & Hwang 2007; Mariskind 2017; McKay & Doucet 2010; Rehel 2014). Scholars outline many barriers women and men face when negotiating maternity and parental leave and how gender norms and corporate attitudes reiterate heteronormative leave experiences (Calnitsky 2019; McKay & Doucet 2010; Williams et al. 2013).

Feminist political economy scholars ground their understandings in historical materialism which recognizes the impact of capitalism on various aspects of social life.

Family structure and gender roles are not fixed entities, however, they are dynamically shaped by history and culture (Doucet 2019; Kimmel 2000; Comacchio 2000). Gender roles have been socially constructed throughout the nineteenth and twentieth century through a separation of public and private spheres and a woman or man's work in relation to these spheres. The separation of spheres provided the foundation for women to primarily work on domestic tasks. Kimmel (2020) notes that the separation of gender roles is experienced by mostly white middle-class families and is not as equally common for other classes, cultures, or racialized groups. Kimmel (2000) describes the separation of spheres and gender roles in the context of twentieth century when he states:

If men were liberated, women's position was as exalted in popular literature as it was potentially imprisoning in reality. In popular literature, from the nation's pulpits and in high art, women's work was reconceptualized, not as "work" at all, but rather as a God-given mission. While some home-based work was eliminated, such as spinning and weaving, much of women's sphere remained intact; they still cooked meals and baked bread, even if their husbands no longer grew and milled the grain or butchered the meat they cooked. Housecleaning and child rearing were increasingly seen as "women's work" (114)

The above shift described by Kimmel (2000) has influenced the trajectory of family development in North America. Calnitsky (2019) expands upon Kimmel's (2020) above notion culturally locating the separation of gender roles in relation to paid work. He states "[g]iven the combination of the norm that men's wages can sustain an entire family with obstructed work opportunities for women and various forms of cultural sexism, the 'Standard North American Family' (SNAF) model was structurally favored to proliferate, while nonstandard models were structurally disadvantaged or selected against" (39). Luxton (1997) describes the genealogy of the traditional family further when stating "[t]he dominant ideology also asserted that all mothers regardless of class, ideally working full-time in their own homes, provided the best and most suitable child care"

(163). The assumption that women without professional careers are poised to be domestic caregivers highlights a fundamental problem that the traditional family and domestic tasks are organized to be incompatible with wage and professional labour.

Acker (1990) describes the segregation between paid and unpaid work to be intertwined with broader organizational practices that place men in higher earning positions (140). Since men are typically higher earners in heterosexual couples, women take a lead on domestic tasks, such as childcare, and place their careers to the side during parental leaves to mitigate potential losses to household income. (Doucet 2020; Luxton 1997). This model has its roots in Enlightenment period Europe, however, practices and applications of this family form are still present and used today. I will use "traditional family" as a shorthand to refer to this configuration of family roles throughout the remainder of this thesis. The traditional family is understood to be traditional through a North American understanding of gender roles in the twenty-first century.

The current cultural acceptance of heteronormative gender roles in Canadian homes and workplaces are perpetuating a continuing feminization of parental leave. Joan Acker (1990) describes the 'ideal worker norm' as an entry point to understand women's roles within maternity and parental leave. Acker further describes the ideal worker norm when she states:

The concept refers to a person who is able to give priority to work with no outside distractions. Historically this has been the male worker who, it is assumed, has a female partner at home to look after his domestic arrangements, leaving him free to dedicate himself to work. The ideal worker norm can thus be seen not only to be prescriptive for women but to restrict men's abilities to deviate as well, at odds with supporting fathers to be more involved in parenting (145).

Acker's ideal worker norm highlights how embedded heteronormative ideology is in workplace contexts. It seems women are most clearly devalued in the ideal worker norm in Canadian contexts, but can men be as well?

The concept of the ideal worker norm concept is adopted by Rehel (2014) in a nuanced way to understand how couples negotiate maternity and parental leaves to best fit their households. Many heterosexual couples defer to the mother's preferences when negotiating leave decisions. This deferral is in part due to assumptions made concerning the need for recovery time post birth and the practicalities surrounding breastfeeding (McKay & Doucet 2010). For Rehel, a 'manager-helper dynamic' is created to best facilitate this type of leave. Rehel states "[a] manager-helper dynamic often develops between new parents: mothers are primarily responsible for childcare and related matters, while fathers serve as helpers when needed and asked" (111). The manager-helper dynamic only reiterates the gender stereotypes and norms that current Canadian government policies are trying to escape. These stereotypes and norms may include the feminization of parental leave, hegemonic masculine practices, or patterns of leave-taking. Parental leave policies, especially the recently added parental benefits, are combating these heteronormative leave experiences if the parent decides to take them.

## 2.3 FATHERS' RELUCTANCE TO TAKE PARENTAL LEAVE

Government policies surrounding parental leaves are impediments to an equalized leave uptake among women and men. Canadian parental benefits are tied to an incomebased scale. EI eligibility criteria was changed from weeks worked to hours worked in 1997 (Pold, 2001). While this change is still tied to an income-based scale, it has very practical gender-based outcomes. According to Pupo and co-authors (2017) "[a]lthough

the government argued that the changes to an hours-based system were more fair and equitable, women had a harder time acquiring those hours to qualify because of their increased participation in part-time and contingent work" (96). Since the gender wage gap is still prevalent in Canada – it was thirteen percent between women and men employed full-time in 2018 – couples negotiate a leave to minimize loss, often meaning that in heterosexual couples, the woman takes majority of the leave (Pelletier and Patterson, 2018). Calnitsky (2019) proposes a policy to combat the gendered experiences of leave when he states:

On these grounds, a new public policy designed around the objective of genderlessness would be geared toward reshaping *both* the material incentive structures in the family and its interior culture. It is these phenomena that in the first place generate the underlying gendered skills, capacities, preferences, and norms often perceived to be outside the ambit of public policy (37)

The federal government's recently added parental benefits work to combat the imbalances in leave uptakes, however, the policy remains primarily income-based. Calnitsky leverages a gender-based policy as a way to incentivize men into early childcare work which therefore deconstructs the power of heteronormative gender roles (42). When providing second parents with a 'use-it-or-lose-it' ultimatum for parental leave, more individuals should be inclined to take the leave that is provided to them despite the potential loss to income. Therefore, a kind of gender-based policy can be achieved. What Calnitsky fails to consider, however, is how second parents (particularly men) use their parental leave. My initial prediction was that many second parents may be using their parental leave for professional development purposes (Hass & Hwang, 2019, 15). If this is the case then perhaps parental leave needs to move beyond being either income-based or gender-based towards something more neutral.

McKay and Doucet (2010) echo Calnitsky's difficulty with income-based leave policy. While McKay and Doucet attribute other impediments to women's unbalanced leave uptake, their insights surrounding policy provide a stepping-stone into discussions of corporate attitudes and norms. They state:

A combination of mothers' preferences, fathers' greater earnings (and thus greater potential loss to family income while on leave), combined with policy restrictions and a strong set of social norms and ideologies pointing to mothers as primary caregivers of infants meant that fathers spoke of leave-taking or care-giving as a privilege rather than an obligation (314).

A women's perceived maternal bond, reinforces a reluctancy in men to take extended parental leave and participate in unpaid domestic work more broadly. If women are viewed as more naturally inclined to parenting than men, then this may limit a man's involvement. The practice of seeing women as instinctive parental leaders reinforces the notion of parenting as a privilege for men rather than an obligation. The privilege over obligation paradox is one that prevails in Canadian homes and business contexts contributing to men's hesitancy toward parental leave.

This section of the literature review has described how maternity and parental leaves reinforce heteronormative gender roles within corporations and households. This literature is important because it prompts a discussion of the success of the recently added parental leave policy. Current literature has shown how parental leave policies (prior to the parental leave policy added in 2019) can perpetuate heteronormative leave experiences. It will be interesting to work through discussions of heteronormative leave experiences in relation to the recently added parental benefits.

## 2.4 ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURES AND STIGMATIZATION

This section will review how women and men negotiate parental leaves within organizational culture. The important points in this discussion include an evaluation of corporate norms and attitudes toward gender roles and the backlash women and men receive when acting in gender-counterstereotypical ways. I will discuss how these points reinforce organizational culture's reluctance towards granting parental leaves for women and men.

Organizational culture is often understood as belief systems that are part of particular workplaces. These ideologies are often widely promoted across these corporations, and impel people to action, justifying people's actions to themselves and others (Hass & Hwang, 2007, 54). However, the values and beliefs of organizational culture are not overtly explained or equally shared by all members of a company. In a particular corporation, what works for employees in a specific department may not work for others in a different department at the same corporation (Ravasi & Schultz 2006). Organizational cultures may differ across certain geographies, industries, and even departments. Organizational cultures tend to be an unconscious element of corporate structures. O'Reilly III and co-authors (2014) highlight the linkages between CEOs and organizational culture stating that "[t]he logic is that a CEO's personality drives patterns of behavior which, in turn, affect how people interpret what is important and how to think and behave" (617). The values of a CEO may not reflect the values of employees in HR departments or lower levels of management making the workplace organizational culture skewed in favour of a particular group or individual (O'Reilly III et al. 2014). It terms of my thesis, examining organizational cultures can point to how the underlying values of a

particular companies go beyond the stated objectives of legal policy and HR documentation.

A father's reluctance to take parental leave is, in part, due to their concerns surrounding perceptions by supervisors, bosses, and sometimes clients (Rehel, 2014, 120-121). These perceptions are important because they are influential in the process of obtaining a parental leave, along with the employee's experience of leave-taking and return to work. Rehel describes an instance with a forty-three-year-old Chicago father who declined parental leave due to the ways he heard executives in his company discuss such matters (120). Workplace ideals surrounding men and stigmatization toward parental leaves are deeply rooted.

Since workers now have the option for longer parental leaves under the recently added parental benefits, and more workers may be taking leaves as weeks are dedicated to the second parent, concerns about negative reactions from co-workers and employers may be heightened. The recently added parental benefits offer five weeks standard leave at fifty-five percent of average weekly wages or eight extended weeks at thirty-three percent (Alberta Employment Standards, 2019). These benefits are marketed under a "use it or lose it" ultimatum for the second parent. Gender roles may still persist despite this policy change making it easier for men to decline the option for parental leave (Hass & Hwang 2008, 2019a).

Many corporations claim to be family-friendly or to have family-friendly policies.

These policies, however, can impact organizations and employees within these corporations very differently. In Borgkvist and co-authors (2018) study, men working in finance, IT, research, social work, planning, and administration positions cited that the

use of flexible work arrangement (FWA) increased the quality of interactions with their children (704). In contrast, William and co-authors (2013) discuss how flexible work arrangements decrease the quality of childcare by men in low-wage jobs due to the precarious nature of the work (216). FWA, while viewed by some as a family-friendly policy, can have negative consequences for employees working at different levels within corporations.

Since women are still viewed as the primary care-giver in heterosexual couples, family-friendly policies in corporations often cater to the needs of the mother instead of the needs of both parents. McCurdy and co-authors (2002) further this argument when they state "[i]t may be that female employees make more requests for the implementation of family-friendly benefits, making the benefits seem more essential. Organizations with women and minorities as decision makers, in addition to having more women in the workplace, may offer more programs" (33). Shaping corporate family-friendly policies in relation to only the needs of the mother is problematic in light of the recently added parental benefits which targets second parents.

There is a possibility that men may be excluded from corporate family-friendly policies or stigmatized by co-workers for choosing to utilize these policies. If family-friendly policies are exclusive to women, or are assumed to only be used by women, then men who participate in these policies may receive more backlash. Men work around this backlash by seeking and receiving support from others who have already taken leave (Hass & Hwang, 2019a, 6). Huerta and co-authors (2014) further this argument when they state that "[e]ncouraging fathers to make better use of parental leave arrangements can contribute to changing attitudes and behaviours towards the role of fathers and

mothers in childcare and in labour force participation" (310). If employees who are men can support other men taking parental leave then perhaps a shift in particular organizational cultures can begin to take place.

Both women and men can encounter negative reactions toward their decision to take leave. For men, this discrimination is subsequent to their parental leave whereas women face this stigmatization at the outset of their careers. Women face hiring prejudice due to the assumed obligations toward mothering that are connected to potentially birthgiving bodies. Hass and Hwang (2019a) describe this further: "[e]mployment discrimination against women often rests on the assumption that women cannot be committed to paid work because of their past, present, or future roles as mothers" (55). In particular workplaces, women are viewed as risky hires regardless of their actual desire to become mothers. The option for more extended parental leaves in Canada—now up to sixty-one weeks—may increase this prejudice against women. Employers give greater consideration to the possibility of maternity and parental leave when hiring women and often default to hiring men. The recently added parental benefits work to combat this by giving men greater access to leave, however, men actually need to be taking parental leave for equality to be successful. As Pettigrew and Duncan (2017) mention there are many obstacles men face when obtaining some kind of parental leave. Obstacles may include being isolated in parenting and corporate spaces simultaneously. These obstacles need to be dismantled first before any sort of neutrality in hiring can take place.

To describe corporate stigmatization toward men taking parental leave more clearly, I will draw on Fleischmann and Sieverding's (2015) hypothesis surrounding

backlash. Women and men contemplating leave supposedly face backlash from their employers during many stages of their careers. Fleischmann and Sieverding state:

Therefore, taking parental leave should result in backlash. As backlash for men and women differs, typical backlash for men in a working setting should include less respect and being seen as less competent. Furthermore, both men and women who act in gender-counterstereotypical ways are preferred less as bosses, and this should lower their probability of being hired (464).

Although backlash was not found to occur in Fleischmann and Sieverding's study, their arguments surrounding how men and women might experience backlash is helpful for my research. It seems that stigmatization towards women may subside in the later years of their career which is tied to a lower likelihood of parenting demands. Dainty and Bagihole (2006) show this to be true in regards to their research on women in the construction industry. Men, however, may face different stigmatization and effects toward their parental leave that is not tied to parenting demands. These effects may include being viewed by co-workers and clients as less trustworthy or competent. This stigmatization may draw from the fact that they left their clients or co-workers 'hanging' to take a leave that is not as widely accepted. Since men do not typically take parental leave, in traditional Canadian contexts, backlash against them may be more long lasting.

It is clear that workplace discrimination surrounding maternity and parental leaves is deeply rooted. Moreover, corporate norms and attitudes towards gender roles are equally embedded. A hegemonic masculine identity is valued over subordinate, marginalized, and complicit masculine identities in the workplace (Siltanen & Doucet, 2008, 74). Hass and Hwang describe this notion of hegemonic masculinity further when they state "[t]he ideology that forms the basis for the gendered substructure of organizational culture is masculine hegemony, acceptance that men have, and should

continue to have, a monopoly of power at the workplace" (56). If workplaces are viewed as dominated by men then it is clear why a man's choice to participate in domestic labour becomes scrutinized. Organizational cultures need to become more welcoming to parental leaves in order to combat this stigmatization.

Parental leaves, and gender norms more generally, perpetuate gendered spaces. This division of space would include domestic spaces for women and corporate spaces for men. Divisions of labour are often influenced by where the individual is accepted. If men are understood to remain working post-birth, then steps toward taking a parental leave become more challenging. McKay and Doucet describe more clearly obstacles to parental leave men face when they state "[w]hile mothers did not encounter problems, couples reported that with rare exceptions, employers did not expect or encourage fathers to take some or any leave. Managers, like many parents and others, regarded this period of infant care as reserved for mothers" (311). Now that the Canadian government has provided a non-transferable leave, will corporations find it harder to defer a man's uptake of parental leave? Surely this is the goal of the recently added parental benefits, however, I suspect particular businesses may find other ways to reject leaves for men.

Maternity and parental leaves are a legal right in Canada, however, the uptake of these leaves are policed and scrutinized within organizational cultures. Women's leaves systematically effect individual perceptions of commitment despite the actual experiences of leave and violates the work devotion schema characteristic of many businesses today. Williams and co-authors (2013) define the work devotion schema as cultural assumptions demanding individualized undivided attention towards work (210-11). Williams and co-authors state "[t]he use of flexible work arrangements can be interpreted by superiors, co-

workers, and even the employee themselves as a signal that the employee is violating the work devotion schema and is therefore morally lacking" (211). Under the work devotion schema, a parent's choice to take leave, or a couple's choice to share leave, affect both their individual careers and their status within companies.

The complexity of organizational cultures make it challenging for researchers to map patterns of parental leave uptake and acceptance across corporations. This difficulty is in part because the face-to-face interactions between employees play an equally important role to the policies themselves, however, these interactions are rarely recorded. An example of this disparity includes an evaluation of family-friendly policies in the workplace. According to Hwang (2018):

If organizational culture is not supportive of women's family roles and obligations, using family-friendly policies and receiving support from supervisors and coworkers may not be effective for employed mothers; in addition, employed mothers may be afraid of taking benefits or support from organizations because of the possibility that it negatively affects their careers and promotions (662).

There is much happening within specific organizational cultures that makes employees nervous to take parental leave or receive other family-friendly benefits. I initially suspected that daily face-to-face interactions are perpetuating particular stereotypes and stigmatization beyond the stated corporate policies that make parental leave a contested topic. My research has worked to document some of these face-to-face interactions that clearly influence parental leave decisions.

This review of the literature aids in answering two significant questions. First, what biases are created when women or men take parental leave, and how are relationships between colleagues effected by these biases? Second, are women and men experiencing stigmatization towards parental leave in similar or distinct ways? These

questions are important because organizational culture provides the framework within which stigmatization occurs, but it is people who do the stigmatizing. Furthermore, there is not a single organizational culture, although there are similarities among Alberta organizational cultures. Therefore, tracking the influences of parental leaves in career development is employee and corporation specific. Additionally, these questions recognize that experiences for women and men can be different, an important distinction arising from the current literature.

The motherhood penalty, characterized by the gender wage gap, has adverse effects on women's wages and gender equity in the workplace (Van der Lippe et al. 2019, 112). I was curious if men were experiencing some form of the parenthood penalty by taking parental leave, a question explored by Fleischmann and Sieverding. Although Fleischmann and Sieverding suggest that men do not experience the parenthood penalty, the hypothetical nature of their studies urged me to further explore this question.

### 2.5 STRUCTURAL FEATURES AND ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURE

This section will review organizations' structural difficulties with facilitating parental leaves. The important points to consider are how culture interacts with organizational structure and the feasibility of parental leaves for workplaces. Later in this section, I will discuss these organizational difficulties in relation to the gendered substructures in organizational cultures. Current literature describes organizational culture as a source of cues and actions carried out by corporate leaders to reevaluate the conceptualization of their organization as a platform for affecting internal concerns (Ravasi & Schultz, 2006, 433). In this vein, organizational culture is defined by supervisors but has effects for the entire company. Furthermore, organizational culture

interacts with various structural features in corporations like size of organizations, understaffing, unionization, division of labour, and gender resulting in broader challenges beyond individual interactions. When describing structural features Gorman and Mosseri (2018) state "[a] defining characteristic of modern organizations is a formal structure, laid out in organization charts, job descriptions, and policy manuals, that provide a template for the way work is defined and coordinated" (3).

Despite the apparently open and supportive attitude of the work environment, implementing leave policies create organizational difficulties and tensions with colleagues that make colleagues and supervisors less open to leave uptake, although they recognize that it is a legal right (Borgkvist et al. 2018; Hass & Hwang 2008, 2007, 2019a, 2019b; Hass et al. 2002; Pettigrew & Duncan 2017; Tremblay & Genin 2011; Van der Lippe et al. 2019). Borgkvist and co-authors (2018) describe an interview with a new father who worked in university administration who did not take a formal parental leave because he was hesitant about approaching his boss and recognized his department was understaffed (707). This father faced both cultural and structural challenges in this scenario: cultural on the basis of his individual interactions with his boss and structural when recognizing his department was understaffed. When discussing organizational perceptions of parental leave, Tremblay and Genin (2011) describe how management can be reluctant to train employees to fill the role of the individual on leave. This not only puts strain on current employees to compensate for the workers absence but also creates an environment where manager and co-worker support is lacking (258). Understanding the perceptions organizations have about parental leave is an important step to conceptualizing structural features in organizational culture, and may shape people's

experiences of planning, taking, and returning from leave. In this section, I will outline general organizational difficulties surrounding the implementation of parental leaves.

There are many organizational cultures and structural features captured by current research in the field. Some are progressive and responsive and others are rigid and traditional. The literature I am working through here does not typically mention particular organizations, rather careers and occupations more generally. If particular organizations are mentioned, they are described in passing rather than extensive detail. Some industries, occupations, and public and private sector variations covered in the literature are: blue and white collar workers in the private sector, both women and men in finance (Borgkvist et al. 2018; Rehel 2014; Hass & Hwang 2007; Hass et al. 2002), IT (Borgkvist et al. 2018; O' Reilly III et al. 2014), research (Borgkvist et al. 2018), social work (Borgkvist et al. 2018), planning (Borgkvist et al. 2018), administration positions (Borgkvist et al. 2018; Tremblay & Genin 2011), and forest processing mills (Mills 2011). Additionally, blue and white collar workers in the public sector, both women and men in construction (Dainty & Bagihole 2006), nursing (Guppy & Luongo 2015), and teaching (Guppy & Luongo 2015) are also considered.

Many of the occupations listed above include rigid structural features like divisions of labour. Positions within these corporations are clearly defined and require specific skill sets. For example, jobs in construction and forest processing mills include many highly skilled workers with organizationally unique knowledge, like safety designations. These workers may not be as easily replaced when taking parental leaves. Contrary to construction and forest processing mills workers, many public sector jobs like nursing and teaching have typically been held by women. Gender becomes an informal

structural feature of these occupations and employers may have more experience facilitating parental leaves creating a more progressive organizational culture. Structural features of occupations, sometimes formal or informal, become products of the prevailing organizational culture within the corporation individuals work.

Continuing with a discussion surrounding specific organizational cultures, Pettigrew and Duncan (2017) capture the essence of corporate resistance toward maternity and parental leave. They state:

Organizations vary in their gender composition, exposure to leave taking, their comfort with work–family issues, and their cultures relating to gender, which means that some organizations have never had an employee take parental leave, particularly not a father. In addition, not all companies have a collegial relationship with their unions and broaching the parental leave subject with their employee base might be perceived by the organization as potentially providing the union with another issue to leverage during collective bargaining (38).

Corporations are attempting to both work through aspects of parental leave while maintaining their status as a competitive business. While corporations like to claim their support of maternity and parental leave, the particularities surrounding what a leave means for a workplace can perpetuate negative attitudes and organizational difficulties.

Gendered organizational substructures also create challenges in the uptake of parental leave. As mentioned above, gendered issues such as the wage gap and discrimination still persists in Alberta and across Canada. These factors indirectly, and at times directly, influence the feasibility of leaves for women and men today. Hass and Hwang (2008) describe this further: "[t]he gendered substructure of work organizations significantly influences work activities and practices, decisions affecting efficiency and productivity, wage-setting and promotion criteria, and the extent to which employees' family lives are taken into consideration at the workplace" (54). Some organizational

substructures may not be gendered but may become so if women and men are purposely placed in different positions. Hass and Hwang highlight an important point here. If family life is given no consideration in particular corporations, or within particular corporate departments, then perhaps shifting the organization's cultural attitudes toward family could help in changing parental leave perceptions and subsequent experiences. Moreover, what is the gender composition of a workplace which values family life versus one which discourages considerations for family life?

Hass and Hwang (2007) continue the dialogue surrounding gendered substructures by stating: "[w]hen women make up more of the workforce, fathers appear to experience higher levels of informal support for parental leave and reduced hours, and when a company's value system is less masculine, it offers fathers more informal flexibility in integrating work and parenting roles" (70). This example demonstrates most clearly that when a workplace understands work family issues, attitudes and norms toward maternity and parental leave become positive. An ideologically masculine workplace may not support parental leaves because of a lack of understanding. If an organizational culture can understand maternity and parental leave to be positive instead of a burden on business, then perhaps new corporate norms could be developed.

Moving beyond gendered substructures, organizational features, including number of employees, and size of corporation also play a role in the uptake of parental leave.

Income loss and overall productivity, or success of sales may be impacted if multiple employees are on parental leave. While income loss may be minimal for larger corporations, it can be detrimental to smaller organizations. The cost to retrain a replacement employee may have serious implications for smaller organizations. As well,

the replacement employee may not be as skilled as the original employee causing a hit to overall productivity. Ranson (2010) continues this argument when she states "[e]ligibility criteria still prevent a sizeable minority of working parents from making use of the leave. And although extended leaves may be feasible in large organizations, they may be more difficult to accommodate in small enterprise where large numbers of Canadians work" (10). It is clear that organizational structures are incredibly complex and may differ in their abilities to grant parental leaves.

This review of the literature related to organizational features and facilitating leaves helps to frame questions about what workplace conditions influence employees who are considering taking a leave and how they are treated on their return. The question of workplace conditions is important because it points to how workplaces may differ in their response to the provision of leaves.

# 2.6 DISCUSSION: THEORY AND LITERATURE

Applying both social constructionism and feminist political economy to this body of literature is a useful way to grasp the nuances of the uptake and constructions of parental leave. In the contexts of fathering, social constructionism showcases how cultural discourses and social interactions influence couples' willingness and ability to share parenting activities. Moreover, social constructionism draws attention to how organizational culture negotiates norms and attitudes and how particular groups of employees either comply or subvert these norms.

Feminist political economy applies well to the literature surrounding organizational culture and organizational structural difficulties. Since feminist political economy highlights how inequalities are produced, it becomes clear the particular

structural aspects frame organizational cultures differently for various groups of employees either directly or indirectly disadvantaging individuals across departments, employee status, and gender. Furthermore, feminist political economy provides insights to the ways broader economic structures and government policies influences couples' uptake of parental leave and corporations more broadly.

Much of the literature describes organizations' cultural and structural difficulties with maternity and parental leave and the consequences it has for divisions of couples' roles more broadly. As well, the literature describes workplace difficulties surrounding the uptake of maternity and parental leave. These consequences mostly include the division of gender roles in the household and stigmatization for employees.

This review of literature outlines the differences among an individual's parental leave uptake in both the public and private sector and across a variety of industries and jobs (Hass & Hwang 2002, 2007, 2008, 2019a, 2019b; McKay & Doucet 2010; Rehel 2014; Tremblay & Genin 2011; Williams 2017). Hass and Hwang (2019b) cite private sector corporations as being more dominated by men and therefore less experienced in arranging parental leaves (13). Additionally, Hass and Hwang (2019a) highlight an interview with a Norwegian father who agrees parental leave uptakes for men in the public sector are much easier because public sector workers have to "play by the rules" (13). The disparities in parental leave acceptance between the public and private sector are expansive, therefore I initially believed it was important to focus on the private sector in an attempt to understand the potentially negative effects on employees. As my research progressed, I began to see the importance of including both private and public sector to better understand the parental leave experience and its workplace implications.

An individual may decline an extended parental leave due to their concerns including eligibility for promotions, salary increases, and health and wellness benefits. In addition to these factors the organizational cultural norms can subconsciously influence a leave decision. Workers also face many multidimensional obstacles to taking parental leave including corporate norms and attitudes, employee status, and individual personal concerns regarding work devotion and trustworthiness.

My research contributes to current sociological knowledge in the field in light of the recently added non-transferable parental benefits and extended leaves. The current research from Québec and various European countries outlines the positive effects this type of leave can have on second parents and families more generally. As well, evidence from the literature demonstrates how Alberta's business culture is characterized by hegemonic masculine practices, typical of high income corporations, which are only heightened in light of the current economic state of the province. The current economic state is characterized by an increase in unemployment and a decrease in the value of oil and gas due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. This chapter has provided a look into the current parental leave literature in the field and has emphasized the timeliness of my research inquiry.

### **CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY**

Initially, when I set out to do this research in 2019, much of what I imagined for my methodology was modeled off of Pettigrew and Duncan's 2017 article entitled "Poking a Sleeping Bear: The Challenge of Organizational Recruitment For Controversial Topics." Pettigrew and Duncan did a large multi-stage study which highlighted some of the challenges to which I thought it was important to be sensitive. This article outlined particular organizations' willingness or reluctance to discuss the topic of maternity and parental leave. Where my methodology began to differ from Pettigrew and Duncan's was in my recruitment strategy. When I began recruitment I did not recruit within organizations like Pettigrew and Duncan, rather, I strictly used the snowball sample method. I believe the snowball method was successful for my research due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which I will address later in this chapter and again in Chapter 6. Although my methodology has strayed from my preliminary ideas, this change only aided in the speed and success of participant recruitment and interviewing. The remainder of this chapter will document the various facets of my methodology including ontology and theoretical frameworks, research participants and sampling frame, participant recruitment, interviewing, COVID-19, and data management and analysis.

### 3.1 ONTOLOGY AND METHODOLOGICAL FRAMEWORKS

My thesis topic assumes a specific ontological framework. Not only does my research understand individuals taking parental leave as disadvantaged in the workplace, it also gives consideration to the complexities of organizational culture as an entry point for this oppression. The specific theoretical frameworks I use critique social relations in

organizational culture, policy, and gender discourses as factors influencing the uptake of parental leave. I recognize the constructivist perspective as my primary methodological paradigm.

Constructivism for Lincoln, Lynham, and Guba (2011) is the participatory reality created by social interactions (99). They state "[w]e construct knowledge through our lived experiences and through our interactions with other members of society" (103). Constructivism also acknowledges that the researcher is part of the process of construction, in regards to labelling or classifying things in particular ways. The complexity of organizational cultures makes it challenging to code patterns among them. Therefore, the constructivist paradigm allows for reactions towards parental leave to be understood through the interview questions I ask as a researcher and the social interactions I have with participants. I was careful not to project my definition of parental leave onto my participants but rather frame my interview questions in ways that allows for respondents to say they have potentially used the time off in unexpected ways.

There were situations, however, where I provided participants with additional information about leave provisions either during or at the end of the interview. Since a handful of participants were unfamiliar with the recently added parental benefit, I felt obliged to share information about the leave provision so they could better answer particular interview questions. As well, participants who were planning on having second children or who were currently pregnant seemed to ask questions about the recently added parental benefit at the end of the interview. I believe these participants were seeking to educate themselves on the parental leave provisions to help better inform their upcoming or future leaves. Overall, I do not believe sharing information about leave

provisions influenced participants' responses, but rather enriched conversations to indirectly include discussions about why these provisions are not widely known or taken.

I recognize I am an outsider to both motherhood and parenthood. I have leveraged my outsider position to utilize an interview stance similar to what Tracy (2019) calls 'deliberate naïveté' as a way to drop any presuppositions and judgment about parental leave while maintaining openness to new and unexpected findings (160). I believe participants recognized my naïve interview status and engaged with interview questions in ways that were both constructive and informative. This not only helped with building researcher-participant rapport but also allowed participants to feel some power in a situation that typically positions them as less powerful.

Face-to-face interactions during interviewing create ethically important moments in research. Guillemin and Gillam (2004) describe ethically important moments as the difficult and usually unpredictable situations that arise in the practice of doing research (262). There was hesitancy among my participants to discuss the impacts of COVID-19, affordability of daycare, and avenues to conceiving and birthing a child. These topics were some of the most distinct ethically important moments in this research.

Additionally, interviewing via Zoom while there were other adults and children at home created some difficulties regarding participants' professionalism and focus.

### 3.2 RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS AND SAMPLING FRAME

Participants in this research included individuals who have recently or currently taken parental leave, and who work for medium to large private companies in Alberta. It was my initial hope that these individuals would have taken the recently added parental benefit aimed at second parents, however, as recruitment progressed I realized there was

a lack of knowledge of this new policy among parents. Therefore, I expanded my parameters to include any parent who had taken any sort of maternity or parental leave. My research on second parents only includes evidence about fathers due to the fact that every man I interviewed was in a heterosexual couple. The second parents in my study will be referred to as fathers for the remainder of this thesis. My sample included individuals working in a wide variety of jobs to help better explore experiences across a range of industries. I suspect that the organizational culture of the dominant industries, such as oil and gas in Alberta, would tend to influence other industries so drawing connections between the dominant and nondominant industries is valuable. A handful of my participants worked in privately funded non-profit organizations and had similar leave experience to those in the private sector for-profit industries. These connections across various sectors help to strengthen the above assumption.

It should be noted that I did not set specific numerical requirements in my consent form for what constitutes a medium to large corporation. Participants typically identified their company as being medium or large in relation to their own definition of the term.

The smallest of the medium corporations reported by a participant had around thirty employees, while the largest of the large corporations had hundreds of employees across almost every Canadian province and even some offices internationally.

I was able to interview twenty individuals including, seventeen women, and three men. Participants both lived and worked in Calgary with the exception of one participant who worked in Lethbridge and lived in Fort MacLeod. There were two sets of heterosexual married couples out of these twenty participants. The age range for this sample was twenty-four to thirty-seven with the majority of participants having multiple

children. While participants were invited to discuss their experiences across all leaves, special consideration was given to any leave within the last three years to target discussions surrounding leave provisions including the recently added parental benefit and the extended parental leave up to eighteen months.

Out of my twenty participants, fifteen worked in the private for-profit sector, and five worked in the non-profit sector. Three out of these five participants worked in non-profits that were privately funded. As for the other fifteen participants working in the private sector: four were in oil and gas; two were in health care, including private mental health counselling; two were in construction; and the remaining six worked in various industries including real estate, retail, financial services, technology, beauty and personal grooming, property development, and aviation. Furthermore, fourteen participants held desk jobs while the remaining six participants worked in more physically demanding types of employment such as working on the floor in retail or providing flight attendant services. Only one of my participants held part-time employment prior to leave, however, many participants returned to work that was part-time or with reduced hours post-leave. This was motivated by pandemic lay-offs as well the participants' desire to cut back on work hours.

The types of work my participants engaged in differed by occupation. The occupations of my participants included: two individuals in human resources; senior product marketing manager; director of stakeholder relations; flight attendant; director of programs; councillor; business system analyst; supply chain senior specialist; senior coordinator; social worker; pay roll analyst; part-time retail associate and part-time dance

educator; industrial project specialist; team lead of invoicing support; massage therapist; engineer and business opportunity specialist; operations manager; and support services.

A gap in my research lies within the lack of cultural and sexual diversity of my participants. Participants were not asked to racially self-identify, however, all twenty participants could be considered white-passing. I was hoping to include the experiences of same-sex or adoptive parents, however, I fell short in recruiting such individuals. I recognize that my research includes a particular type of privileged individual, who is in somewhat stable employment and has the financial means to support a child in addition to the six-hundred insurable hours to qualify for EI. This has potentially created some bias in the conclusions of my research due to the fact that financial diversity was not present, and therefore social class differences were minimal.

I realize that including participants from various levels of the work organization may create some disparities in my research. These inconsistencies have included how employees at different levels within a company access leave and subsequently how they are stigmatized. For example, some participants were given top-ups from their employer such as stock shares and trading options (Interview 13). These top-ups were given on the basis of their position in the company, creating different incentives for leaves.

Additionally, some participants were offered part-time hours, post-leave, potentially making future access to EI parental leave benefits more difficult.

### 3.3 PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT

This research was approved by the University of Lethbridge Human Participant Research Committee, in compliance with the Tri-Council standards. This included the approval of flyers or advertisements for participants, and participant consent forms. I

achieved my goal of eliciting participants from a wide range of jobs across different departments by having open criteria for participants working within medium to large corporations.

The major cities I considered as sites of recruitment were Calgary and Lethbridge. These cities were chosen due to their similarities in types of corporations that are present and likely commonalities in private sector business culture in Alberta. Recruitment and interviews took place from July to September 2020. I considered employees located at various levels of the work organization in an attempt to diversify my sample.

My primary method of recruitment was snowball sampling. Connections were initially made with individuals in my networking circle and extended from there. The snowball strategy was an effective approach because parents were likely to know each other due to common activities that are linked to their child's life stage (for example, parenting Facebook groups). I started with interviewing friends-of-friends who worked in technology, aviation and expanded my sample to others in their personal networks.

Additionally, three out of the five of my participants who worked in the non-profit sector came from this initial snowball method. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and various quarantine orders, participants had more time in their schedules to connect me with other parents and provide follow-ups to make sure interviews were completed. It is my belief that the increased availability of individuals, due to the pandemic made recruitment more straightforward than what other researchers in the field have faced. I did, however, face a slight stall in recruitment during the end of July after I had spoken to ten individuals.

Pettigrew and Duncan in their research utilized contact with public non-profit organizations and online newspapers when recruitment within work organizations became a challenge (2017, 41). The steps taken by Pettigrew and Duncan provided an outline for my research when faced with similar situations. Near the end of my recruitment period after I had interviewed ten participants and interest was slowing, I posted my research poster on Facebook and gained access to a new set of participants. This type of social media outreach was suggested by a participant and was similar to Pettigrew and Duncan's use of online newspapers. Individuals in this Facebook group were eager to participate in the research and some interviews were even conducted on the same day initial contact was made. I was able to recruit my final ten participants through posting in the Facebook group. These participants worked across various jobs including oil & gas, and massage therapy. Social media outreach was an invaluable form of recruitment for my research as I learned new parents, as well as parents on leave, use social media to create networks. Taking inspiration from Pettigrew and Duncan in conjunction with my participant's suggestion allowed me to reach a wider variety of participants within my ideal sampling frame.

## 3.4 QUALITATIVE INTERVIEWS

The primary mode of data collection for this qualitative analysis was open-ended interviews with individuals who are currently on leave or who have recently returned to work after leave. The interviews took place primarily over Zoom in my home office (with two interviews taking place face-to-face in the participants' backyard, while maintaining social distancing). Interviews took anywhere from forty-five to sixty-five minutes.

Participants were required to have their names remain confidential in their interviews through the use of a pseudonym. To protect participant confidentiality, details such as locations and identifying features have been altered. Pseudonyms have been chosen with input from participants. I have ensured that using participants quotes do not inadvertently impact the confidentiality of other participants. This is particularly important for the married couples in my study as well as participants' working in similar industries. My interview guide was as follows:

- 1. Tell me about the job you are on leave from. Did you return to the same job after your leave?
- 2. Tell me about your decision to have a child at this time.
- 3. How did you use your (maternity and) parental leave? (i.e what time did you take off)? Did your partner take any time off?
- 4. How did your co-workers react when you decided to take (maternity and) parental leave? How did they react when you returned? (Only if participant has returned to work).
- 5. How did your supervisors react when you decided to take (maternity and) parental leave? How did they react when you returned? (Only if participant has returned to work).
- 6. Have you had any conversations with your co-workers about (maternity and) parental leave?
- 7. Did the type of job you have make it difficult for you to organize leave with your employer?

- 8. Are you happy with the current maternity and parental leave policies in Alberta?
- 9. What recommendations would you make to change the current maternity and parental leave policies in Alberta?
- 10. On the basis of your experience, do you believe you faced any negative impacts when deciding to take a (maternity and) parental leave?
- 11. Did you do any work or professional development related to your employment during your leave?
- 12. This there anything else you want me to know about maternity or parental leave?
- 13. Is there any advice you have for individuals on maternity or parental leave?

At the end of the interview I used a checklist to confirm that I had basic personal information including gender and pronouns; sexual orientation; age; social class and salary range; current job position and title; and number of children.

Due to the open-ended nature of these interview questions, I did not ask all the questions in the order given in every interview. As well, I used additional probes to encourage participants to expand on their responses. I placed the checklist at the end of my interview guide as most of the questions in the checklist were indirectly answered throughout the interview. Furthermore, some of the questions in the checklist could come across as potentially threatening to the participant. Placing the checklist at the end of the interview helped to protect participant and researcher rapport.

# 3.5 THE INFLUENCE OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC ON MY METHODOLOGY

Chapter 6 will describe COVID-19 and my findings more directly, although, it is important to describe the ways COVID-19 influenced my methodology in this section. None of my interview questions directly ask about COVID-19, although, I recognized that discussions surrounding the pandemic were inevitable. Discussions surrounding the pandemic came up in a variety of different ways. Some of the most common discussions include the ways the pandemic worked in favour or against a participant's leave; the fear pregnant mothers and new parents felt about being exposed to various illnesses; and how the temporary closing of daycare and day homes affected parenting and leaves. To help mitigate the risk of distress arising from the circumstances of the pandemic I added COVID-19 specific resources into my letter of consent.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has influenced my research in unique and sometimes helpful ways. Pettigrew and Duncan (2017), have done similar parental leave research and outline many reasons companies and individuals declined participation in their research including a tough economic climate, employee fatigue, and lack of interest (42-44). These reasons, and many others have been challenges I have faced within my own recruitment process particularly a tough economic climate and employee fatigue related to the COVID-19 pandemic and various realities including lay-offs and the devaluation of our primary industry: oil and gas. Recruiting participants in a global pandemic has proven to be both a challenge and a blessing. Due to various quarantine orders, participants had increased availability to complete virtual interviews via Zoom. What proved most challenging, however, was various distractions including children and

people's comfort in the home; at times this produced a lack of formality and insight by the participant.

For the majority of my recruitment period (June to September 2020) Alberta Health Services (AHS) restrictions were relatively relaxed when compared to the rest of the year. Despite these lax guidelines, many participants were still working from home which allowed for interviews to be structured into their work days. I found this type of scheduling beneficial because interviews could be conducted quite quickly after initial contact was made. Additionally, online interviews via Zoom removed extra steps that typically make qualitative research more challenging such as arranging meeting spots or entering a participant's home. I did, however, conduct two outdoor in-person interviews in the month of July. The combination of hot weather and the friend-of-friend relationship I had with these participants made the outdoor in person meeting possible.

Although Zoom was mostly beneficial for recruitment, it did come with some challenges. Many participants were facing Zoom fatigue during the summer. This Zoom fatigue was influenced by increased time spent online, lack of in-person social interaction, and saturation of the Zoom platform. Often times, participants blurred the boundaries between what was formal and informal. I recognize doing parental leave research would entail children being around even in a non-pandemic year, however, these children often lacked an understanding of the boundary between the home and work space. In addition to children, many participants were contending with other various distractions including pets, household noises such as televisions and doorbells, and the comforts of being in their own home. One participant even indulged in some beer during their interview. Overall, the COVID-19 pandemic provided more benefits than detriments

and helped pull back the curtain on the day-to-day lives of working parents. In the long run, this only helped me better understand my participants.

### 3.6 DATA MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS

Data files from the interviews have been stored on my personal password-protected laptop. Password-protected flash drives have been used to capture the audio recordings. As a precautionary measure, in case my laptop failed, a back-up password-protected portable hard drive was also been used to store data. The data has not included the names of participants. Data has been maintained in a secure location during this research and will remain in this location after the completion of the project. I plan on keeping materials to facilitate a return to the data to write journal articles and community reports from this material following the research project. I have used email encryption for any emails sent about this project that contain sensitive information. The signed consent forms, lists of confidential names, and transcriptions of interviews have been kept in a locked filing cabinet at my home office.

I transcribed the interviews immediately after they were completed. I used the software program otter.ai to aid in this transcription. In my consent form, I promised participants a chance to read over their transcript and provide feedback within three weeks of the interview. Many participants chose not to read over their transcript. This short time frame of three weeks required quick, diligent transcription. I chose not transcribe the interviews verbatim to lessen the intimidation factor when participants read their transcripts. Bird (2005), in her analysis on transcription, describes the value in writing transcripts in ways that are welcoming for everyone to read (239). By providing participants with a welcoming and easy-to-read transcript, I hoped to create a space for

further thought and inquiry by indirectly pushing individuals to expand on their original responses. Because majority of participants opted not to read over their transcript, coding could be completed quite quickly after the interview and revisited when more coding categories were known.

With regards to my analytical strategy, I read and coded interviews in the days following the interview. Transcripts were read multiple times as coding was done. Turner (2010), in her guide on qualitative interview design, emphasizes the importance of constantly re-reading and coding interviews. For Turner, multiple close readings, in conjunction with new interview transcriptions, allows for a rich analysis and the shaping of new ideas (Turner, 2010, 759). I conducted multiple rounds of coding often circling back to earlier interviews when categories became more clear. As more information from my participants came known, my codes shifted and expanded to best reflect the parental leave experiences from my sample. Once all interviews were completed, these thematic codes went through multiple rounds of revision to arrive at the final format. These thematic codes not only influenced the ways subsequent chapters were organized but also aided in the understanding of the distinct findings of this research.

I used a qualitative thematic analysis to explore my data. Aguinaldo (2012) describes the goals of thematic analysis when he states "[t]he goal of thematic analysis is simply to paraphrase and summarize the dataset as a whole or in part in relation to particular research questions. Analysis typically involves steps that a) identify the content of the data, b) reduce redundancy, and c) group data into representative categories that articulate or describe a particular social phenomenon" (796). Ryan (2000) agrees with the above quote and further states how the investigators general theoretical orientations, the

existing literature, and the characteristics of the topic being studied can influence the themes researchers find (781).

The thematic codes for this research initially came from the literature and then evolved to include participants' own narratives. Initial codes including structural features and organizational cultures influencing leaves were described in the literature and further supported by participant discussions. Other codes, such as redefining leave, came about through participants own narratives. The full thematic coding summary is provided in Appendix A. Braun (2006) describes how thematic analysis is not wedded to any pre-existing theoretical framework (81). Having a thematic approach not tied to any pre-existing theories was valuable for this research which encompassed two theoretical frameworks.

#### 3.7 CONCLUSION

Much of the current literature highlights the challenges of participant recruitment for a research on a topic of this nature. It was my hope that the timeframe of the interviews, anonymity and confidentiality, and the ability to read transcripts made my research desirable for potential participants. I believe the pandemic really worked in my favour in terms of recruitment and interviewing. Since many participants were working from home, online interviews were a simple task individuals could do on their lunch break, during nap time, or in the evenings after children had gone to bed. Additionally, online interviews helped with the speed of recruitment and interviews. It was easier to send a Zoom link and conduct the interview than to plan a face-to-face meeting which would require tasks like driving, cleaning of participants' home, or spending money on coffee at a public place.

This chapter has described the ways in which my methodology was conceived, employed, and changed over the course of this research inquiry. The recognition of my particular methodological and ontological positions, in conjunction with the thematic analysis approach have helped in keeping my transcription and coding established around participant data, alongside consideration of how my personal viewpoints are implicated in the process of social construction.

# CHAPTER 4: FEMINIST POLITICAL ECONOMY AND LEAVE EXPERIENCES

This chapter documents the material resources, economic inequalities, and government policies that are influential in the uptake of leave. Often these inequalities and material resources are both produced and redefined through gendered experiences of working and parenting, government policies and the market. In contrast, participants at times have demonstrated how to plan new and creative parental leaves within these predetermined economic and political structures. Participants who redefine their leaves within these sometimes rigid structures showcase what may better suit the needs of both workers and parents.

In this chapter I will use the framework of feminist political economy, which understands gendered and classed experiences of working and parenting to be wrapped up in material resources, the economy, and government influence. The important points in this chapter are the occupational position of participants, gendered experiences of leave and work, structural features influencing a participant's choice of leave, and penalties toward employees who take leave. This chapter also emphasizes the ways in which participants redefine their leaves within the confines of government policy and the knowledge participants have regarding parental leave more broadly. It is important to note that participants often use employment entitlements that might arise from their positions, such as the ability to come back early from leave, to negotiate more desirable leaves.

### 4.1 FEMINIST POLITICAL ECONOMY

Feminist political economy is primarily concerned with how inequalities are produced. This approach considers economic and political factors to better explain why particular individuals are advantaged or disadvantaged in a capitalist system (Pupo, Duffy, & Glenday, 2017, 252). Using this theoretical lens is valuable when analyzing this research because parental leave encompasses gendered and classed experiences of working and parenting. Feminist political economy is used as the broader framework for this chapter to understand how the experiences of parental leave are embedded in uncontrollable factors such as government policy, the market economy, and gender.

Documenting the material resources influencing leave uptakes, such as government policy and the market economy, is valuable when understanding how inequalities for parents and workers are related to occupational position. As well, feminist political economy helps highlight how certain structural features, such as top-up programs dictated by the success of a particular company in the market economy, can influence participants' choice of leave. Not all participants have access to top-ups due to the fact that not all companies have the same market position. Additionally, not all participants have the same ability to leverage leaves, due to their occupational position or their lack of knowledge about leave options. Using a feminist political economy framework is also valuable for understanding how participants leverage these factors, educate themselves on parental leave policies, and accomplish leaves that do not conform to standard formats. The interactions participants have among themselves and within their workplaces, and towards government policy create particular inequalities and help to better contextualize a participant's choice of leave.

Feminist political economy helps to explain why not knowing about certain parental leave policies, like the recently added parental benefit, is problematic and creates traditional gender roles within a workplace or household. This not knowing produces inequalities between participants because it gives those with appropriate policy knowledge the power to choose, or not choose, to take a certain type of parental leave. For example, those with knowledge about leave for the second parent may choose not to take it, however, those who lack knowledge may choose not to take leave for the second parent due to the fact that they are not properly informed. The following sections will discuss some of these concerns as they arise within my data.

### **4.2 OCCUPATIONAL POSITION OF PARTICIPANTS**

Various groups of workers in my research sample represented different social classes based on their employment. By definition, everyone in my research sample had access to leave. I did not interview persons without employment or in more precarious work positions who could not access leave and benefit provisions. Three of my twenty participants worked hourly and had some concerns about requalifying for Employment Insurance (EI) if they wanted to have a second or third child. There was also concern among seven of my participants in terms of COVID-19 layoffs and their ability to requalify for parental leave benefits or regular EI benefits.

In terms of organizational strata, ten of my twenty participants worked in a managerial position with heightened responsibilities and particular skill requirements with a team working underneath them (Interviews 1, 2, 4, 7, 8, 12, 13, 17, 18, 20). Some of the occupations in this category included director of stakeholder relations, senior product marketing coordinator, and operations managers. The remaining ten participants

worked in lower-level positions such as retail associate, system analyst, or flight attendant either independently or on a team. However, their positions required and they possessed specific training pertaining to their job (Interview 3, 5, 6, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16, 19). Unfortunately, there is not enough robust data in my research sample in terms participant numbers to know if individuals in managerial positions or individuals in lower-level positions were more easily replaced by a new hire over leave. Research that would include a larger participant sample, over twenty participants, may be able to answer such questions more clearly. However, current literature shows that replacement employees may not be as skilled as the original worker causing a hit to overall productivity despite managerial or lower-level designations (Tremblay & Genin 2011; Ranson 2010).

Industry can play an important role in relation to gendered experiences of leave. Certain industries have shown to be more gendered that others, such as construction and oil and gas, having predominately men working across most occupations in the industry (Dainty & Bagihole, 2006; Williams 2018). Even though these industries primarily employ men, such companies would still have administrative assistants who work for them who are likely to be women. Dainty and Bagihole (2006) document how men are less likely to take parental leave, making leave uptakes by those employees less routine and more detrimental to career progression (Dainty and Bagihole, 2006, 104).

Additionally, employers in these industries, including financial services and technology, may have less experience facilitating parental leaves creating a more traditionally gendered workplaces.

All participants in my sample were aware of their experiences of working and parenting in relation to their social class. Many of the participants in managerial positions reported high household incomes between themselves and their partner, and they had fewer concerns about supporting their family on leave. Tori, who worked as a human resources and training development representative for an oil and gas company, made the following statement about her household income:

And I also, I hate saying this, but I don't have to work financially. My husband makes enough. So it was always my choice to go back to work and to have a career, you know, and then if it was like, I hated it after three months, I could be at home with my kid again. So it's, I guess, I always have options. So I feel like that makes it easier. (Interview 18)

Some participants in lower-level positions made statements opposite to Tori surrounding their income concerns while on leave. Nadine, who worked as a payroll analyst for a construction company, was particularly interesting due to the nature of her husband's employment while on leave. She states:

And I think it was hard for us - specifically for me - to even take twelve months because my husband got laid-off partway through my maternity leave and he was also on EI. And living at two reduced incomes for the amount of time that, I think it was only like six months, but still that was a struggle. The cap that they have - I don't know all the details behind our current policies with the twelve months, but I know there's a cap and you can only earn so much income while you're on mat leave. EI just doesn't leave people a lot of wiggle room to make ends meet. Like a single Mom, I can't even imagine how she must cope! (Interview 10).

Experiences of working and parenting become inherently class-centric and are based on an individual's employment, their partner's employment, their job position and title, and their ability to be promoted in a workplace. Since COVID-19 created new uncertainties for a significant number of participants, this stability is understood in a pre-COVID-19 context. (More discussion on these uncertainties will be included in Chapter 6.)

### 4.3 GENDERED EXPERIENCES OF LEAVE AND WORK

This section will evaluate the ways in which gender creates different experiences of work and parental leave in the face of the market economy. Feminist political economy frames this analysis because workplace structures are often unconsciously gendered and can substantially affect leave and employment. Elements of the market, such as wages and job title, are often gendered and can create differential experiences of leave and work for women and men. Main concepts in this section interact closely with second parent leave and include discussions of gender wage gaps and gendered leave experiences. Additionally, this section analyses why men have not taken the recently added parental benefit and stigmatization towards men's uptake of leave, and how EI is structured and experienced by fathers taking the recently added parental benefit.

Gendered experiences of leave and work are often tied-up in elements such as household income and job title. Salaries and wages are higher for men than women, and men are promoted more readily than women (Calnitsky 2019). Consequently, there are gender wage gaps between spouses and these gaps perpetuate gendered leave experiences. Thirteen participants reported a wage disparity between themselves and their partner. These disparities were true for those in upper and lower level positions. Since I was unable to interview both partners, the extent of these wage disparities are unknown. What has been reported, however, were comments made in passing such as "[m]y husband makes twice what I do" (Interview 17).

Two of the men I interviewed, however, were acutely aware of gender wage disparities and often commented on it in ways that perpetuated gendered leave

experiences. Edward, who worked as senior product marketing manager for a software company, made the following statement:

And, I mean, there's other financial aspects. I mean, there's obviously a gender disparity in wage! I make more in general [than partner] probably, you know, I mean more education and things like that. So for me, having a higher salary, it just made sense for me to be working longer rather than taking the EI for that last month or for longer than that last month. And also, I was working at a small company at the time, and I'm the only person in my role. So it's not that my company wouldn't let me if I wanted to take a year leave - that's on the table for them. But it was more for me. I was really enjoying my work because it was sort of a medium company, about sixty people, I was really integrated into doing things. I had a lot of opportunities to do things that I liked and for me, stepping away from that for longer it felt like not a mistake, or a risk, it felt like I'd be missing out on some career stuff. Whereas within my partner's role, I don't think she felt like she would be missing out on the same sort of opportunities. They don't really exist in the same way, and that's not to say that we don't want her to have opportunities, but it's just in her current career it's not really an option to build in the same way. (Interview 1)

Edward's comments reflect many realities. First, his notions about gender wage disparities showcase how traditional leave experiences come about. Next, his comments about opportunities in the workplace clearly exhibit how men may benefit because it is assumed they will not take any parental leave. Edward does mention how a leave would be an option for him at his company, however, his beliefs surrounding the risk of leave are often characteristic of employees who are men (Hass & Hwang 2007; 2019a, 2019b, Rehel 2014). Finally, his comments may indicate that he sees his role at his company as being more important than his spouse's. Edward's comments about leave, especially his comments about wage disparities, are echoed by Tony, who was a senior coordinator for a publicly-funded non-profit. In a discussion surrounding the factors that dictated his choice of leave, Tony states:

Income definitely. Just because you do take a financial hit for taking Dad paid leave [sic]. And there is that stigma in the workforce a lot of times. It's like - well, your wife took maternity leave, do you really need to take paternity leave [sic]?

I've never, heard it expressed openly in that respect, but financially it's definitely something you look at. And it's kind of a sobering thought when you first actually look at it because I found for us, as first-time parents, it was the first time we really looked at our finances. Like to a point where we're like, we need to subtract thousands of dollars. And you're like, oh, wow, shit. (Interview 8)

Income for Tony and his partner played a large role in the way they planned their parental leave. Tony's partner took a twelve month parental leave, however, Tony was laid-off due to the pandemic six months into the leave, and they both took the lead on parenting. Tony also raises an interesting notion in the above quote about stigmatization towards leave for the second parent, and more specifically for fathers. Tony and Edward's quotes demonstrate what McKay and Doucet (2010) refer to as the privilege over obligation paradox, where father's view their domestic duties as a privilege, rather than an obligation, due to their ideologies positioning women as domestic caregivers.

Nine participants who were women reported that their partner's workplace was not understanding of second-parent leave, which influenced their leave choices and subsequently created a gendered leave experience. Christina summarizes this point when she states:

And he [husband] could take the five weeks, but he would still be working for five weeks, if that makes sense? He's the only one who does his job [in the office]. And he's in sales. So he would – it would be pointless for him to take it because he would still be expected to answer his phone and answer emails. (Interview 7)

It is clear that Christina's husband works in an office that makes it challenging to take parental leave. The couple-based divisions of labour for Christina and her husband are undermined by his workplace. Remy, who was a director of programs for a privately funded non-profit, further strengthens this notion when stating:

Yeah, I think for us it was a financial decision for sure. In terms of the pay difference that would happen if he was on leave versus myself would be

substantial. So it was that decision. Also, his workplace would have been far less supportive of the leave and so it was just sort of easier, I think, for me. And you know, selfishly, I was totally okay, taking the full leave. But if other circumstances would have been present, I'm sure we would have shared it. (Interview 4)

Remy took a twelve month parental leave with no time taken by her partner. The above quote highlights the conjunction between wage disparities and supportive work environments, which are often two of the most common factors that lead to gendered leave experiences. Leave becomes gendered when it clashes with elements such as household income and job positions and titles, and especially when men are in higher paying positions. When a participant holds employment with a senior title, they often feel like a leave would pose a risk to their future success in the company. Senior positions also elicit higher paying salaries and are typically positions held by men. These challenges are what makes it difficult for leaves to become less gendered and more neutral.

Another commonly stated obstacle to a gender equal parental leave is EI. EI's structure, application requirements and payment distributions, can at times influence a participant's choices when planning parental leave. Nine of my twenty participants reported that the application process for the second parent's leave was challenging, which discouraged them from taking it. It is unclear if these challenges are general challenges with the EI system, with which participants become easily annoyed. Since only one of my participants successfully took the leave for the second parent, her experience became the constant to which I compared all other experiences. When discussing her husband's experience of leave, Kaitlynn, who worked as a massage therapist, states:

I think he waited maybe four days to a week and then applied. But he didn't hear anything back for I think it was six weeks. And he didn't get any payment for

about six weeks after that date so. [...] There's bi-weekly statements or something like that you have to apply or put in reports, I think. Yeah, that's what it is, bi-weekly reports that you have to submit and say how many hours - I've worked this many hours. So he was doing that the whole time. And then he finally got a response back from them [the government], I think it was six weeks later. (Interview 14)

Kaitlynn's experience creates a perception: the application for second parent leave is onerous. Also, the six-week wait to receive payment is a timeframe that could be detrimental to couples living paycheque to paycheque. Normal processing time for an EI claim is listed on the Government of Canada's website as one week (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2019a). Kaitlynn's husband also had to report bi-weekly work statements. Women do not have to submit any work reports during their leave, making access to leave for fathers more complicated and stringent. Additional steps to access leave, and long timelines for accessing pay, may explain why many fathers have chosen not to go through the process of applying for second parent leave.

It is unclear if Kaitlynn's husband was participating in the "Working While on Claim Program," a designated EI program for individuals working while on leave. The program states that you can keep fifty cents of your benefits for every dollar you earn, up to ninety percent of your previously weekly earning. You must also file bi-weekly reports (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2018). Kaitlynn's husband could also be reporting statements to his employer as an 'under the table' agreement.

Kaitlynn and her partner were also contending with another EI obstacle to parental leave. Since Kaitlynn was an hourly employee, and returned to part-time hours post-leave, she had some concerns about requalifying for EI benefits. She states:

Yeah, the only thing is, I have to be very careful. If we wanted to have another kid soon, I couldn't do it until - I have to work for a full year at least before I can take the benefits over again. Whereas, the 600 hours can be done in what is it like three

or four months if you're working full-time. So I have to be cautious of if we want to have another kid right out the gate, we couldn't. So we'd have to wait timing wise for me to be able to take those benefits again. (Interview 14)

Requalifying for EI is an obstacle to leave that many new parents must consider especially in light of COVID-19 lay-offs and quarantine closures. It is important, more so than ever, that parents are able to quality for leave. A temporary maternity and parental leave benefit provision will help participants requalify from now until September 2021 and will be discussed in Chapter 6.

One of my interview questions asked participants to directly report their feelings regarding parental leave policies in Canada. All of my participants noted they were happy Canada provided parents with generous parental leave benefits. Some participants, however, made note of areas that could be improved. Tori, who worked as a human resources and training development representative, made the following statement concerning improvements to parental leave policies and EI. She states:

My bigger thing is the, just the money piece. And I don't remember there being big issues, but I remember, a couple of times, you know, I would get my EI payment on a different day than I was expecting. And, again, it was fine. But for some people, there's no way that would be fine. Like you couldn't pay your bills. So there's a lot of room for improvement, just in the general processes. (Interview 18)

As noted earlier, there was not much financial diversity within my research sample, therefore, I am unsure if having payments on different days was a challenging experience for others. What is clear, however, is that the process of EI for parental leave could be amended and improved including applications, reporting, and payments (Doucet et al. 2020).

This section has demonstrated how planning parental leaves can become unintentionally gendered in light of economic elements such as household income,

second parent leave uptakes, and EI challenges more broadly. There is a danger in perpetuating gendered experiences of leave and still much work that needs to be done at the economic level to ensure greater gender equality within parental leaves. Authors in the field have suggested hiring more women at senior levels and being conscious of fair wage negotiations for their employees (Van der Lippe et al. 2019, 115).

# 4.4 STRUCTURAL FEATURES INFLUENCING A PARTICIPANT'S CHOICE OF LEAVE

This section will discuss how structural features in a workplace influence a participant's choice of leave. I will be focusing on the following structural features: employee entitlements including salary top-ups to one-hundred percent of their wages and stock option shares and trading; HR departments not properly informing individuals of top-up programs; the ability or expectations employees have about working over leave; and if replacement employees are hired while the participant is on leave. The ways in which particular corporations can provide both advantages and disadvantages to employees while on leave, and when returning to work post-leave, are important considerations for this section because the employment perspective is often overlooked in parental leave research. Feminist political economy framework throws light on how corporate structures can at times produce inequalities for workers in a capitalist system.

Participants in my research sample had varying understandings of parental leave policies and I will discuss those in a later section. Understanding different leave policies contributed to more confusion when participants navigated top-up programs and employment entitlements. Participants tended to blame this confusion and lack of knowledge on their HR departments. Tori, who worked as a human resources and training

development representative for an oil and gas company, described her frustrations with HR most explicitly when she states:

It turns out where I am now tops-up to ninety percent for fifteen weeks or something like that, which is cool, but nobody will give me that information in writing. But I know it exists. It's weird, because of the different provinces, so they can't - some people know about it. Some people don't. It's this weird thing. But there are so many things out there in organizations that people just don't know. (Interview 18)

It is important to note that Tori's company had many offices across Canada. The different provinces she refers to is her corporate office in Québec, which has different parental leave policies under the Québec Parental Insurance Plan (QPIP). Top-ups are a valuable program to have for the retention and happiness of employees. What makes top-up programs challenging, however, is when they cannot be accessed or understood by those who hope to use them. Since Tori worked in HR herself, it is interesting to hear that she did not have information on the company's top-up program and that no one on her team could give her the company top-up information in writing.

Hannah, who worked as an operations manager for a construction company, described a similar situation. The quotation below describes a situation concerning vacation benefits, which employees on parental leave are entitled to. Hannah's experience is similar to Tori's quote surrounding the structural features and lack of knowledge in HR departments. Hannah states:

And then even coming back, I know that I'm entitled to vacation. You earn vacation while you're away. So I actually know what my vacation entitlement is, but it's more than what the system will show. And so, I have twenty-seven days of vacation. But the system shows twenty. And so, trying to have that conversation is, well, there's nobody who will validate what I'm telling you, so I'm probably gonna lose out on those seven days. (Interview 17)

These structural features created by the systems in Hannah's workplace have shown to hurt her return to work post-leave and perhaps even influence how she chooses to go about any future leaves. It seems as though this particular workplace has indirectly leveraged its structural features, such as vacation entitlement, to create an organizational culture that systematically disadvantages leave-taking individuals. Therefore, this corporate policy frames parental leaves as unacceptable. The above quote demonstrates how structure and culture can interface to paint parental leaves as challenging practices.

Top-up programs were not as common among my participant sample as I initially expected them to be. Only four participants reported being given top-ups (Interview 6, 7, 15, 18). The nature of these top-up programs have been described by the participants below:

I was part of a working group at my company to do a top-up program for EI benefits. And then I went on mat leave and thankfully, that [top-up program] got pushed through while I was off. So my company implemented a twenty-six week top-up program for full-time employees. There's a lot of variables to it, but that was an amazing thing to do. Because yeah, my full compensation is really nice, yah know? (Interview 6)

My work tops up my salary six weeks after birth and if you have a C-section they top it up for eight weeks. (Interview 7)

So my company implemented five weeks of paternity [sic] leave for all fathers with one-hundred percent pay. And new mothers get seven weeks. So a lot of men have started taking that five weeks with full pay. And I think that's been a really positive shift among the younger generation. (Interview 15).

It turns out where I am now tops up to ninety percent for fifteen weeks or something like that, which is cool. (Interview 18)

The top-up programs as noted above are great, however, they are not common among participants. Two participants were offered employee entitlements including benefits like share options which painted leave in a more desirable light for employees concerned

about income. These employee entitlements are not universal. Entitlements are specific to particular corporations and the employee's position within that corporation. When discussing the structural features of her organization, Tanya, who worked as a team lead of invoicing support for an oil and gas company, describes her share payout during both maternity leaves. She states:

I get granted shares over leave. So with my first child, I got money throughout the year I was on maternity leave. But I didn't get them [shares] till I came back. I'd have to be back for ninety days before I got them [shares]. Plus I got dividends that were like a huge chunk of money. But with my second child, it changed, and after 120 days they forfeit them [shares] and then once you're back, they reissue them. (Interview 13)

Tanya's share payout was not formally written in company policy. Tanya's payout was given to her on the basis of her status in the company because she was in a senior position and spent many years with the corporation. This payout is a structural feature of her organization in terms of the company's financial ability to grant such entitlements.

Tanya's quote also highlights the ways this payout structure has changed over the years. It is unclear if all the employees at Tanya's company were granted similar entitlements. However, it should be noted that Tanya held responsibility at her place of work and was a highly-valued employee.

Parental leave top-up programs and employee entitlements are avenues that can create positive parental leave experiences. While these top-ups and entitlements can be problematic if not appropriately implemented by HR departments or if not clearly communicated or equally available to all employees, they are an effective way to create a positive parental leave.

An interesting aspect of parental leave uptake is the choice to participate in work over leave. Work for my participants has been described as professional development,

"volunteer work" towards employment, return to work retraining, or actual day-to-day employment tasks. It was my initial assumption that engaging in work over leave would be a terrible experience, however, participants reported otherwise. There is a wide range of experiences concerning working over leave, but, twelve of my twenty participants noted the benefits of this practice.

Some participants, like Sarah who worked as an engineer, did not have a choice in the matter and were obligated to do work over leave due to the structural features of their occupation (Interviews 3, 15). Sarah's experience of work over leave was shaped by requirements set by APEGA, the regulatory body for engineers, and not through her company. If Sarah did not complete thirty hours of volunteer work or professional development over leave she would have lost her engineering license. Despite the obligatory nature of this work, Sarah still found value in this practice when she said "[i]t might help with transitioning back to work. Maybe just to get my head around the industry again" (Interview 15). Sarah found ways to leverage these working hours to best suit her needs by volunteering at her son's preschool and reading engineering specific literature for her professional development hours.

Another working and leave experience was described by six participants who did not work over leave but wished they had. Often times these participants chose to engage in some work or professional development during their parental leave. These participants had multiple children, and had experienced the detriments of not working over leave, and were looking to make a change for their second leave. Ella, who worked as a counselor for a psychology firm, reported feelings of isolation on her first leave. When asked about what made her second leave better Ella reported "[m]aking space for research in my field,

literature in my field, just to bring back a bit of focus for me" (Interview 5). For Ella, this professional development work helped contribute to increased focus and confidence when returning to the workplace. The participants in this category often cited mental health as a contributing factor for their desire to work over leave; I will expand on this in the coming chapter.

A final set of experiences regarding working over leave included four participants who gladly fulfilled work tasks during leave despite their employers not requiring the completion of such tasks. These individuals were often heavily involved in their company although not necessarily in management positions, and were willing to continue contributing and connecting with their team, regardless of leave. Ashley, who worked as a director of stakeholder relations for a non-profit, describes the following two scenarios, the first cites a situation where she actively chose to work over leave. The second describes a situation where her company offered her working hours. Ashley states:

And we worked out kind of an arrangement because I was in a senior leadership role, I was of course very invested in the organization, and was fully intending on coming back to work. And so the guy who was doing my job really talked with me about how could we keep connecting so I could continue to influence the direction of our development department. And that really worked for me. We connected every two weeks while I was on leave and he would come to my house, walk my baby, and talk with me about what was happening at work. And that was a really good thing for me! (Interview 2)

Our CEO does a pretty compelling speech at the gala and for a lot of people that's kind of the highlight of why they attend. And prior to my leave, I co-wrote that speech with her [CEO]. And so when it came time to writing her speech while I was on leave, she invited me and made it optional to help her write it. And that was something that I really appreciated because it was something I could do while my kids were sleeping, it was a small enough piece of work that it was manageable. It allowed me to kind of engage in something cognitive, and something that I really cared about, and to be in a relationship with my boss who I really liked, or still do really like. It was those sorts of things that I got to be involved in where the impression that was given to me was there wasn't anybody else in the agency who could help as much as I could and so that didn't make me

feel pressured, it made me feel valued, that I had something to really offer. (Interview 2)

Ashley did two important things here. In the first situation, she leveraged the structural features of her company, like the use of a replacement employee, to remain involved and informed with the day-to-day happenings of the company. In the second scenario, the structural features of Ashley's workplace, including the yearly gala and emphasis on the speech, were documented in a way where her talents and abilities fostered a sense of self-worth and community within her company. Again, these scenarios demonstrate the conjunction of structural features and organizational culture, however, this time they are contributing to a positive leave experience.

The structural features of a workplace can also have implications for how a participant experiences employment both prior to and post-leave. When a replacement employee assumes the duties of an employee on leave, there is less concern surrounding distributing tasks to the rest of the team. Although, when an employee's position is not filled by a replacement employee, there is more fear that their job could become obsolete and place more pressure on those remaining in the workplace. Both of these experiences have been outlined by my participants during discussions surrounding the structural features of their workplace. Caitlyn, who worked as a social worker for a non-profit, described the experience of replacement employees at her workplace. She states:

But I always find that they're really bad at having someone ready to go when someone leaves, even though you know for months that a mat leave is coming up. So I always feel bad. I felt bad for the team because they take on the extra work until someone gets hired. And even if someone's hired, they have to figure things out slowly. (Interview 9)

Caitlyn's workplace struggles to replace employees over leave. Caitlyn's quote reflects similar observations made by Tremblay and Genin (2011) about how co-worker and

manager support can lack when an company is strained by the absence of a worker on leave (258). Caitlyn's experience of feeling bad about the situation is systematically produced by the structural features of her company such as the team-based nature of the labour, and the delay in hiring a replacement employee. Katie, who worked as a business system analyst for a property development company, describes a situation opposite to that of Caitlyn's. For Katie, her job became obsolete when her replacement employee got hired full-time during her leave. Katie describes the situation below:

I came on initially as a full-time role. And then shortly after, I ended up getting pregnant and going on my first mat leave the following year I guess. That was kind of the first mat leave. And then I came back to the marketing team and worked a little bit. And then went on my second mat leave back in June of last year, I kind of started that. And when I return, I'm actually joining a different team, in a different role, with a different manager because that's the only department with space for me. (Interview 6)

For Katie, her employer was still able to find a desirable job for her within the company. It should be noted that Katie was not unhappy with this outcome. What is clear, however, is that the structural features of Katie's workplace, such as the team-based organization of work, shifted and changed her job title and duties over the course of her maternity leave. Some employees may not be as lucky as to find a new role in the company so quickly.

Christina, who worked as a senior supply chain specialist for a construction company, commented on the structural features of her organization, such as project timelines and company lay-off practices, when returning from parental leave. Christina opted to come back from leave two weeks early because there was a position for her on a project. Christina's company organizes project completions on a yearly basis. If an employee's leave does not align with the dates of corporate projects, returning to work

can become a challenge. When responding to questions about the return to work process, Christina sates:

So when I first went on mat leave, I told my HR person I'm going to take the twelve months. And so they knew my return to work date. They can't lay you off before that date, but they can literally lay you off the day you walk into the office. Like leave is job protected to some degree. But if there is no work, then they can lay you off. (Interview 7)

In addition to questionable ethics surrounding lay-off decisions, the way Christina's company has organized project processes makes it challenging for employees to return to work post-leave. Government policy on EI maternity and parental leaves make it clear that employees are required to return to the same or similar job post-leave, however, Christina's experience demonstrates how employers are working around government policy. The way Christina discusses return to work practices is reflective of the structural features of her organization. These structural features include project timelines. Later in the interview, Christina mentions women who were laid-off mere days after their parental leave.

The structural features of an organization can provide the background out of which the experiences of participants, either positive or negative, emerge. Some structural features documented by participants include project timelines, company lay-off practices, team-based organization of work, and complex skilled work which is not easily replaced. It is a valuable practice for particular companies to ensure their structural features are not hindering employees when they take leave. Reevaluating structural features to ensure they do not produce inequalities in the workplace is an important step to further produce positive leave experiences.

### 4.5 PENALTIES TOWARDS EMPLOYEES WHO TAKE LEAVE

This section will discuss the ways in which participants are penalized in their workplace on the basis of their parental leave decisions. These penalties can include withholding of promotions, withholding of salary increases, and title or position changes. This section considers how such penalties can create inequalities among participants and their co-workers. Additionally, this section describes how employees who are assumed to have children are not promoted as readily as others who do not assume the motherhood role. Employees who are assumed to have children are typically younger, sometimes married, and women (Van der Lippe et al. 2019, 112). Feminist political economy points to how inequalities are produced in particular workplaces through the use of such penalties.

Hypothetically, individuals who take the eighteen month leave option should not be criticized in comparison to those taking the twelve month leave option. However, there seems to be a stigma surrounding the eighteen month option. Christina, who worked as a senior supply chain specialist for a construction company, was fortunate to have this conversation with her employer. This discussion provides insight to how the eighteen month leave may be viewed in the workplace. Christina states:

And my company would have covered my benefits because they have to legally. But I think there would have still - like my boss said to me, I was telling him how I was regretting not taking eighteen months. And he said, you know, it's a good thing you didn't because we probably wouldn't have had a place for you when you returned kind of thing. (Interview 7)

Those who take a eighteen month leave in Christina's company may find it challenging to return. Additionally, the comments made by Christina's boss reflect the underlying opinions toward eighteen month leaves by company leaders. It can be inferred from the

above quote that individuals in Christina's company may be encouraged to construct their leave in a particular way that aligns with workplace values and features. By constructing leave in a particular way that is desirable to a particular company, employees may hope to be viewed as committed to their work, and get promoted more quickly despite taking leave.

There are many actions one can take to show employers that they are serious about their work, like taking a twelve month leave as opposed to eighteen months. However, there are some instances where employees felt it necessary to verbalize their feelings towards leave and demonstrate their commitment to work. These feelings were characterized by quotes like "[a]nd I would encourage people to definitely ask that [family-friendly policies] in the interview and make sure that that's going to be a fit long-term, because you hope to be at a company for a long time and you hope it's a good fit" (Interview 6). Caitlyn, who worked as a social worker for a non-profit, was preparing for a third parental leave when I spoke with her. Caitlyn's experience of verbalizing the loss of commitment between her and her employer were echoed by another five participants. When asked why she hopes to move to a different non-profit post-leave Caitlyn states:

[...] I don't feel like I'm considered as a serious person to move-up now. I feel this need almost to be like - guys I'm done having kids now. I'm here. But that's not their business either right. I have this weird feeling of being like once I'm done having my third kid, if I want to go back there, I feel the need to be like - I'm done, I'm here now. Because I think that while you're in the middle of your childbearing years, there's this stagnancy that people just expect. (Interview 9)

This stagnancy mentioned by Caitlyn was not uncommon in my research and is reflected by much of the literature in the field in terms of the motherhood penalty (Van der Lippe et al. 2019, 112). For Van der Lippe and co-authors, stagnancy is connected with gender inequality in earnings and a lack of family-friendly policies in the workplace, true of

Caitlyn's employer. Caitlyn's sentiments concerning career progression were influenced by previous workplace experiences - she was overlooked for a promotion due to her parental leave. Caitlyn states:

But when I was coming back from the second mat leave, I was due back in January. And in December they were hiring for a supervisor and they wanted it to be an internal hire because it was a contract. And to be a supervisor, you have to have your Master's and there's only three of us on the team, including myself, that have the Master's. And my co-workers were like, oh this has come up. But no one contacted me to see if I'd like to apply. And I didn't want to, so it makes it sound like, I'm being petty now. But I really truly would have never applied. But I'm thinking it's weird they didn't contact me because it would have been like a few weeks delay of me coming back to when the position would have been ideally started. And I don't know if they didn't think I was qualified? Or if it was more like she's doing her thing right now. And they hired someone who's had her kids, they're older now. And again, maybe I'm reading too much into it. But I do feel there's this thing when you're on mat leave, you're not considered for it. I didn't feel like I was considered for anything. Any kind of promotion or anything. I'm not really sure if there should be a law, if you're going to have internal hiring, I should have access to that information while I'm on mat leave because I technically still work there. (Interview 9)

Caitlyn's experience is incredibly troubling, however, it is not uncommon in the face of current literature (Hass & Hwang 2008). Caitlyn's experience was similar to Tori's who worked as a human resources and training development representative for an oil and gas company. Tori was eventually recruited by another employer over her leave and returned to a different position entirely, however, her quote describes a situation where her leave jeopardized the possibilities for promotion. Tori states:

It was a title change. So there's one position and there's these people competing. I've been there long enough, I deserved it. But they were gonna wait for me to come back and then wait until the next performance cycle. I had other supervisors tell me, just come back early, pay your three month dues, and you'll get the promotion but it was like, no, I deserve this year off. I'm not doing it! (Interview 18)

Tori's employer expected an early return to work in order to consider Tori for the promotion. Tori's situation demonstrates clearly how promotions are not typically offered

to individuals taking leave. Promotions are typically tied to performance cycles and strict timelines, and individuals are not engaging with these realities while on leave. This is unfortunate because both Caitlyn and Tori would have made great candidates for promotions had their employers been willing to share information and accommodate their leave.

There were, however, a few instances in my research where participants were promoted over leave, or promised return to work conditions that would allow them to grow into higher paying positions. This situation was only characteristic of two out of my twenty participants, although, they are important experiences to note. The following quotes include Nadine, who worked as payroll analyst for a construction company, and Les, who worked as an industrial project specialist for a real estate company. Both women were offered opportunities to grow in their companies post-leave. They state:

We had talked about - we're pretty open my payroll manager and I about what I want to do. And she's super supportive about me going back to finish my payroll designation. I'd started it before I got pregnant, and then had to stop it partway through. She's offered to let me go back to do that, if I want to. They're also looking at ways to improve the payroll process and ensuring that I get to be a part of that. And, maybe if I want to stay on and be in a payroll position that maybe there would be opportunities for me, it's a discussion after I came back. (Interview 10)

Yeah. I did supply chain at university. I have an idea of some of the stuff and supply chain kind of interests me. So warehousing and loading, and all that stuff. That's really interesting. And actually, all the girls that are in our office are interested in industrial. So I know one of them, or two of them, are getting their license. So they'll technically be able to be agents if they wanted to. And then I'm hoping to do it. And they really encourage women to get into it. (Interview 12)

Both Nadine and Les were offered opportunities that encouraged them to stay with their companies and remotivated them post-leave. If more opportunities could have been

provided to Caitlyn and Tori, then perhaps their parental leave and return to work experiences could have been more positive like Nadine and Les.

This section has described how inequalities in the workplace can be produced on the basis of withholding of promotions, withholding of salary increases, and title or position changes. Participants have had to negotiate leaves in ways that underscore their dedication and commitment to the company, while simultaneously experiencing stagnancy in their careers. Work needs to be done to ensure leave-taking individuals are provided opportunities to grow during the years they take leave, not just after they finish having children. Additionally, penalties are relevant in Chapter 5 and will be discussed within differing contexts through a social constructionism lens in that section.

### 4.6 KNOWLEDGE OF PARENTAL LEAVE POLICY

This section covers the knowledge participants possess about parental leave policies in Alberta and Canada. More specially, this section will discuss the recently added parental benefit for second parents and why the policy is not widely known or taken. Since feminist political economy is interested in inequalities, it recognizes that men, who are candidates for the recently added parental benefit, are often disadvantaged because employers assume men will not take leave. This section considers why knowledge surrounding leave for the second parent is so limited, and why fathers in my research were not taking this leave.

There was significant misinformation among participants when asked about leave for the second parent. Even for myself as a researcher, it is challenging to find detailed information on the policy without opening an EI claim. Since the parental benefit for the second parent is so new, there was often confusion about what the policy entailed,

avenues for taking it, and sometimes even a lack of knowledge altogether. The following quotations demonstrate just some of the conversations I had with participants who were completely unaware of the recently added parental benefit policy.

I think my husband's gonna take the last month or two of my leave. Because I think that's important. I have a brother who's quite young, he's only ten. So I watched my Dad take the end of my Stepmom's mat leave. It was so cool. So when it came time for us to talk about it, I was like, you should do that. You should be able to single parent, what if I died or something, you know? (Interview 20)

\*I inform participant about the recently added parental benefit\*

Okay that's so cool. Because my friend was telling me that her fiancé can do that. But she's in B.C. and she works for the government. So I thought her job tops-up her pay. So I just thought it must be something to do with the government. I didn't even think that it's with the job. I mean, not that it was something that we could apply for. So that's super exciting. (Interview 20).

The situation explained by Sarah, who worked as an operations manager for a waxing and beauty boutique, was echoed by Les who worked as an industrial project specialist for a real estate company. Les stated:

I thought that it [partners leave] was taking away from mine! That's what we kind of understood from it. Right? Wrong or no? (Interview 12)

\*I inform participant about the recently added parental benefit\*

Okay. Yeah. Yeah, really? From what I understood, it was either, we had a total of this many weeks. So when I was doing it, I was like - do you want me to just take four less weeks and then you can try and apply? And we're like, no, that's okay. We'll just do it and I'll just get the maximum and then he can just take his vacation. (Interview 12)

Both Sarah and Les highlight how much misinformation surrounds the recently added parental benefit. I can infer from the above quotes that the companies these women worked for lacked HR departments or individuals taking leave for the second parent, to provide both education and inspiration. These situations demonstrate that not all

employees or companies are privy to policy knowledge. Before it becomes common in the workplace, the recently added parental benefit needs to be explained to individuals when they apply. Policy knowledge and visual representations of leave for the second parent from others in the office are avenues to improve awareness of the recently added parental benefit.

Ten of the participants in my study knew about the recently added parental benefit, but chose not to take it. These understandings were equally divided between upper and lower levels of employees in the organization. Couples were most times disinterested in both parents taking time off. This was true for Ella who worked as a counselor for a psychology firm and her partner. When asked directly about the recently added parental benefit, Ella states:

So when I went on leave with my second, we never considered him taking leave. I think he could have, but we never considered him taking it because I wanted it and he didn't. Like I want the whole twelve months and he was like, that's cool. I was like, I want the leave. I want all the time with my babies that I can have. (Interview 5)

The above quote demonstrates a lack of knowledge about the recently added parental benefit. When Ella states that she wanted 'the whole twelve months' it implies that she assumes the recently added parental benefit would take away from her leave time, but it does not. Additionally, Ella and her partner are taking a leave that perpetuates traditional gender roles. Ella's quote touches on gender-differentiated reactions to leave by spouses which will be discussed in Chapter 5. This arrangement is obviously not a bad decision for Ella and her partner, however, it can contribute to challenges like a gender disparity in wage and promotions.

Ella's experience was shared by Leah who worked in HR for an oil and gas company. Leah and her partner both worked in HR and were well aware of the recently added parental benefit. Leah states:

Yeah, we knew about it. But I mean, at the time with our second there's no way he would have been able to take leave. Just based on the amount of work that he was in and he was at a fairly new job too, right. He had just taken the job. November, I was pregnant. So he was new in his job and they threw him right into their craziest union negotiations and so he really just couldn't take any time off. (Interview 16).

Leah and her partner have constructed a leave that does create a traditional gendered experience. I should note that leave experiences where women take a lead on parenting are not all bad, however, they can systematically impact a women in her career more directly than her partner when she is taking extended time away from employment. What is most interesting in the quotation above is the assumption that Leah's partner could not take time off from work due to the newness of his position and workload. Would Leah feel the same way about her leave if she found herself in his position? Comments from Ella and Leah highlight the hesitancy regarding recently added parental benefit, and the lack of knowledge surrounding the policy that still persists even a year after its creation.

This section has documented the range of knowledge participants have concerning the recently added parental benefit. As well, this section has answered questions surrounding who is privy to policy knowledge, and how do changes in policy influence income and leave experiences. I am unsure if leave-taking individuals are more aware of the policy now than they were last year. It is my hope that the information I provided participants on the recently added parental benefit was distributed to their networks and fosters a greater sense of understanding and uptake.

#### 4.7 REDEFINING LEAVE

This section outlines the experiences of participants who redefined their leaves to create more desirable and convenient uptakes and/or return to work options. The redefining of leave includes scaling between the twelve and eighteen month options, and the unpredictable situations that arise and create unexpected leave experiences. There were thirteen participants, both women and men, who used their leave in some nonstandard manner. Participants redefined their leaves in ways that fall outside of current parental leave policies. Feminist political economy is a valuable framework for this section because participants are acting against or seeking to modify particular government policies.

Participants often expressed frustrations that they could not take a leave that landed somewhere in the middle of the twelve and eighteen month options. This was a critique sixteen participants shared about the current parental leave policies. Sarah, who works as an engineer, critiques the program by stating:

When you apply for EI, you have to choose either twelve months or eighteen months. It doesn't scale between them. And so I chose twelve because I was planning to take a little bit extra. But I think it would be nice if you could scale it and get your EI spread out over fifteen or sixteen months, whatever you chose. (Interview 15)

Another seven participants echoed Sarah's sentiments. A handful of my participants got smart and scaled their leave between the twelve and eighteen month options (Interviews 3, 13, 17). If participants did not scale their leaves themselves, they often had friends or co-workers who did. This scaling was often achieved through a three-step process.

Initially, the participant would tell their employer that they planned to take an eighteen month leave. Next, the participant would apply for a twelve month leave through EI.

Lastly, the participant would tell their employer their return to work plans were somewhere between the twelve and eighteen months. The employer assumed their employee was choosing to come back early, while the participant took a longer leave that better suited their needs. When an employee came back sometime before the eighteen month mark, their employer often viewed them as a committed worker, an unintentional positive benefit that came out of this scaling process. It should be noted that leave-taking individuals receive the same amount of money for twelve and eighteen month leaves, it is simply distributed differently over the two time frames. When participants chose to scale their leave, they just had to be aware of their savings to help them manage their personal finances until they chose to return to work.

The quotations below from Amy, who worked as a flight attendant for a large airline, and Christina, who worked as a senior supply chain senior specialist for a construction company, highlight the point. Amy describes her experience of scaling leave while Christina describes what her friend did. They state:

So I mean, I've chosen twelve months for EI but I've told my job eighteen months just to give the flexibility. And then I just have to inform them four weeks before returning so they can schedule my return to work training. (Interview 3)

So what my friend did is she told the government she was taking twelve months, so she gets paid for twelve months. And then she told her work, she's taking eighteen months. So she gets benefits for eighteen months, but there's a six-month period at the end where she's not getting any money. (Interview 7)

Both women discuss these experiences quite casually. This may be more acceptable for Christina, who describes a friend's experience. The lack of formality in the quotes is interesting because these women are basically leveraging government policy and employer goodwill. This redefining is not bad necessarily because it provides these women with a more convenient leave. The informal nature of these discussions could also

be due to the familiarity individuals have with the practice. Hannah, who worked as an operations manager for a construction company, describes her experience of scaling leave. However, her employer had knowledge of this process. She states:

I wanted extra time. I didn't want to take the full - so the problem with mat leave that I find with the government rules is you have to choose twelve or eighteen months. If you choose eighteen and you go back early, you miss out on the money. If you choose twelve and you want extra time you have to work that out with your individual company. So if there's benefits or top-ups or anything like that, then there are issues around extending. So I had that conversation before I went on mat leave. And I was able to extend up to fifteen months without losing my benefits. So that's what we agreed to do. And I had something put in writing saying that I was allowed to do that. And I'd have my job back and all that jazz for taking fifteen. Now, the pandemic hit, and I wish I had taken the eighteen. (Interview 17)

Hannah's experience is interesting to examine. When participants scale their leaves, they tend to keep their employer in the dark about their decision. Hannah, however, was able to scale her leave in coordination with her employer. Later in the interview, Hannah mentions how her company does not have a formal HR department and the lack of an HR presence could have been a contributing factor to her employer facilitating this nonstandard leave. COVID-19 created options and challenges for planning leaves, and these will be discussed in Chapter 6.

In addition to COVID-19, there were other unpredictable situations that allowed my participants to create atypical leaves and return to work experiences. Ashley, who worked as a director of stakeholder relations for a non-profit, had her baby prematurely and describes her extended leave situation:

And then when you have a preemie baby, there's lots that you can't do in the first month when you bring them home once they get out of the NICU that people who have normal babies can do. Their immune systems are very compromised. So you can't take them out, you can't see family, you can't have a lot of people in and out of your house. So you can't get the same extra help. And so that's partly why they [the government] acknowledged that additional time. By the time she was about

six weeks old, that's when we were sort of in the normal newborn time. Now that I think about it, it was six weeks because I was eligible for benefits up to her actual due date. [...] I became friends with another Mom in the NICU and she had a nurse who told her about it, otherwise I wouldn't have known. So what happens is it was retroactively applied, but I got the critically ill child [III Child Benefit] from July 11 when my daughter was born to August 24, which was her due date. Then I got the thirteen weeks maternity leave starting August 24. And then the remainder was parental leave. (Interview 2)

The benefits for a critically ill child are ones that Ashley could have never predicted. Ashley was able to negotiate a longer leave for herself and this helped rectify many challenges that arise from a premature baby such as increased time spent in the NICU, lack of help and support from family, and other various medical issues that are realities for both the mother and baby. The experience was unique to Ashley among the participants in my research sample, although, not necessarily unique in a broader population of individuals taking parental leave.

An additional unpredictable leave and return to work experience was shared by Leah, who worked in HR for an oil and gas company. Leah describes her situation below:

Yeah, I was gonna take the full eighteen months and then our company, our HR group has been going through this whole transformation process for like two years now. And so it was kind of coming to a head. So I actually decided to come back a bit earlier. So I didn't take the full eighteen just because I wanted to get enough hours in case I am laid-off here at the end of October. I wanted to make sure I had all my hours so that I could re-qualify for EI so I had to come back a little bit early in order to do that. (Interview 16)

Re-qualifying for EI is a problem some of the hourly workers in my research have faced (Interview 3, 11, 14). For Leah, her requalification was not associated with the desire to go on another parental leave. Being able to qualify for EI in the face of a lay-off is important to protect personal and household income. Both Ashley and Leah experienced situations that influenced their leaves and return to work in unpredictable ways.

This section has highlighted the range of experiences and unpredictable scenarios that allow individuals to negotiate leaves and favorable pre-leave and post-leave working structures. Each leave situation varies in the extent that it is influenced by factors that are either predicable or unimaginable. It is challenging to make recommendations to better accommodate atypical leave and work experiences, however, my limited sample suggests that government decision makers should consider how leave could be scaled between twelve and eighteen months because individuals are doing this anyway. Feminist political economy has been a valuable framework for this section because individuals who scale their leaves are innovating in regards to government policies. In contrast, other workers are often confined within the constraints of EI policy which can limit their leave plans.

#### 4.8 CONCLUSION

Feminist political economy has demonstrated how inequalities are often unavoidable and interwoven within broader corporate, economic, and government structures (Jon Maroney & Luxton 2014; Meisenbach et al. 2008; Peterson 2005; Vosko 2002). This chapter has documented participants' personal experiences taking leave and how these experiences are shaped by the market economy and government policy. The evidence from my research makes it clear that the structural features of workplaces, such as project timelines, company lay-off practices, and team-based organization of work, systematically influenced the ways my participants planned their leaves given their gender, position, and role in their company. Structural features such as the lack of HR departments have also been influential to understand why participants sometimes have partial or incorrect knowledge on leave provisions and policies (Pettigrew and Duncan, 2017). As well, structural features have also influenced expectations for leave-taking

individuals such as work over leave and the ways participants negotiate new and unexpected leaves in the face of rigid government policy.

The analysis of this chapter helps to answer questions regarding the ways parental leave is planned and negotiated in light of corporate structural features such as project timelines, and return-to-work practices. I have suggested that further work needs to be done within corporations on their structural features, and at the government level on EI parental leave policies, before leave-taking individuals can truly create a leave that is right for them. I will discuss this suggestion further in the concluding chapter.

Overall, my data suggests that both corporate and government structures create obstacles to parental leave. However, these structures can become assets, instead of obstacles, if structural features in corporations and policies can take into consideration the varying experiences of leave-taking individuals, and change their patterns accordingly to better suit the needs of those on leave (Hass and Hwang, 2008). The following chapter will discuss similar challenges within a social constructionist framework that emphasizes organizational culture and manager and co-worker reactions as obstacles to taking leave.

# CHAPTER 5: SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONISM AND THE REACTIONS OF OTHERS

This chapter aims to create an understanding of what is acceptable and not acceptable both within and outside of the workplace. Often, interactions from members of a participant's social and corporate networks including co-workers, managers, clients, and spouses can dictate meaning. Additionally, uncontrollable factors like organizational culture can influence interpretations of what constitutes an acceptable leave. The reactions of others often influence a participant's choice for leave, as well as subsequent opinions about leave policies.

I will discuss my data within the framework of social constructionism, which seeks to understand how norms and attitudes are constructed and interpreted. The important points in this section are gender-differentiated reactions toward leave from coworkers and managers, and also from spouses; how organizational culture influences participants' choice of leave; and the worker-parent identity crisis. Social constructionism helps to explain notions of acceptability which is valuable when analyzing identity shifting from worker to parent under the worker-parent identity crisis. It is important to note that interpretive discussions from co-workers, managers, and spouses often lead to stigmatization and backlash regarding parental leave. Individuals in the corporate categories can interact with those in broader society to reinforce messages regarding the boundaries between work and home.

#### 5.1 SOCIAL CONSTRUCTIONISM

Social constructionism considers how interaction creates the meanings that we attach to people, places, and things in terms of our social, cultural, and historical context

(Elder-Vass 2007). Social constructionism has been a valuable lens for my research analysis because it conceptualizes the ways parental leave policies are broadly interpreted between co-workers, managers, and workplaces. Co-worker reactions are often influenced by the ideas and feelings of upper management. If management holds traditional views then gendered ideas surrounding leave can perhaps influence the broader organizational culture. Social constructionism is also a valuable lens to analyze personal spousal reactions because it can help evaluate what couples understand to be acceptable parental leave uptake for their family.

Social constructionism is employed as the broader framework for this chapter and its evaluation of how reactions create an understanding of what is acceptable and what is not acceptable in the face of parental leave uptakes. Acceptability is often decided by coworkers, managers, spouses or others who have not had a lived experience of parental leave. The interactions participants have with these individuals create meaning, and influence a participant's parental leave uptake and return to work post-leave. These interactions can also have more extensive effects within organizational cultures and workplaces, influencing the ways parental leave uptakes are understood, accepted, and implemented. If a particular organization speaks negatively about parental leave, then individuals may find that negativity present in co-worker reactions concerning their leave. A social constructivist approach outlines how a person moves from policy entitlement at the macro-level to social frameworks at the micro-level — a shift that may prohibit or encourage the uptake of leave. The following sections will discuss some of these concerns in relation to the broader framework of social constructionism.

# 5.2 GENDER-DIFFERENTIATED REACTIONS TO LEAVE BY CO-WORKERS AND MANAGERS

This section will review the gender-differentiated reactions to leave by coworkers and managers. There are particular gender differences in the experience of taking
leaves that are outlined in this section. This includes what kind of leave is expected by
employers on the basis of gender; how leave is judged and understood by co-workers and
managers in a specific workplace; and the direct criticisms leave-taking individuals might
face. There are two important points to consider in this section. First, how do leave
experiences differ across gender, similar to how certain jobs become gendered. Second,
how can access to leave and the return to work post-leave be different for employees in
terms of gender. It is important to note that my research has more data on women
(seventeen participants) than men (three participants) so observations and conclusions are
focused more on the perspective of women's experience.

Workplace reactions regarding parental leave uptakes at times have been framed by stereotyping and stigmatization. These negative comments are not typically a direct insult at individuals taking parental leave, but rather reactions about the situation more broadly. Women and men in my sample employed different avenues for taking leave. These differing avenues include approaching managers about leave, handling workplace expectations, and dealing with co-worker attitudes surrounding leave and return to work. In all seventeen interviews I conducted with a mother, there was a perception from her employer that she would take a leave at some point during her career. This perception was often characterized by comments such as "[I]'m not surprised" (Interview 5) and "[i]t's about time" (Interview 12) when women shared their plans for leave.

Men who I spoke with were not similarly understood to take any sort of parental leave. This became particularly evident in my interviews, due to the participant's lack of knowledge surrounding the recently added parental benefit. Participants seemed to have some knowledge surrounding alternative avenues men could take for parental leave, such as vacation days, but not specific leave policies that were open to spouses. Interview 14 was my only participant out of twenty whose spouse successfully took this leave. A lack of participant data is influenced by the idea that men have been socially constructed by society to be the breadwinner for their household and thus will continue to work despite the birth of a new child (McKay & Doucet 2010; Rehel, 2014). The practice of seeing women as taken-for-granted parental leaders reinforces McKay and Doucet's (2010) notion of parenting as a privilege for men rather than an obligation (314).

These disparities were summarized by the response of Hannah, who worked in a medium-sized construction company as an operations manager. Hannah anticipated that parental leave would be a challenge for her career progression. She states:

And that [parental leave] is going to, unfortunately, put women in careers backwards, probably by twenty years. Because I think the primary caregiving role is still always put to women. (Interview 17)

Leave is something that many expect to be experienced by women, but not by men. Hannah's idea that parental leave is going to negatively influence her career trajectory stems from a perception that she is predisposed to motherhood. While career stagnancy is a negative outcome for women in caregiving roles, there are also negative outcomes experienced by men including harsher co-worker and manager reactions (Rehel, 2014, 120-121).

Women who I interviewed reported easier conversations with employers when expressing their plans for leave when compared to the men I interviewed. While not all experiences were simple, women typically described a particular mutual understanding between themselves and their employer. Participants often attributed this understanding to their superior also being in the childbearing years of their career, or previous conversations with employers about their plans for parenthood. Since the recently added parental benefit is relatively new, employers may not recognize it as an employee right and, further, may stigmatize men who might take it. Elizabeth, who worked part-time in retail and part-time as a dance educator, was asked why her partner did not take the recently added parental benefit. She responded:

What I would be curious to know is how that man would explain that leave decision to his career or to his boss. How would that be accepted? At my husband's job they'd be like, probably don't come back if you take a leave. Because he works in sales, and it's week-to-week, if you don't make your commission then you're out. (Interview 11)

While the above is a hypothetical scenario and not a lived experience, the comment is still valuable for discussion. Organizational cultures, whether advertently or inadvertently, may create an environment that situates leave experiences as different across genders. For women, leave-taking is an accepted and expected experience. For men, there is still much work that needs to be done before a leave can be a culturally and corporately accepted practice.

Considering the leave for the second parent is a new policy, there is a research gap regarding reactions towards this leave experience. A massage therapist named Kaitlynn was my only participant whose partner successfully took leave. Her husband took the leave, however, he declined my request for an interview. Kaitlynn discusses her

husband's experience of second-parent leave and various reactions from her clients when she shared her husband's plan for leave. Kaitlynn states:

It's a new thing. Half the people don't even know about it. So I remember telling my clients that my husband was going to take some time off, and they were very surprised because they have never heard about it. (Interview 14)

Kaitlynn's comment demonstrates how men are not understood to take any sort of parental leave. Her clients' surprise and lack of knowledge about second-parent leave and the recently added parental benefit is not uncommon among my research sample. Eight out of twenty participants had no knowledge of the recently added parental benefit while another four had incorrect knowledge. All of my participants were aware of alternative avenues for time off, such as unpaid and paid vacation time, however, not all participants were aware of the recently added parental benefit. This reality demonstrates the need for more policy education before leave for the second parent can become an accepted practice in the workplace.

Negative reactions towards leave are unavoidable for both women and men. Although women are typically understood to take parental leave, there are questionable reactions by co-workers and managers. A small sample of women in my research have faced extremely negative reactions regarding their leave (Interviews 9, 15, 17). The following two quotes from Hannah, who worked for a construction company, highlight just how toxic co-worker and manager reactions can become. The first quote highlights a co-worker reaction towards leave while the second quote describes a co-worker reaction about various family demands. She states:

There was one sales guy, he's retired now. But he's super old school. And he gave me a hard time about coming back and said that my place is in the home, and his kids had the luxury of their mother taking care of them. And I should be doing that too. (Interview 17)

I had a girl that used to work here, who was in her early twenties make a comment about how she should be allowed some unpaid vacation time, because she doesn't have any kids. And she's not taking extra sick days to deal with her kids. And I'm like, do you think that staying home with kids that are puking and sick and everything is a vacation? (Interview 17)

The above quotes demonstrate how leave is judged to be acceptable or unacceptable by co-workers. In the case of the 'one sales guy' a woman's return to work can even be scrutinized. This is not to say that men do not experience disapproval from co-workers on the basis of their leave; Hass & Hwang (2019a, 2007, 2002) have documented how this occurs across multiple studies. However, disapproval from co-workers and managers is likely to be gendered due to the cultural perceptions of women and men in particular, specifically in respect to caregiving and breadwinner roles.

Hannah described co-worker and manager reactions in the form of comments and jokes. However, Caitlyn describes a situation where similar comments became so extreme that day-to-day experiences and interactions began to influence her work performance. Caitlyn worked as a social worker in a privately funded non-profit organization. When asked to respond to a situation where she was working with a particularly problematic co-worker, Caitlyn states:

And I have thought about that [situation working with co-worker and manager reaction] so much after because I was, like, you told me you can't treat me differently because I am pregnant. But I just told you I'm not okay with co-facilitating a group where he [problematic co-worker] leads. And then she's like -well you're leaving in four months anyways. And I never brought it up, but I remember thinking that's backwards. And of course you're treating me differently because I'm pregnant. To tell me you're not when it's convenient for you is so wrong. So that rubbed me the wrong way, not her initial reaction to me telling her I was pregnant, but in the stuff that played out afterwards. I was frustrated, but whatever. (Interview 9)

Caitlyn was placed in a work situation convenient for her manager, and the daily operations of the team, despite her expressions of discomfort. Manager reactions typically influence individuals in ways that have impacts on the entire corporate team or organization. Despite the apparently open and progressive attitudes of non-profit organizations, Caitlyn struggled with negative reactions by her manager and co-workers. Caitlyn's situation demonstrates how words and promises in the workplace can be meaningless, or conveniently shaped by the employer creating a perception that pregnancy and leave-taking is problematic.

It should be noted that some companies did create a culture that welcomed parental leave. Christina, describes how interactions with co-workers contributed to a positive experience for both parental leaves. Christina worked as senior supply chain specialist for a construction company. She states

Both maternity leaves, I kept in pretty close contact with my boss and a few of my co-workers. So it wasn't kind of like they just forgot about me. When I had babies, I brought them into the office and just kind of kept in contact. And it wasn't like, there was no sort of attitude about - oh, you're leaving us, how could you take a year off? Because everybody does it. It's the norm. (Interview 7)

It is interesting to compare Hannah and Christina's experiences as they both worked for construction companies. Christina's experiences provide insight to the benefits of positive manager and co-worker relationships and reactions. Since parental leave was considered something exciting and common in Christina's workplace, constructive manager and co-worker reactions and relationships were positive. Christina's experience was different when compared to Dainty and Bagihole's (2006) study on women in the construction industry where they claim that stigmatization and workplace tensions towards mothers only subsides after their childbearing years.

Leave must be interpreted by employees, co-workers, and managers as acceptable before change can occur in the daily interactions between leave-taking individuals and their corporate networks. Additionally, companies should strive for a more contemporary understanding of women and men's roles as parents and workers (Almqvist & Duvander, 2014). Leave for women and men is constructed in a way to encourage women to take it while simultaneously discouraging men from applying (McKay & Doucet 2010). The important points in this section were how conversations about parental leave in the workplace can influence what participants view as an acceptable leave choice.

### 5.3 GENDER-DIFFERENTIATED REACTIONS TO LEAVE BY SPOUSES

This section reviews the gender-differentiated reactions to leave by spouses. Reactions were documented in interviews where participants were talking about their spouse. These reactions include why couples plan their leaves in particular, and often traditionally gendered ways. It is important to note that due to the nature of my interviews, participant reactions are often one-sided without input from their spouse. My participant sample includes only two sets of heterosexual couples where both spousal reactions could be documented. The important points to consider in this section are how spousal comments influence a woman's sense of entitlement or responsibility to take the majority of parental leave, and how that experience contributes to a traditional gendered parenting and working model. Social constructionism is a valuable framework here because it can explain how gendered parenting and working models are constructed as acceptable. In contrast, my research demonstrates how less traditional models have shown to be more beneficial and contribute to overall participant happiness.

There were a majority of women in my study who took the entire parental leave due to a variety of reasons. Eight mothers believed taking the entire parental leave was their right because they carried the child and their partner did not. This sentiment was often characterized by comments like "[I] carry the baby for nine months. I'm taking the whole year" (Interview 13). Some mothers even expressed their concerns over the effectiveness of their partner's parenting abilities (Interview 5, 7, 10, 17). The reactions my participants had towards their spouses, and the construction of their parental leave more broadly, often strengthened stereotypes of women in a domestic roles and men as breadwinners. Christina, who worked as senior supply chain specialist for a construction company, demonstrates this assumption. She states:

It's harder for Dads to take parental leave, I would say if there's a Mom. Because there's just kind of that stigma again - why do you need to take it? That's what the Mom's for and that kind of thing. I mean, my husband jokes, you should take six months and I'll take six months. And I was like, no, cause you'll be at home playing Xbox! (Interview 7)

Christina highlights the challenges men face when taking parental leave. Christina's choice of words "my husband jokes" is an interesting phrase that suggests his parental leave is a humorous idea. Her reaction towards her husbands parental leave is rooted in the idea of women as domestic workers. Since men are not typically understood to be primary caregivers, there is often stigmatization towards men who do so. Christina's quote reflects Rehel's (2014) idea about a manager-helper dynamic whereas mothers are primarily responsible for childcare and related matters, while fathers serve as helpers when needed and asked (111). In the latter half of Christina's quote, she expresses her concerns regarding her partner's parenting style. Again, this statement reiterates the notion that men will not participate in domestic tasks even when they are outside of

working hours. Christina's concerns were echoed by others in my study (Interview 5, 7, 10, 17).

There were also reactions to leave by spouses that generated more positive experiences (Interview 2, 18). These experiences often led to a breakdown of traditional gender roles and the positioning of women in breadwinner careers. Ashley, who worked as a director of stakeholder relations at a privately funded non-profit organization, described her parenting and working situation with her husband. She states:

But we've definitely set it up that my career can come first. And that has been really critical for allowing me to be fully present at work. It's been really important for the health of our relationship. And I also think it's really important that my daughter gets to see her Mom in a leadership role, and her Dad in a nurturing role. I think that changes what she thinks is possible for her, which I think changes what her expectations of the men in her life will be. (Interview 2)

It should be noted that Ashley did take a majority of the parental leave due to the fact that her daughter was premature and she was dealing with a variety of medical issues.

However, the ways in which Ashley and her husband have set up their working and parenting duties has contributed to a positive holistic experience of working and parenting. This experience is echoed by Tori who had a similar working and parenting situation with her husband. Tori worked as a human resources and training development representative for an oil and gas company. She states:

So my husband does fifty percent of the work and one hundred percent when our baby was born, I don't think I changed a single diaper for three weeks. And my husband works long hours, but he's home for supper every night. But when it comes to the household workload, it's 50/50 at least. And I travel a lot for work, I'll go to Québec for a week at a time or Vancouver for a week at a time and he handles everything at home without complaints or questions. So, for us, we get a lot of comments on how we're very chill parents. But I one hundred percent attribute that to equal parenting. And I don't think that I can name a single other person that has that. (Interview 18)

Tori is correct; equal parenting elicits positive reactions between spouses and from others (Rehel 2014). Both Ashley, Tori, and their partners provide examples of positive spousal reactions and interactions. Their experiences create less traditional working and parenting situations, especially ones where the woman is positioned in a breadwinner role.

Working and parenting must be interpreted as something that can be dynamic and shared between spouses before gendered roles can begin to be broken down. If couples begin to view each other as equals, in both working and parenting spaces, positive reactions and less traditional parental leave uptakes can be realized.

# 5.4 ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURE AND PARTICIPANTS' CHOICE OF LEAVE

This section reviews workplace culture and its influence on an individual's perception of what is an acceptable leave. I examine how workplaces create environments that negatively influence an individual's leave and return to work; how organizational culture provides the background of co-worker reactions to leave; and how organizational culture may sometimes contribute to more positive leave experiences. The following discussion is framed by a consideration of organizational culture and encompassed within a social constructivist lens.

Participants reported many different organizational cultures. Some were more understanding of parental leaves and progressive (Interviews 1, 3, 4, 7, 8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 18, 19, 20) and some were apprehensive and traditional (Interviews 2, 5, 6, 9, 10, 15, 16, 17). Organizational culture did not seem to differ between for-profit or non-profit organizations. In some instances, participants working in non-profits (Interview 9) had more negative experiences than participants working for oil and gas companies

(Interview 18). These differing experiences could be due to factors like company size. What is most clear, however, is the presence of a range of organizational cultures, and consequently a spectrum of experiences. For example, Remy, who worked as director of programs for a non-profit organization, describes her team and parental leave. She states:

And I think, organizationally, we have a culture where we work really hard to make sure there's lots of cross-training and lots of opportunities for people to mentor each other. So there's not often a huge fear that, you know, if someone leaves for maternity leave or any other leave that there's going to be a significant gap. Because we do kind of invest in making sure that people can learn about other people's roles. (Interview 4)

Remy's organizational culture values cross-training and teamwork. Leaves are understood as normal, an event that does not disrupt the productivity of the workplace.

The normalcy of leave-taking in Remy's company could have been a contributing factor to the positive experience she had while on leave.

Organizational culture provides the background for manager and co-worker reactions. When a company champions a progressive and understanding organization culture, especially in the face of taking parental leave, then positive reactions and interactions take place. Christina, who worked as senior supply chain specialist for a construction company, characterized both of her parental leaves to be positive experiences. When asked why she thought her experiences were positive, Christina responded:

To be honest, it almost feels like there's, I don't know if it's 50/50 men and women but it doesn't feel like an old boys club if you know what I mean. [...] And when I announced my leave everyone was super happy. I mean both times they threw me a baby shower in the office which was really nice! (Interview 7).

The 'old boys club' referenced by Christina is understood to be a traditional organizational culture. Having almost equal women and men in the company contributes

to an organizational culture that is more understanding and prepared for parental leaves. Again, Christina's experience differs from the experiences of women in Dainty and Bagihole's (2006) study on women in the construction industry where mothers typically face stigmatization. Although Ella reported her parental leave experience to be negative, she provided insight into having an equal gender or women dominated workplace that was similar to Christina's comment. Ella states:

And I mean, it's [parental leave] also not uncommon in psychology, which is a female dominated field, and a field where a nurturing perspective is valued. Often people who are nurturers if they are able to, and want to, become parents. I don't know a lot of therapists who don't have kids. And so I think it's just part of the culture. (Interview 5)

A workplace that values gender equity, and facilitates parental leave, is only half the battle. Co-worker interactions and general attitudes need to mesh with other aspects of organizational culture before parental leave can be a truly positive experience. As Pettigrew and Duncan (2017) mention, there are many obstacles to parental leave uptake including isolation in working and parenting spaces. Having a workplace similar to Christina's or Ella's, where parental leaves are a routine experience, can aid in dismantling worker isolation.

As previously stated in my literature review, the reactions of CEOs can drive patterns of behaviour for lower-level employees and affect how people think and behave (O'Reilly III et al. 2014). Sarah, who worked as an engineer, reported a negative parental leave experience. Sarah describes a particular situation which captured her CEO's impressions of parental leave. Sarah states:

I was actually sitting in a meeting with some of the executives, visibly pregnant, and they were talking about how they hated this maternity leave thing and they shouldn't have to hire new people. And if other people can cover the work then that position shouldn't exist. And I was like woah! (Interview 15).

Executive reactions influence a company's organizational culture. According to O'Reilly III and co-authors, even though some departments may feel differently, the executive reactions influence the general ethos surrounding parental leave for all their employees (O'Reilly III et al. 2014). It is unfortunate but not surprising that Sarah had a negative parental leave experience after hearing how her managers discussed such matters. Sarah's experience was mirrored by Hannah who described how "[t]here was some resentment [from co-workers] that I went on mat leave," and "[u]nderlying frustrations between managers and co-workers [about her leave]" (Interview 17). In both scenarios, organizational culture defined by managers and top-level executives affects everyone in the corporation. Executive attitudes regarding parental leave must change before organizational culture will accept leaves.

One of the most common traits of organizational culture that contribute to positive participant experiences, and supportive co-worker reactions, were workplaces with women in senior management positions, or men with children in senior management positions. It should be noted the men in senior management positions, who had children, were reported as being active parents by half of my participants. Participants in my study reported women managers and managers who are men with kids created a more empathetic culture around parental leaves, and the subsequent challenges that arise from raising children while working full-time (Interviews 6, 9, 12). Subsequent challenges included taking time off when children are ill, or taking children to appointments midwork day (Interview 17). Les, who worked as an industrial project specialist for a real estate company, described her organization's culture to be understanding. When asked why, she stated:

There was a strong group of women there. Luckily all the guys on my team, well two out of the four of them have kids, and young kids. So they were all like oh it's so exciting [referencing pregnancy and leave]. And the one guy he and his wife just have a three-year-old and a one-year-old and they gave me some of their old baby stuff. (Interview 12).

Les references both a strong group of women in addition to two men having children as a contributing factors to a positive organizational culture. Les' sentiments are reflected by Tanya who worked as a team lead of invoicing support for an oil and gas company.

Tanya states:

I had both female bosses. They're very understanding, both Moms, and have that understanding. My one boss I had for both leaves - my direct boss, she left when I came back with my son. She retired and then I got a male boss. And then my other boss was the one above her and she's great, she's newly divorced. So she's very understanding of the Mom and work kind of relationship. So she was really understanding with being pregnant, any issues with that, if I need to take a day off or even be with the kids and stuff from home. She was really great. (Interview 13)

A member of the management team who is empathetic to the issues of parental leave, in addition to experiencing pregnancy and parenting in their life, can help to create a progressive organizational culture. Negative organizational cultures begin to take hold when individuals in senior management positions lack experiences pertaining to parental leave and parenting. Nadine, who worked as payroll analyst for a construction company, described some of the practices that are typically present within her place of work. She states:

I feel like it has a lot to do with management because, you know, if you have men in senior positions, they don't have any empathy. They don't know what it's like at all. I mean, yeah, they could have kids, they could have five kids. But if you're not the one at home raising them, or having those conversations with your employer about taking leave, if men had to take twelve months off of work, they would lose their shit! (Interview 10)

Nadine's comment reiterates the point that, in the face of parental leave, men need to be active parents in order to become understanding managers and co-workers.

Organizational cultures do not become progressive because senior managers are women or have children, although this could be a key factor. There is much work that needs to be done to create a understanding organizational culture, however, empathetic individuals in senior management positions is a good start.

Organizational cultures provide the background from which manager and coworker reactions emerge (Ravasi & Schultz, 2006). Manager and co-worker reactions can
also influence and interact with organizational culture (O'Reilly III et al. 2014). Since
social constructionism is interested in how notions of acceptability are constructed, it
could be inferred that organizational cultures, in conjunction with manager and co-worker
reactions, dictate what is acceptable in the face of parental leaves. There are many steps
that go into creating a progressive and understanding organizational culture. Managers
and co-workers need to be both aware of these steps and active participants in creating a
progressive organizational culture. Corporations need to turn their attention to creating an
organizational culture that welcomes all types of parental leave experiences and
champions positive reactions from all members in a company.

### 5.5 THE WORKER-PARENT IDENTITY CRISIS

This section will review the ways workers often struggle with their identity when starting a leave and returning to work post-leave. Often, a worker's identity is negotiated in relation to their employment including factors such as job title, position in a company, and seniority. Employees understand their identity is something that is influenced by manager and co-worker relations. The important points to consider in this section are the constructions of parent identity, the ways leave choices are embedded in identity, and the ways participants can find and negotiate new and exciting identities as both workers and

parents. The worker-parent identity crisis speaks to the ways identity is socially constructed as something productive and important (worker) or isolating (parent).

Participants expressed how their identity for so many years was woven into their employment. When it came time for parental leave, they felt a sense of confusion and loss of personhood (Interviews 2, 5, 6, 16, 18). This experience is described most clearly by Katie, who worked as a business system analyst for a property development company. She states:

I think you have such an identity at work that you might not have at home. And then even more so is that when you become a Mom, you feel like you're losing even more of that identity, right? So it's just sort of clinging to a past life, even though it's just really on hold. (Interview 6)

Yeah. I don't know how to describe it. I guess if it hasn't been lived but, you'd spend so much time at work, that it's just such a part of who you are. And then you have to kind of strip all that away into just taking care of one human being and one individual. It's interesting. It's a challenge. (Interview 6)

Many individuals may compartmentalize aspects of their identity to be a productive employee when at work, and be a nurturing parent when at home. Participants on parental leave lose an aspect of their identity. Thus, redefining an identity to fit a particular situation and space was incredibly challenging for the participants in my study. Redefining identities led participants to feelings of frustration and anger when co-workers and managers crossed the boundaries between their worker and parent identity. Tori, who worked as a human resources and training development representative for an oil and gas company, often felt that her parent identity was valued more than her worker identity when she wanted to share news about a professional exam. She states:

So I went on leave a little bit early to write this exam. And I ended up passing it. And I texted my boss to say - hey, I have awesome news, I passed this exam. And she was like - oh cool, I was hoping it was baby news. It was like I wasn't allowed to care about my career anymore. But I remember being upset about that reaction.

Because it was like, I've never wanted to be a stay at home Mom or have my life be centered around being a Mom. And that was what everyone else was treating me like, and I hated it. (Interview 18).

The situation Tori references describes both the worker-parent identity crisis and what is culturally expected of women who have children. Since Tori was a younger woman (age thirty) her employer created a situation that positioned her identity as only being valued in motherhood. This manager reaction made Tori feel devalued in her worker identity which systematically produced a negative experience. Ella discusses a similar experience to Tori. She states:

I think just being cut off for such a long time at least for me, really sort of makes me question what's my standing at that place of employment? Do they even like notice I'm gone? Do they want to have me back? Just a lot of those questions. And certainly sort of the interactions leading up to the leave, at least this time have contributed to that. And the sort of worry about will I have a job. And, I think both of my leaves I've been really cut off from my place of work. When I first took my first leave, I took it really personally, I thought it meant they didn't like miss me or they didn't want to talk to me. (Interview 5)

Similarly, Ella's experience demonstrates how quickly an organization's culture can isolate an individual through co-worker and manager reactions and behaviours. Ella shared some of these reactions and behaviours in her workplace describing them as stressful. Ella asked that many of these stories be removed from her interview transcript which further highlights how unsupportive the organizational culture of her workplace was. If Ella felt supported and valued by her workplace, than perhaps she would have felt more comfortable having her story documented and shared with others.

The intersection between the worker-parent identity crisis and the expectations surrounding young mothers is also described by Amy. Amy states:

I think across the board, regardless of the sort of the couple dynamics or gender expression, or whatever. There's almost always someone who is more into wanting to take time off or be into the parenting. Even the word maternal role is

such an interesting choice that I find myself pausing on. I guess when you look at couples then it is the assumption that, it is something maternal, so you end up with a lot of women who don't necessarily identify with that role, and maybe would like to return to work early. And then there's a bit of the - oh you don't want to take the time off that you're allotted? But a lot of people hate the newborn phase and that sucks, you know, for their own mental well-being they'd rather go back to work. (Interview 3)

Amy perfectly describes the ways in which 'maternal roles' are often designated to women without consideration for their desires to work and motherhood. Amy shows how others question women who do not take the full leave allotted to them, thereby constructing women as mothers first. The worker-parent identity crisis affects women so directly because of this lack of consideration for aspirations outside of motherhood. To note, however, my participant sample does lack a significant representation of men so it is unclear if men experience the worker-parent identity crisis as directly as women do.

The worker-parent identity crisis can also influence what type of leave – twelve or eighteen months – a participant decides to take. Some participants reported eagerness to return to work (Interview 6, 7, 18, 20) therefore they opted for the twelve month option<sup>2</sup>. There was also a handful of participants not ready to leave their children at daycare and chose a eighteen month leave option or something in between (Interviews 3, 5, 17). Participant 5, Ella who worked as a counselor for a private psychology firm was not ready to return to her position after twelve months. She states:

And so then in 2017, my first daughter was born. And that was the beginning of my leave and I had been at my job full-time when I went on maternity leave. And I planned to take twelve months but in the year I was off, the government changed their rules about the extended leave. And so when it came time to think about going back to work, I wasn't feeling ready to go back full-time. I was hoping for a part-time position that they could accommodate me working part-time, because at the time my husband was working full-time and like more than full-time. And he

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is similar to discussions in Chapter 4 about participants being eager about their job and even participating in work while on leave.

travelled a lot for work so I was solo parenting quite frequently. And I didn't want our kid in daycare all the time. So I went to my employer and said, could I work part-time? They said at that point no, it's full-time only. And then I looked into the leave extension and found out that I qualified for unpaid job protected leave through the province. So I took that. (Interview 5)

The job protected leave involved an extended leave to eighteen months but not extended benefits. Ella was able to leverage a leave that worked well for herself and her family in the face of her preparedness to re-enter the work-force. Leah who worked in human resources for an oil and gas company, reported the opposite. She states:

I think that's why with the first leave at ten months I was like - oh my god who am I? I need to go back to work just to have some type of sense of like who I am again. (Interview 16)

Leah's return to work situation was strongly tied to her desire to regain her worker identity. Her experience suggests that there is not one correct worker-parent identity just as there is no one correct parental leave structure. Participants understand their identities as both workers and parents in ways that contribute to individualized understandings of self in relation to their parental leaves. Five of my participants attempted to negotiated part-time hours when they returned to work and this could be viewed as an attempt to mitigate the worker-parent identity crisis (Interviews 3, 5, 6, 14, 17).

My understanding of the worker-parent identity crisis is influenced by Acker's (1990) idea of the ideal worker norm and Williams and co-authors' (2013) work devotion schema. For Acker, the ideal worker refers to a person who is able to give priority to work without any outside distractions (145). Williams and co-authors define the work devotion schema as cultural assumptions demanding individualized undivided attention towards work (210-11). Many workers, prior to leave, internalize the ideas of the ideal worker norm and the work devotion schema to understand their identity in relation to

prevailing social norms about employment. Some workers may find the ideal worker norm and work devotion schema do not apply to them and therefore struggle to integrate the parenting role within it. Others may find their identity is strongly tied to the ideal worker norm and work devotion schema and feel challenged to forge a new parent identity, outside of the confines of work, while on leave.

This section has described the ways a participant's identity is often tied to their employment and parenting duties. The work-parent identity crisis makes it challenging for participants, managers, and co-workers alike to understand and recognize boundaries between working and parenting spaces. Additionally, participants often understand that constructive relationships between themselves, managers, and co-workers do positively influence their identity. Leave-taking individuals are often discouraged and frustrated when the previous praise they once received in relation to their work shifts to their abilities as a parent. Lastly, the worker-parent identity crisis helps to explain why participants plan leaves in the ways they do and how leave planning can sometimes be an individualized experience.

#### 5.6 CONCLUSION

This chapter has emphasized reactions of others within a framework of social constructionism to better understand the ways leave is framed as acceptable or unacceptable in organizational cultures. The construction of acceptability happens through messages from workplaces, colleagues, and bosses. This construction can also happen through messages from spouses, and a participants own negative self-talk and struggle with the worker-parent identity crisis. The findings of my study help demonstrate that messages of acceptability vary when considering the actual experience of parental

leave and can have detrimental effects for participants both prior to leave and returning to work post-leave. As well, co-worker and manager relationships can create a high degree of stigma and stereotyping which can be differential for individuals of different genders, but damaging nonetheless (Ravasi & Schultz, 2006).

The analysis in this chapter helps to answer questions surrounding gendered experiences of working and parenting within the confines of organizational culture. I have suggested that further work needs to be done before organizational cultures can fully embrace leave-taking individuals at both the managerial and co-worker levels. Social constructionism has demonstrated that expectations surrounding leave are often a concern of the entire corporation and can influence participant identity in negative and sometimes unhelpful ways. Overall, it would seem that socially constructed reactions to parental leaves are unavoidable, however, I suspect they can become positive if proper work is done to build a progressive organizational culture and the fostering of productive coworker and manager relationships. I will return to these discussions in the concluding chapter.

## CHAPTER 6: COVID-19 AND ITS INFLUENCE ON MY RESEARCH

The COVID-19 pandemic was an unanticipated situation that arose during the interviewing process. COVID-19 affected my participants in direct and substantial ways due to the experiences of both working and parenting during a pandemic. There were various fears for my participants surrounding the fate of their employment in the face of COVID-19 lay-offs, raising a young child(ren) in a global health crisis, and forging a return-to-work scenario that would protect the health of themselves and their family. The pandemic influenced my participants' decision making in terms of how they constructed leave, planned for future children, and even influenced how they answered questions during the interview process. The following discussions outline the ways in which COVID-19 has influenced this research.

# 6.1 EMERGING RESEARCH ON PARENTING AND WORKING DURING COVID-19

This brief literature review will outline some of the emerging research in the field surrounding COVID-19 and its relationship to working, parenting, and leave. Since literature regarding COVID-19 is fairly recent, I am unable to provide a robust outline of scholarship like I did in my initial literature review section. However, providing a brief discussion surrounding current publications reiterates the timeliness of my research topic, and emphasizes links between the lines of questioning in my research and other research.

The COVID-19 pandemic has provided a moment of cohesiveness and shared experience among all affected countries in the world. In contrast, COVID-19 has also exposed disparities within and between countries in relation to their response towards the pandemic such as number of COVID deaths, strains on health care systems, and vaccine

roll outs. Much of the literature surrounding COVID-19, work, parenting, and leave is emerging from countries who were strongly affected by the pandemic, such as the United States and Canada. Additionally, there is a strong representation of literature coming from places that have recovered quickly from COVID-19 and are able to discuss the pandemic retrospectively, such as Australia.

First, this section will outline gender disparities of employment during the COVID-19 pandemic (Craig & Churchill 2021; Hjálmsdóttir & Bjarnadóttir 2020; MacLeavy et al. 2021; Raile et al. 2020). Second, this section will cover gender inequalities that are present in households during quarantine (Craig & Churchill 2021; Doucet et al. 2020; Hjálmsdóttir & Bjarnadóttir 2021; MacLeavy 2021). These gender inequalities include how the COVID-19 pandemic, working-from-home orders, and quarantines have put an increased emphasis on childcare and domestic tasks (Craig & Churchill 2021; Doucet et al. 2020). Additionally, these inequalities include how domestic tasks and responsibilities are disproportionately placed to the women in a heterosexual couple during COVID-19 (Doucet et al. 2020; Hjálmsdóttir & Bjarnadóttir 2021; MacLeavy 2021).

Craig and Churchill (2021) describe the gender disparities between women and men during COVID-19 in relation to employment. Women are disproportionately employed in casual or self-employed positions which made them more susceptible to COVID-19 lay-offs (MacLeavy et al. 2021; Raile et al. 2020). Feminist political economy would recognize these workers to be disadvantaged through the interactions between their employment and the governments pandemic response; both uncontrollable factors. The experience of working or being laid-off during COVID-19 might also impact discussions

couples have about having children in light of being able to earn the required hours to requalify for benefits. A later section in this chapter will describe the obstacles with being a self-employed worker and requalifying for Employment Insurance (EI) faced by some of my participants.

Raile and co-authors outline the realities of casual employment and selfemployment in the United States when they stated "[w]omen in the United States make up the majority of minimum-wage, lower-wage, and part-time workers. They make up over 90% of health care, early education, and domestic workers and other professions consistent with caregiving — professions which typically suffer lower wages" (2). These statistics from the United States reflect similar numbers documented in Canada. In January 2021, the employment decline for women core-aged twenty-five years and over was twice as large when compared to men in the same core-age group (Statistics Canada, 2021, 12). Those in casual or self-employed positions who were laid-off may find it challenging to access EI benefits and secure employment hours during the pandemic and in the near future (Craig & Churchill, 2021, 68). According to an article published by the Vanier Institute of the Family, 3.1 million Canadians worked fewer hours or lost their jobs during the pandemic thus making it harder for these groups to plan for future parental leaves, particularly for women (Fostik & Kaddatz, 2020, 1). Once again, feminist political economy recognizes those in casual or self-employment to be at a disadvantage due to government policies such as EI and the nature of work during the pandemic.

Having women in casual or self-employed positions can perpetuate a gender wage gap both prior to and during the pandemic (Blundell et al. 2020). A gender disparity in wages is an issue that has only been exaggerated by the realities of the pandemic which is

known to perpetuate more traditional experiences of leave where the women takes the bulk of time off. Due to the rise of lay-offs for employees in these sectors, care work has often become the responsibility of these individuals, which perpetuates traditional gendered experiences of working and parenting. Blundell and co-authors describe this experience further when they state:

As we have seen, the COVID-19 health crisis and the resulting lockdown have interacted with existing divides by income, age, gender and ethnicity, exacerbating many existing inequalities and opening up new fissures – such as between those whose jobs can and cannot be done from home – which are themselves often correlated with existing inequalities (for example, by income). (313)

Women are systematically disadvantaged by the pandemic based on the types of employment they hold. As well, gender wage gaps can be present within dual earner couples, further perpetuating the idea that women will take a lead on childcare tasks to safeguard the employment of the higher earning parent (Hjálmsdóttir & Bjarnadóttir, 2020). Social constructionism and various notions of leave, work, and parenting acceptability are emphasized during the pandemic further exposing more traditional enactments of working and parenting. This split of gender roles, as it has been magnified by the pandemic, can influence a women's career trajectory through her leave uptakes and subsequent leave experiences.

At the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, many workers found themselves working remotely from home. MacLeavy (2021) describes this shift as 'going digital' where many high-skilled workers are forced to adapt to new working practices in conjunction with government work-from-home policies (139). The working from home moment allowed for many workers, despite gender, to be exposed to the pressure of employment and parenting simultaneously, which has previously only experienced by a

small sector of people working on leave. This experience is best described by Craig and Churchill (2021) when they state "[t]he COVID-19 restrictions temporarily removed a gendered fault line in external constraint, by requiring men and women alike to stay home, even if they were still employed" (67). Working from home evokes a different kind of work, less routine and more casual, which has created what Schieman and Badawy (2020) describe as 'role blurring', a moment of intertwined worker and parent identities that is being experienced by a wider range of workers than before, including women and men. Role blurring will be discussed more directly later in this chapter. The heightened pressures from working and parenting have created different experiences for women and men.

Most authors are hesitant to make sweeping assumptions regarding COVID-19 and impacts on households, however, many note that the pandemic will affect women and men differently (Collins et al. 2021; MacLeavy 2021; Hjálmsdóttir & Bjarnadóttir 2021). According to Collins and co-authors (2021), during the COVID-19 pandemic, working women have taken on more domestic responsibilities when compared to their working male counterparts (103). This increase in domestic responsibility during the pandemic can have a greater impact on leave experiences. For example, a parent on leave during the pandemic has more to care for than just a newborn, there may be other children at home with increased or nonstandard needs such as online school. Collins and co-authors describe this notion more specifically when they state:

This indicates that even when both parents are able to work from home and may be more directly exposed to childcare and housework demands, mothers are scaling back to meet these responsibilities to a greater extent than fathers. Ultimately, our analyses reveal that gender inequality in parents' work hours has worsened during the pandemic amongst mothers and fathers with young children, even among those who were able to telecommute. (103)

The assertion by Collins and co-authors above is similar to Blundell and co-author's (2021) notion that the COVID-19 pandemic has only emphasized existing employment divides and gender disparities in domestic work. Doucet and colleagues (2020) describe this idea further, stating:

Since March 2020, with school and child care centre closures and partial or reduced-capacity openings in the months to follow, an increasingly loud debate has occurred regarding the deepening of this gender divide and the multiple repercussions for women's employment, financial security, well-being, and gender equality. (276)

Women are understood to take a lead on domestic tasks and parenting despite their responsibilities towards their employment. This often means that in heterosexual couples, the woman will be more likely to take a leave. This practice maintains traditional enactments of working and parenting and can have destructive impacts of a women's career trajectory.

Due to the precarity of the pandemic, and differing responses by countries, it is hard to conclude from the current literature what the long-term effects of quarantine working and parenting will be. Hjálmsdóttir and Bjarnadóttir (2021) have made a few assumptions for England, Canada, Australia, Italy and the United States:

We still do not know if the effects of COVID-19 will be the same, but new studies from England, Canada, Australia, Italy, and the United States indicate that parents have been under greater time pressure for the last few months and that mothers have spent less time on paid work and more time on household responsibilities as compared to fathers during the pandemic. (269)

Again, research from Hjálmsdóttir and Bjarnadóttir and others scholars in the field have demonstrated how COVID-19 has emphasized gender disparities and has positioned women in domestic roles, despite employment tasks. Since research on COVID-19 is still emerging, I will be interested to know if these working patterns for women and men are

similar across all affected countries or if differences begin to emerge and how that impacts long term trends in leave uptake.

This small-scale literature review has detailed some of the current publications surrounding COVID-19, working, parenting, and leave. Feminist political economy and social constructionism can be applied to these current COVID-19 discussions. Firstly, feminist political economy recognizes those in particular types of employment to be disadvantaged by the realities of the pandemic such as lay-offs, qualifying for benefits, and the ability to access working hours due to quarantines and business closures. Some of the authors above tie their findings into concerns raised by feminist political economy such as household income by gender and other various inequalities. Second, social constructionism highlights the challenges couples face when working from home while parenting. While both partners are experiencing working and parenting from home simultaneously, there are still notions of acceptability present for heterosexual couples which position women in caregiving roles despite their working commitments. Additionally, this body of scholarship underscores the importance of my research topic which examines the domestic and working roles of women and men in contemporary contexts.

#### 6.2 COVID-19 TEMPORARY PARENTAL LEAVE POLICY CHANGES

In August 2020, the Canadian government implemented temporary changes to the EI maternity and parental benefits. These changes included: a one-time credit of 480 hours; an extended period past fifty-two weeks to acquire insured hours if the applicant received the Canadian Emergency Response Benefit (CERB); \$500 per week for standard benefits (twelve months) and \$300 per week for extended benefits (eighteen months); and

waving the waiting period (typically up to a week) for EI (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2021). It should be noted that weekly payouts can vary based on individual earnings and region of the country since EI can vary regionally. These temporary program changes will be in effect until September 25, 2021 and have been applied retroactively to March 15, 2020.

It should be noted that my interviews concluded in September 2020, so participants in my sample did not have an opportunity to take these benefits, as requirements stated individuals had to currently be on leave or have recently returned to work post-leave. While only two of my participants were collecting CERB, I believe the one-time credit of 480 hours would provide the greatest benefit for individuals in my research sample. Additionally, the \$500 a week for standard benefits and \$300 a week for extended benefits, would be helpful for those with lower incomes. Since EI maternity and parental benefits are calculated based on individual income, some individuals may be receiving less. However, it should be noted the government website mentions that weekly pay-outs of \$500 for standard benefits and \$300 for extended benefits are the base level pay-outs and some individuals could be receiving higher weekly payments (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2021).

Doucet and co-authors (2020), in their article on reconceptualizing parental leave benefits in the face of COVID-19, make important suggestions moving forward with parental leave policy reform in post-pandemic contexts. Since CERB has received high levels of support, Doucet and co-authors make the argument that parental benefits and the EI systems more broadly should be changed to ensure more parents qualify for benefits (Doucet et al., 2020, 276). Doucet and co-authors make many reform suggestions but the

most interesting suggestion includes a mixed system that combines EI for those who qualify, and job protected leave with guaranteed family income for one year (Doucet et al. 2020, 277). This suggestion is plausible after witnessing the implication of both EI and CERB during summer 2020.

### 6.3 COVID-19 AND MANAGING THE RETURN TO WORK

The realities of the pandemic were well-known when I spoke with participants over the summer of 2020. Many individuals had been working from home for several months at the time of their interview and were nervous about how to proceed for both their work and family. Eight participants had recently returned to work post-leave. The top two concerns for this sample of participants included: transitioning into an online working environment when their co-workers had several months of practice; and being able to requalify for EI if they have another child or get laid off due to the pandemic. Katie, who worked as a business system analyst for a property development company, described the return to work below:

I'm almost at a disadvantage from what happened with COVID because my colleagues were thrust into this working from home environment. Not that I've never done it before, but it would be a day here or there and they've been doing it for the past few months. Every day, that's now their new normal. Where I'm coming back, and I not only have to come back, but I have to come back to a new role, and a new team, and sort of renavigate my way, when I'm not having that person to person interaction. I'm not going to be able to get the same body language cues as you would normally and I'm kind of having a bit of anxious feelings about that. Whereas they've [co-workers] just been doing it. Even though I'm a very technologically inclined person, I'm going to be at a disadvantage. And I'm going to be behind because I haven't been setting up Zoom meetings, so my normal is going to be a little bit disjointed at first. (Interview 6)

Katie's thoughts were not uncommon among participants with eight others stating similar concerns. Ella reported similar sentiments to Katie and stated"[a]nd so I think for me, there's anxiety about what am I going to be stepping back into when I go back to work?

And will I still be a competent employee? Will I fit in with the culture?" (Interview 5). The realties created by the pandemic, such as working from home, have only exacerbated concerns workers have about being seen as committed to their work and competent employees.

There was a large sense of uncertainty among this group regarding their employment and parenting fate in the coming months. Kaitlynn, who worked as a massage therapist, described her fear surrounding family planning and requalifying for EI leave benefits stating "[t]he only thing is, I have to be very careful. If we wanted to have another kid soon, I couldn't do it. I have to work for a full year at least before I can take the benefits over again" (Interview 14). Based on temporary parental leave policy changes, there must be some relief for participants knowing they can requalify for EI with reduced hours. However, during the timeframe of my interviews, participants were forced to make challenging decisions that will influence the course of their family and employment.

In my sample, twelve participants were currently on parental leave. Among these, Participants 8 and 19 were laid-off prior to their leave and used the Canadian Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) to fund a non-standard parental leave while their partners returned to work. The primary concern for this group of twelve was potential lay-offs when they return to work. This group, more than the other participants, struggled directly with the conditions and features of their job, post-leave, especially in the face of COVID-19 layoffs. Amy, who worked as a flight attendant for a large airline, reported the following in terms of her return to work situation:

I am in that pool of the layoffs but because I went from short term disability leave directly onto maternity leave, I'm protected from layoffs. So I mean, I'm senior

enough at fourteen years that I will likely be recalled within my the term of my mat leave. So yes, I'll be, in theory be returned to my same position post-leave if boarders open and we can begin flying again. (Interview 3)

Individuals on parental leave are protected from layoffs, however, there is some uncertainty, especially in the case of Amy, if there will be a position to return to given her occupation and industry.

Participants within this sample were happy to be on leave, because it protected them from the day-to-day challenges of working virtually and various COVID-19 exposures if their office was working in person. This group will be transitioning back into work in the coming months. Many who chose the standard benefit option will be returning to a similar working situation they experienced pre-leave, such as working virtually, and this may lessen some of the intimidation for them.

### 6.4 COVID-19 AND PARTICIPANTS' ANSWERING STRATEGIES

During the interview process, many discussions surrounding COVID-19 were raised in a variety of ways. COVID-19 was discussed in the context of safety and current and future leave uptakes. Since my interview guide did not ask specific questions about COVID-19 and the current pandemic, it was my job as a researcher to filter these discussions and utilize my thematic analysis approach to create coding categories.

Many participants provided hypothetical responses to questions asked during the interview. This uncertainty and lack of definitive answering, grew from the unprecedented moment of COVID-19. Hypothetical answers received during interviews were often accompanied with an air of caution such as "[b]ut we'll have to see what happens with the pandemic" (Interview 20) and "[i]f COVID goes away" (Interview 19). It is my belief that participants, as well as myself, were unsure of the coming months and

quarantine orders, potential vaccinations, and the return to a 'normal' economy. The nature of these discussions created some challenges when attempting to probe participants to explain their answers further.

Participants sometimes struggled to provide concrete responses to questions about their future plans. In some instances, discussions surrounding COVID-19 actually helped to create a richer analysis; participants provided many scenarios of their future plans both within and outside of a COVID-19 economy. These rich responses were limited. An example of this rich description came from Ashley discussing COVID-19, return to work strategies, and the worker-parent identity crisis. She states:

And so I would hope moving forward that I'll be able to continue to work from home. Not as much as I am now, but periodically. I'd really like to be able to do that. The upside of COVID is like, it's the best, I love working from home. So, that's really good. The downside, the hard part, and you've seen this in the media a lot, is the challenge of holding two identities at the same time. And not having time to shift. So the example that I can give you is, if I'm on a Zoom call, and my kid wipes out in the backyard and is screaming, I can hear her, right? Even though it's totally under control. Who's ever taking care of her is fine. But I can hear her crying and I know she's in pain. If I was at the office, this would be the story that she would tell me when I get home, right? I'd say, how was your day, she'd show me her finger with a band-aid, whatever, right? And we would have a nice kind of connecting moment around that. When I'm here at home, and I can hear that, that's hard. No matter what's going on, or how much I know someone's taking care of her. If she's hurt, I just wanna be with her. And so it's, it's wearing both of those identities, at the same time, that is tricky. (Interview 2)

Ashley was comfortable with the topic of COVID-19 and its impacts to her life. For her and others, the interview experience was cathartic because it allowed for discussions about the pandemic to happen in a safe space where their identity would be protected, and thus it allowed participants to be wholly honest. Many participants, however, found COVID-19 and the future unsettling and chose not to elaborate on particular topics.

Ashley's experiences also echo similar discussions from Chapter 5 about the worker-parent identity crisis. Within the contexts of the pandemic, the worker-parent identity crisis is similar to Schieman and Badawy's (2020) concept of role blurring. For Schieman and Badawy, role blurring includes actions like sending an email past standard working hours. Prior to the pandemic, this action could signal to managers that an employee is highly committed to their work. Within the contexts of the pandemic, this same action might be enacted less out of choice, and more due to the difficulties completing work during the day due to outside responsibilities like children (Schieman & Badawy, 2020, 4). Schieman and Badway describe role blurring:

In one context, multitasking on work and family tasks might signal one's capacity to "do it all." In another context that diminishes agency, the same kind of multitasking activity might be performed to keep up. Role blurring therefore appears less special, to others and oneself, when an individual is *required* to do it, and this compulsory element might have increased during the implementation of work-from-home directives. Viewed through the lens of reflected appraisals, these processes might ultimately undermine the status points one assigns to the self. (4)

In the example Ashley describes above, there are beginnings of role blurring taking root. In this quote, Ashley is wearing both hats which is problematic because both identities are always in play for Ashley. Ashley's quote describes the worker-parent identity crisis. However, if her child hurt herself more extremely, and Ashley had to postpone or reschedule her Zoom meeting to help care for her child, then role blurring would be present. The authors emphasize that role blurring can be problematic because it is something that can become routine and habitual. Role blurring ties to social constructionism because it has the ability to become an expected and accepted practice for those employees working from home. Role blurring will be an interesting concept to

analyse as more data surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic is published in the coming months and years.

#### 6.5 REDEFINING LEAVE AND COVID-19

Redefining leave has been explored in detail in Chapter 4. Creating more desirable leave options has been achieved through scaling between twelve and eighteen month options and leveraging unpredictable situations. In addition to these two scenarios, participants discussed how using COVID-19 and various work from home and quarantine orders have been beneficial in the redefinition process.

The current pandemic was leveraged by my participants to create non-standard leaves and unusual working experiences both pre-and post-leave. Some participants were able to extend their leaves or remain working from home due to the shifting nature of government restrictions and protocols. This situation is described by Sarah, who works as an engineer, when she states "[I] was planning to go back but, um, but COVID and kids and daycare and working from home, I just decided to extend it as long as I could" (Interview 15). The COVID-19 experience is one that is interesting to document because these situations may never arise again. As well, due to the risks of pregnancy and COVID-19 infections, employers are more sympathetic to their pregnant employees' needs and often facilitated leaves and working arrangements that were unexpected. Les, who worked as an industrial project specialist for a real estate company, describes her atypical COVID-19 pre-leave working situation. She states:

And then once COVID hit in March, it was the week before everyone was shut down. There was two people that were just getting tested. They were fine, but we shut down. Just as a precaution. We didn't go back. And then when May, when things were allowed to open, real estate is an essential service, so anyone who wanted to go back was allowed to. They were only allowed to go back two days a week. They coordinated range teams so they could go in on whatever days and

stuff. But I didn't - they didn't want me to come back as a precaution. So they were like, just work from home that's been working, and we'd rather you be safe before you give birth and stuff. (Interview 12)

Since Les was employed in an essential service, that was allowed to resume in-person operations, it was necessary that she remained working from home to protect the health of her and her unborn child. Since working from home elicits a different kind of work, more casual and less rigorous, Les was able to complete tasks during the day such as nursery preparations and baby-proofing her home, and this contributed to a more relaxed transition onto leave. Tori also experienced a similar situation to Les in terms of pre-leave negotiations. She commented:

My husband's been going into work the whole time that's never really been impacted. I stay at home. And then in June, I think mid-June, I went on leave for six weeks. Because I was like, I'm not doing anything meaningful workwise because everything is transitioning to virtual. There's nothing for me to do. I am pregnant, and I am raising a toddler and this sucks. So that was when I told my boss I was pregnant, and I took a sick leave. Because that made the most sense financially. But I could have easily just asked for six weeks off unpaid and it would have been fine. Or vacation, I would have had options. But everybody was really understanding and was like, yeah do your thing. And then I came back August 1. So I came back into the office and I've been pretty much full-time from the office, but we can work from home as needed. (Interview 18)

Tori went on leave with her second child in December. Her six week sick leave was a unique negotiation that allowed Tori to utilize COVID-19 realities, the online nature of her work, and pregnancy to take an early leave that was right for herself and family. The COVID-19 pandemic and current virtual working spaces for many employees, can be balanced to create more desirable working and leave negotiations.

#### 6.6 CONCLUSION

COVID-19 and the current global health crisis was an interesting challenge to facilitate as a qualitative researcher. Participant decision making at both levels of physical

leave uptake and hypothetical scenarios were systematically influenced by the pandemic and the post COVID-19 economy. I will be curious in the coming years to compare my research to research that asks directly about COVID-19 experiences. Until then, I suggest that qualitative research include conversations surrounding COVID-19 and its impact to family planning and parenting. I believe this suggestion will not only influence the richness of the analysis but help to create a larger canon of COVID-19 responses and experiences.

Feminist political economy and social constructionism are present throughout discussions of COVID-19 literature and findings. Feminist political economy provides insight into how the pandemic has changed people's access to resources while on leave. The temporary change to EI parental leave policy is helpful in the face of COVID-19, however, there are other issues surrounding the pandemic that perpetuate inequalities. Some of these issues may include women being in employment positions, such as the self-employed, that make them more susceptible to pandemic motivated lay-offs. Social constructionism helps to understand how being on leave or being a good worker shifts within the contexts of the pandemic. For example, the pandemic experience of increased role blurring for many jobs may make parental leaves more challenging. If increased role blurring persists after the pandemic it may be harder for employees to define when they have returned from leave to co-workers or family members. As well, role blurring may become a commonplace practice over leave where individuals are encouraged to participate in work while on leave. Feminist political economy and social constructionism are valuable theoretical lenses for discussing any circumstance or experience that pertains to the uptake of parental leave.

## **CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSION**

This concluding chapter will discuss the research findings in relation to my four guiding research questions, existing literature, and theoretical perspectives. My research questions emphasized inquiries surrounding parental leave implications including: experiences in regards to impacts on relationships with co-workers or managers; experiences in regards to status in the company including promotions, salary increases and other conditions of work; gender differences in leave experiences in relation to paid work; and if second parent leave has any particular impacts on individuals' experiences. This research used an employment perspective which is often times overlooked in parental leave research. Having an employment perspective as my primary focus allows for discussions surrounding workplace implications of leave as well as corporate culture and its influences on leave. The employment perspective sheds light on areas that may be missed by scholars who focus on domestic interactions which are outside the realm of employment. Additionally, my research inquiry is timely due to the relative newness of parental leave policy surrounding eighteen month leave options and leave for the second parent.

The findings of this research include three main discoveries. First, leave-taking individuals in my study lacked appropriate policy knowledge due to the newness of some parental leave policies and the lack of workplace education from HR departments. This situation is notable because traditional leaves, where women are positioned as domestic caregivers and men as breadwinners, partially stem from a lack of knowledge surrounding parental leave policy. Second, leave-taking individuals redefine their leaves in non-standard ways. Individuals are redefining their leaves within policy parameters to

negotiate atypical, and more desirable, experiences. This redefining, such as taking a fifteen-month leave, demonstrates why current parental leave policies need to be more flexible. Third, leave-taking individuals struggle to balance worker and parent identities both within and outside of the home and workplace. Leave-taking individuals wrestled with their worker and parent identities, often resulting in unexpected experiences such as working over leave, or returning to reduced hours post-leave. These three findings are specific to this research inquiry and require additional analysis from other scholars in the field to see if they are more generalizable. I will make suggestions for additional research and recommendations for change later in this conclusion.

# 7.1 RESEARCH QUESTIONS, LITERATURE, AND SUBSEQUENT FINDINGS

In addition to these broad findings, I have concluded that parental leave produces a myriad of reactions from co-workers and managers, influences career trajectory, and impacts women and men differently. Not all parental leaves produce negative reactions and experiences, however, all parental leaves in this research are noteworthy in the course of an employee's career trajectory. The following section will outline my finding in relation to the guiding research questions.

My first research question was interested in documenting the experiences of leave-taking individuals in relation to impacts on their relationships with co-workers and managers. Co-worker and manager reactions and relationships were documented in Chapter 5. Other research has shown that co-worker and manager reactions are influenced by higher level managers in the company and can influence the general organizational culture of a workplace (O'Reilly III et al. 2014). If members of upper management perceive parental leave as positive, instead of a burden on business, then leave uptakes

are less problematic. If negativity plagues the reactions between leave-taking individuals, co-workers, and managers, then challenges arise. Those who had a manager who was a woman, or a manager who was a man with children, felt supported and valued while going on leave and returning back to work post-leave (for example, Interview 12).

Organizational culture is important to consider because co-worker and manager reactions are influential in the general ethos of a workplace. Organizational culture provides a framework for the reactions between co-workers and managers. My findings align with research that outlines how corporate reactions are influenced by those in upper management or supervisory positions and can have effects for the rest of the company (O'Reilly III et al. 2014). Co-worker and manager reactions are more likely to be positive when value is placed on the success and retention of the leave-taking employee post-leave. Manager reactions seem to be positive when these managers share the experience of parenting.

The second research question asked about the impact of taking leave on people's status in the company, their eligibility for promotions or salary increases, or other terms of work. Several scholars have pointed out that impacts on status, promotions, salary increases, and conditions of work are often influenced by the organizational culture and structural features of a particular workplace (Hass & Hwang, 2007; Ravasi & Schultz, 2006). Implementing leave policies can create organizational difficulties such as the time and cost spent to train a replacement employee. This makes colleagues and supervisors less open to leave uptake, although they recognize it is a legal right (Borgkvist et al. 2018; Hass & Hwang 2008, 2007, 2019a, 2019b; Hass et al. 2002; Pettigrew & Duncan 2017; Tremblay & Genin 2011; Van der Lippe et al. 2019).

Both the literature and the findings of this study demonstrate how structural features have an influence on parental leaves. There is not one singular impact on employment in my study for those taking parental leave. To illustrate, some structural features prevent participants from progressing in their company after taking leave. This was true for Sarah. Her company only provided promotions and pay raises based on years of service at the company (Interview 15). Despite Sarah's skill and commitment to the company, her salary is lagging because of her parental leave choices. Structural features can also provide positive impacts. For example, Tanya was granted shares over her leave (Interview 13) and Remy's workplace valued cross-training to aid in smoother parental leave transitions (Interview 4).

The structural features of a particular workplace, and Employment Insurance (EI) policy more generally, can both benefit and disadvantage leave-taking individuals. Beneficial structural features for my participants included top-ups like share and stock options (Interview 13) and disadvantages included requalifying for EI (Interview 14). Structural features and organizational culture need to evolve to benefit leave-taking individuals instead of creating obstacles. As well, the workplace ethos can be intertwined in the structural features of a company such as the organization's project timelines. This was true for Christina who was told by her employer that if she did not come back from leave early there probably would not be a position and project for her to work on (Interview 7).

In addition, the interaction of structural features and organizational culture can be influential in the face of leave and career progression. Despite the apparently open and supportive attitudes in the work environment, leave-taking could create co-worker

tensions and resentment towards those who went on leave. There were a few participants who felt their company's organization culture isolated them over their leave (Interview 5, 9). Both structural features and organizational culture can have differing effects on an individual's career progression. It is important that work organizations ensure that leave does not disadvantage their employees based on their structures and workplace attitudes.

My third research question was focused on gender differences of leave experiences in relation to paid work. Women are often the lead on domestic work, despite their employment and career goals and desires (Borgkvist et al. 2018; Calnitsky 2019; Doucet 2006; Hass & Hwang 2007; Mariskind 2017; McKay & Doucet 2010; Rehel 2014). This was demonstrated in my data due to the lack of participants who had a husband who took parental leave. This gendered experience of leave is often reinforced due to the gender wage gap. For thirteen of the heterosexual couples in my study, a loss to household income would be too detrimental if the man took majority of the parental leave. Additionally, there is stigma and negative consequences for men who take parental leave. This stigma is present in comments from co-workers, managers, and even spouses (Interview 3, 6, 7). This stigma emphasizes the societal messages that women should be the ones to take on domestic duties. More men need to take leave that is provided and act as examples for the policy before negative stigma can be eliminated.

The primary difference in leave by gender was the type of leave participants were taking. Women in my research sample were taking twelve or eighteen months, and sometimes redefining leave options to take an amount in the middle. In my data, the majority of women reported having an easier time approaching their employer with their plans for leave, than what they thought possible for their husbands. It should be noted that

there is hesitancy to take the eighteen-month leave option due to the newness of the policy. Employers and participants lack experience with facilitating and taking these eighteen-month leaves, however, participants are using this option to construct a non-standard leave.

In contrast to the women in my study, two out of the three men in my sample were applying for the Canadian Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) to fund time away from paid work for a defacto parental leave. This was a pandemic specific strategy which lacked similar kinds of dialogues between women and their bosses that accompany EI parental leave uptakes. I am making the provisional claim here that men experience leave differently from women. It is hard to know if this claim is correct due to the lack of men I was able to recruit for this research. The notion that men experience leave differently is based on what most women were saying and assuming during their interviews. Since the recently added parental benefit and leave for the second parent are new, there is uncertainty and possible stigmatization for those who take it. This is clear in the lack of participants who were men that I was able to recruit for this study, and in the lack of women participants whose partners took leave. Men need to start taking the leave, now provided to them, before any pattern can emerge among gender differentiated experiences of leave in relation to paid work.

My fourth and final research question asked whether taking leave as the second parent has an impact on individuals' experiences. Due to the lack of second parents, including same-sex partners and fathers, in my study, I am unable to answer this research question. In addition to a lack of representation, there was a lack of knowledge surrounding the recently added parental benefit and leave for the second parent due to the

newness of the policy. This lack of knowledge was described more specifically in Chapter 4. Even though my results for this question were inconclusive, the importance of the question still holds value. More work needs to be done if second parents, particularly men, are to take the leave that is now provided for them. Some of this work is the responsibility of HR departments as well. It is my hope that men will use this leave once more information can be communicated to new parents about the benefits of this policy.

Literature surrounding geographic comparisons to Québec and Nordic countries conclude that non-transferable leave for the second parent increases a man's participation in domestic tasks (Hass & Hwang 2007, 2008, 2019a, 2019b; McKay & Doucet 2010; McKay, Mathieu, & Doucet 2016). I have learned from the literature that men who take leave are active participants in domestic labour and more acutely aware of gender disparities in wages. Further research with increased representation of men is required to make balanced comparisons between men who do and do not take leave. Hopefully, men can utilize second parent leave, like they have in Québec and Nordic countries, to increase their domestic participation. I believe this outcome is possible, however, men and second parents, more generally, need to learn about the leave for second parents and begin taking it.

Furthermore, the rest of Canada would benefit from adopting a similar system to the Québec Parental Insurance Plan, (QPIP). During summer 2020, my participants, Tony and Glen were using CERB to fund a non-standard parental leave. CERB was not more or less beneficial than EI, however, it allowed for a different avenue towards parental leave that meshed well with the lives and unemployed status of the men taking it.

Different avenues should be available to parents attempting to fund parental leaves. This

idea is echoed by Doucet and co-authors (2020) in their discussions surrounding reconceptualizing parental leave benefits where they recommend a shift towards more flexible parental leave policies.

In addition to lacking data to answer the fourth research question, I was unable to comment on the experiences of leave for same-sex and adoptive parent couples. It was my goal to speak with same-sex and adoptive couples, however, I was unable to connect with any during the recruitment process. The experiences of these two groups would be interesting to document in relation to leave for the second parent, and to compare and contrast with the experiences of heterosexual couples. Would traditional leave experiences would be as common? I also did not obtain an interview with a company president or CEO. I wonder if these executives view those who take the eighteen month option as less committed to their job? I am curious what the corporate implications are surrounding the hiring of a replacement employee for a longer duration of up to eighteen months.

Lastly, my research sample included primarily Caucasian-presenting individuals with relatively high household incomes and relatively stable employment. This type of participant sample was not intentional, however, it was a result of snowball sampling and social media outreach recruitment strategies. Those with full-time work are more likely to enjoy the benefit of leave when compared to those with lower incomes or part-time work who may struggle to take leave at a reduced income. If COVID-19 was not a dominant factor during the months of my recruitment, I may have been more cognizant regarding the type of individual I was recruiting, and subsequently searched for a more diverse sample. However, during the months of recruitment, I was primarily concerned with

locating an appropriate number of participants to conduct this study in the event COVID-19, and various realities surrounding the pandemic made it challenging to continue this thesis inquiry.

## 7.2 RETURN TO THEORY

The two guiding theoretical frameworks for this thesis included feminist political economy and social constructionism. The first theoretical framework that I applied to this research was feminist political economy which documents the importance of the material resources influencing leave uptakes, such as government policy and the market economy. Feminist political economy also helps to understand how inequalities come about through factors like household income and occupational position (Jon Maroney & Luxton 2014; Meisenbach et al. 2008; Peterson 2005; Vosko 2002). This claim is highlighted in my research since many heterosexual couples reported a potential loss to household income if the man took leave. Additionally, this claim helps to explain the whiteness and relative wealth of my participant sample. Since I was initially interested in the workplace reactions to parental leave in relation to second parent leave, feminist political economy has aided in answering how leave experiences can become differential for women and men. Through a feminist political economy lens, the evaluation of leave uptake in an employment setting has helped to provide awareness of various gendered inequalities. As well, this theory brought insight into how a lack of parental leave policy knowledge can be determined by particular structural features in a workplace such as the lack of HR departments. This was true for Hannah who was unaware of the recently added parental benefit, as her company did not have a HR department (Interview 17).

Through a focus on material resources such as government policy and the market economy, feminist political economy has been beneficial for examining penalties concerning parental leave and the ways participants can negotiate or redefine their leave in atypical ways. Overall, feminist political economy was a valuable framework for conceptualizing the ways leave-taking individuals interact with fixed structures. This theory was a focus in Chapter 4 and guided discussions surrounding gendered experiences of leave; structural features of a workplace; penalties associated with leave; parental leave policy knowledge; and the ways individuals can redefine their leaves. Feminist political economy was also used in Chapter 6 and my discussions of government policy such as CERB.

In contrast, my second theoretical framework, social constructionism provided insight in other complementary ways. Social constructionism looks at how interaction creates the meanings that we attach to people, places, and things in terms of our social, cultural, and historical context (Elder-Vass 2007). Social constructionism is a valuable lens to conceptualize the ways parental leave policies are interpreted between co-workers, managers, and workplaces more broadly, and how those who take leaves are consequently defined. This theory helps answer the questions of how leave is viewed and constructed to be an acceptable or unacceptable practice and whether leave-takers are viewed as replaceable or problematic employees. These reactions, particularly corporate reactions, are intertwined with organizational culture and interpreted by individuals within the work organization. Reactions can also be intertwined with broader social norms which construct women, rather than men, as leave-takers. It is a powerful framework to capture how reactions emerge to clarify the leave as acceptable.

Finally, social constructionism has helped me explore the worker-parent identity crisis and the ways leave-taking individuals work through various identities to be both acceptable workers and parents. The findings surrounding the worker-parent identity crisis were influenced by Acker's (1990) ideal worker norm and Williams and co-authors' (2013) work devotion schema. For Acker, the core idea surrounding the ideal worker norm refers to a person who is able to give priority to work without any outside distractions (145). For Williams and co-authors, the work devotion schema describes the cultural assumptions demanding individualized undivided attention towards work (210-11). The ideal worker norm and work devotion schema inform social norms that shape employee ideas of what it means to be a "good" worker. Social constructionism helps to understand why workers internalize these social norms and use them as building blocks in their personal identity. Individuals on leave construct their own identities as workers and parents and wrestle with how to best live in these two identities.

Social constructionism was used in Chapter 5 to help answer questions surrounding reactions to leave from both corporate and personal perspectives, about organizational culture in a workplace, and regarding the worker-parent identity crisis. This theoretical lens was also valuable in Chapter 6 to frame reactions from participants towards appropriate and formal working from home practices. Social constructionism also helped me consider how social norms have led me to frame the participant interview. I viewed participants as 'more formal' when they conducted their interviews in a home office, away from household distractions. This formality, however, had nothing to do with the outcome and analysis of the conversation; it was just a personal, preconceived idea.

A secondary theory I explored in Chapter 2 was backlash theory. Backlash theory works with the primary concepts in feminist political economy and social constructionism. Backlash theory is described by Fleishmann and Sieverding (2015) as examining the economic and social sanctions that are responses to unconventional behaviours (464). Some of these sanctions may include a decreased hiring or promotion probability or a lack of respect form co-workers and managers on the basis of an employee's leave. While I did not employ backlash theory as a primary theoretical framework, its impacts are still valuable to discuss in the big picture of this research. Not all participants in my study received backlash for taking parental leave, however, some experienced isolation and negative co-worker and manager reactions both prior to and during their leaves (Interview 5, 7, 9, 17). Additionally, backlash has the possibility to impact women and men differently. Due to the limited number of men in my participant sample the gender differentiated experiences of backlash are unknown. The experiences these participants had in relation to backlash theory demonstrates how backlash is established in organizational cultures through socially constructed tendencies, and enacted through penalties with economic implications for workers.

Both feminist political economy and social constructionism have been valuable frameworks to understand discussions of the uptake of parental leave and employment-related impacts on individuals in medium to large sized companies. These two perspectives have worked in unison throughout this thesis inquiry providing insightful and complementary frameworks of analysis. These frameworks are complementary due to feminist political economy's focus on structural aspects pertaining to leave and social constructionism's focus on the interpersonal reactions. Both feminist political economy

and social constructionism have helped answer questions pertaining to the material and conceptual obstacles to taking leave.

# 7.3 RECOMENDATIONS AND SUGGESTIONS FOR ADDITIONAL RESEARCH

Research on the topic of parental leave and related themes such as gender roles, gender wage gaps, and workplace culture and structures must continue to be explored.

This research inquiry will continue to be relevant as the uptake of leave by second parents increases and the influences of the COVID-19 pandemic are more widely known.

Research should be completed in the future when information on recently policy changes are more widely communicated and parents have more knowledge of leave options. The lack of fathers represented in my research sample is an indicator for how few individuals are taking the options available to second parents. I believe this lack of knowledge surrounding the policy is one of the primary obstacles to its uptake. If more second parents can learn about the policy, and successfully take leave, than perhaps future research will yield higher numbers of second parents in their research samples.

Moreover, if people still are not taking leave for the second parent in a few years then research needs to be done about the reasons why. An inquiry on why second parent leave is not taken could yield differing narratives about gender roles and corporate cultures and structures. It is my hope that participants in my study took the knowledge they gained about the recent policy changes and extended it to their parenting networks. I believe it will take a few years before sharing parent leave is commonplace, however, I am hopeful that this practice will become a positive and unstigmatized experience for all who take it,

as it is in Québec and various Nordic countries. As well, I selfishly hope that one day my partner and I will be able to use the recently added parental benefit.

Future research on parental leave within a employment perspective could consider the following items. First, supplementary work needs to be done on men and the worker-parent identity crisis. The worker-parent identity crisis was one of the most interesting findings of my study; however, due to the lack of men in my research sample it was challenging to infer if this experience is gendered based on my study alone. Other research on second parent leave in Québec and Nordic countries has suggested that experiences similar to the work-parent identity crisis could become less gendered if second parent leave is actually taken by more individuals (Hass & Hwang 2007, 2008, 2019a, 2019b; McKay & Doucet 2010; McKay, Mathieu, & Doucet 2016). Both men and women in my study experienced the worker-parent identity crisis in some capacity, although, more research needs to be done on the way it affects people by gender and how this may change over time in Canada given the recent changes to leave policy.

Second, future work on parental leave within an employment perspective needs to be done with a more diverse participant sample. Diversity must be considered in terms of social class, gender, sexuality, and race. Research that emphasizes an employment perspective would benefit from a diverse participant sample to further enrich findings on general disparities and to hopefully help rectify inequalities in the workplace. My research sample included White individuals who were in heterosexual relationships. Further, all individuals reported relatively high, shared household incomes. Moving forward, researchers who explore research of this topic must be aware of the type of individual who typically takes parental leave. Researchers must then search to find more

diverse individuals who complement the usual candidates and can share their differing experience. It was my initial hope to include same-sex couples and adoptive parents and there is value in documenting their experiences.

Lastly, subsequent work needs to be completed exclusively on the topic of redefining leave. I did not anticipate the discovery of atypical leave experiences at the outset of my research. Women in my study redefined their leaves as a way to exercise their agency and make government policy better suit their needs. This suggests that women are becoming active in creating their own model of parental leave to improve the benefits that are offered to them and avoid workplace penalties. Women taking the initiative to leverage the length of leave, outside the current dichotomous formal options, is an interesting parallel to men using other kinds of policy such as vacation days or CERB to fund their "parental leave".

It is also valuable to look back on redefining leave, within the pandemic contexts, because the practices of working and parenting became incredibly intertwined due to various quarantine and work-from-home orders. These experiences may differ by gender. As well, two men in my study were using pandemic specific programing, such as CERB, to fund atypical leave experiences. Use of temporary parental leave policy changes due to COVID-19 and other pandemic specific benefits would also be interesting leaves to examine in comparison to standard non-pandemic parental leave.

Research that examines the impacts of taking parental leave on workers will always be valuable to consider. Moving forward, researchers must be cognizant to the value of framing findings within an employment perspective because the topic is underresearched in the face of emerging policy. As well, parental leave policy is a fluid entity

and must be adaptable to fit the needs of its users. Researchers must do their part to ensure these policies actually reflect demands of new parents.

#### 7.4 FINAL THOUGHTS

The attitudes of Albertans in my study who are currently on parental leave, who recently returned to work post-leave, and those hoping to take leave in the future are consistent: a one size fits all maternity and parental leave policy is not enough! The uniformity of the current maternity and parental leave policies do not accommodate flexibility in the length of parental leaves, as there are only two choices for either a twelve or eighteen month leave. Parental leave policy needs to evolve to better suit the needs of leave-taking individuals who are already finding ways to redefine their leaves within standard policies. Additionally, knowledge of parental leave policies and uptake must become mainstream before any cultural stigmatization and corporate penalties can be dismantled.

Parental leaves for both women and men must become a common and acceptable practice without stigmatizing or penalizing the worker. Similar research questions should continue to be asked in the future to fully understand the continued learning and uptake of parental leave policies such as leave for the second parent. As well, future research should seek to answer how COVID-19 has impacted leave-taking individuals and influenced experiences of working and parenting more broadly. The findings from my research align with other various findings from researchers in the field, and strengthen previous understandings of gendered experiences of working and leave-taking.

#### REFERENCES

- Acker, Joan. 1990. "Hierarchies, Jobs, Bodies: A Theory of Gendered Organizations." *Gender & Society* 4 (2): 139–158. doi: 10.1177/089124390004002002.
- Acuña, Ricardo. 2015. "A Window on Power and Influence in Alberta Politics." In *Alberta Oil and the Decline of Democrary in Canada*, edited by Meenal Shrivastava, and Lorna Stefanick, 295-312. Edmonton: AU Press, Athabasca University.
- Aguinaldo, Jeffery P. 2012. "Qualitative Analysis in Gay Men's Health Research: Comparing Thematic, Critical Discourse, and Conversation Analysis." *Journal of Homosexuality* 59 (6): 765-787.
- Alberta Employment Standards. 2019. "Maternity and Parental Leave Provisions." https://www.alberta.ca/maternity-parental-leave.aspx.
- Almqvist, Anna-Lena and Ann-Zofie Duvander. 2014. "Changes in Gender Equality? Swedish Fathers' Parental Leave, Division of Childcare and Housework." *Journal of Family Studies* 20 (1): 19-27. doi: 10.5172/jfs.2014.20.1.19.
- Andrew, Caroline 2003. "Engendering the State in SPE: The Interrelations of Theory and Practice, and of Class, Race and Gender." In *Studies in Political Economy:*Developments in Feminism, edited by Caroline Andrew, Pat Armstrong, Hugh Armstrong, Wallace Clement, and Leah Vosko, 213-219. Toronto: Women's Press.
- Armstrong, Pat and Hugh Armstrong. 1990. *Theorizing Women's Work*. Toronto: Garamond Press.
- Bird, Cindy M. 2005. "How I Stopped Dreading and Learned to Love Transcription." *Qualitative Inquiry* 11 (2): 226-248. doi: 10.1177/1077800404273413.
- Björk Eydal, Guðný, Ingólfur V. Gíslason, Tine Rostgaard, Berit Brandth, Ann- Zofie Duvander and Johanna Lammi-Taskula. 2015. "Trends in Parental Leave in the Nordic Countries: Has the Forward March of Gender Equality Halted?" *Community, Work & Family* 18 (2): 167-181. doi: 10.1080/13668803.2014.1002754.
- Blundell, Richard, Costa Dias, Monica, Joyce, Robert, and Xu, Xiaowei. 2020. "COVID-19 and Inequalities." *Fiscal Studies* 41 (2): 291-319.
- Borgkvist, Ashlee, Vivienne Moore, Jaklin Eliott, and Shona Crabb. 2018. "I Might Be a Bit of a Front Runner: An Analysis of Men's Uptake of Flexible Work Arrangements and Masculine Identity." *Gender, Work & Organization* 25 (1): 703-717.

- Braun, Virginia and Victoria Clarke. 2006. "Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology." *Qualitative Research in Psychology* 3 (2): 77-101.
- Calnitsky, David. 2019 "The High-hanging Fruit of the Gender Revolution: A Model of Social Reproduction and Social Change." *Sociological Theory* 37 (1): 35-61.
- Collins, Caitlyn, Liana Christin Landivar, Leah Ruppanner, and William J. Scarborough. 2021. "COVID-19 and the Gender Gap in Work Hours." *Gender, Work & Organization* 28 (1): 101-112. doi:10.1111/gwao.12506.
- Comacchio, Cynthia. 2000. "History of Us": Social Science, History, and the Relations of Family in Canada." *The Canadian Committee on Labour History* 46 (1): 1-26.
- Craig, Lyn and Brendan Churchill. 2021. "Dual-earner Parent Couples' Work and Care During COVID-19." *Gender, Work & Organization* 28 (1): 66-79. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12497.
- Dainty, Andrew R.J, and Barbara Bagihole. 2006. "Women's and men's careers in the UK Construction Industry: A Comparative analysis." In *Managing Diversity and Equality in Construction: Initiatives and Practice*, edited by Andrew W. Gale and Marilyn J. Davidson, 98-111. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Department of Finance. 2018. "Backgrounder: Canada's New Parental Sharing Benefit." https://www.canada.ca/en/department-finance/news/2018/04/backgrounder-canadas-new-parental-sharing-benefit.html.
- Doucet, Andrea. 2006. *Do Men Mother? Fathering, Care, and Domestic Responsibility*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Doucet, Andrea, Sophie Mathieu, and Lindsey McKay. 2020. "Reconceptualizing Parental Leave Benefits in COVID-19 Canada: From Employment Policy to Care and Social Protection Policy." *Canadian Public Policy* 46 (3): 272-286.
- Doucet, Andrea and Lindsey McKay. 2020. "Fathering, Parental Leave, Impacts, and Gender Equality: What/How are we Measuring?" *The International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy* 40 (5/6): 441-463.
- Elder-Vass, Dave. 2007. "Towards a Realist Social Constructionism." *Sociologia* 1 (70): 9-24. doi: 10.7458/SPP2012701208.
- Employment and Social Development Canada. 2021. "EI Maternity and Parental Leave Benefits: Eligibility." https://www.canada.ca/en/services/benefits/ei/ei-maternity-parental/eligibility.html.

- Employment and Social Development Canada. 2019a. "EI Maternity and Parental Benefits: What These Benefits Offer." https://www.canada.ca/en/services/benefits/ei/ei-maternity-parental.html.
- Employment and Social Development Canada. 2019b. "Maternity Related Reassignment and Leave, Maternity Leave and Parental Leave." https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/services/labour-standards/reports/maternity-leave.html#h2.15.
- Employment and Social Development Canada. 2019c. "EI Regular Benefits: Eligibility Criteria." https://www.canada.ca/en/services/benefits/ei/ei-regular-benefit/eligibility.html.
- Employment and Social Development Canada. 2019d. "More Choice for Parents." https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/campaigns/eiimprovements/parental-choice.html.
- Employment and Social Development Canada. 2019e. "Extra Weeks of Employment Insurance Parental Benefits Available March 17." https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/news/2019/03/extra-weeks-of-employment-insurance-parental-benefits-available-march-17.html.
- Employment and Social Development Canada. 2018. "Employment Insurance Working While on Claim." https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/programs/ei/ei-list/working-while-claim.html.
- Findlay, Leanne C and Dafna E. Kohen. 2012. "Leave Practices of Parents After the Birth or Adoption of Young Children." *Canadian Social Trends (July 30):* 3-18. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 11-008. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-008-x/2012002/article/11697-eng.htm.
- Fleischmann, Alexandra and Monika Sieverding. 2015. "Reactions Toward Men Who Have Taken Parental Leave: Does the Length of Parental Leave Matter?" *Sex Roles* 72 (10): 462-476.
- Fostik, Ana and Kaddatz, Jennifer. 2020. "Family Finances and Mental Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic." The Vanier Institute of the Family. https://vanierinstitute.sharepoint.com/sites/PublicWebResources/Documents/Public%.
- Geisler, Esther and Michaela Kreyenfelf. 2018. "Policy Reform and Father' use of Parental Leave in Germany: The Role of Education and Workplace Characteristics." *Journal of European Social Policy* 29 (2): 273-291.

- Gorman, Elizabeth H. and Sarah Mosseri. 2018. "How Organizational Characteristics Shape Gender Difference and Inequality at Work." *Sociology Compass* 13 (3): 1-18. doi: 10.1111/soc4.12660.
- Guillemin, Marilys and Lynn Gillam. 2004. "Ethics, Reflexivity, and "Ethically Important Moments" in Research." *Qualitative Inquiry* 10 (2): 261-280. doi: 10.1177/1077800403262360.
- Guppy, Neil and Nicole Luongo. 2015. "The Rise and Stall of Canada's Gender-Equity Revolution." *Canadian Review of Sociology* 52 (3): 241-256.
- Hass, Linda, Karin Allard, and Philip Hwang. 2002. "The Impact of Organizational Culture of Men's Use of Parental Leave in Sweden." *Community, Work & Family* 5 (3): 319-342. doi: 10.1080/1366880022000041801.
- Hass, Linda and C. Philip Hwang. 2019a. "Workplace Support and European Father' use of State Policies Promoting Shared Childcare." *Community, Work & Family* 22 (1): 1-22. doi: 10.1080/13668803.2018.1556204.
- ——2019b. "Policy is Not Enough The Influence of the Gendered Workplace on Fathers' Use of Parental Leave in Sweden." *Community, Work & Family* 22 (1): 58-76.
- ———2008. "The Impact of Taking Parental Leave on Fathers' Participation in Childcare and Relationships with Children: Lessons from Sweden." *Community, Work & Family* 11 (1): 85-104.
- ——2007. "Gender and Organizational Culture Correlates of Companies' Responsiveness to Fathers in Sweden." *Gender & Society* 21 (1): 52-79.
- Hjálmsdóttir, Andrea and Bjarnadóttir, Valgerour. 2021. "I Have Turned Into a Foreman Here at Home': Families and Work-Life Balance in Times of COVID-19 in a Gender Equality Paradise." *Gender, Work, & Organization* 28 (1): 268-283. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12552.
- Holliday Wayne, Julie and Bryanne L Cordeiro. 2003. "Who Is a Good Organizational Citizen? Social Perception of Male and Female Employees Who Use Family Leave." *Sex Roles* 49 (6): 233-246.
- Huerta, Maria C., Willema Adema, and Jennifer Baxter. 2014. "Fathers' Leave and Fathers' Involvement: Evidence from Four OECD Countries." *European Journal of Social Security* 16 (4): 308-346.
- Hwang, Woosang. 2018. "The Effects of Family-Friendly Policies and Workplace Social Support on Parenting Stress in Employed Mothers Working Nonstandard Hours."

- Journal of Social Service Research 45 (5): 659-672. doi: 10.1080/01488376.2018.1501790.
- Jon Maroney, Heather and Meg Luxton. 2014. "Gender at Work: Canadian Feminist Political Economy Since 1988." In *Understanding Canada: Building on the New Canadian Political Economy*, edited by W. Clement, 85-117. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Kimmel, Michael S. 2000. "The Gendered Family." In *The Gendered Society*, 111-149. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Ebook.
- Lincoln, Yvonna S., Susan A. Lynham, and Egon G. Guba 2011. "Paradigmatic Controversies, Contradictions, and Emerging Confluences, Revisited." In *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research*, edited by Norman K. Denzin and Yvonna S. Lincoln, 97-128. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Luxton, Meg. 1997. "Nothing Natural About It' The Contradictions of Parenting." In *Feminism and Families: Critical Policies and Changing Practices*, edited by Meg Luxton, 162-181. Nova Scotia: Fernwood Publishing. Ebook.
- MacLeavy, Julie. 2021. "Care Work, Gender Inequality and Technological Advancement in the Age of COVID-19." *Gender, Work, & Organization* 28 (1): 138-154. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12534.
- Mariskind, Clare. 2017. "Good Mothers and Responsible Citizens: Analysis of Public Support for the Extension of Paid Parental Leave." *Women's Studies International Forum* 61 (1): 14-19.
- McCurdy, Arthur H., Meredith A. Newman, and Nicholas P Lovrich. 2002. "Family-Friendly Workplace Policy Adoption in General and Special Purpose Local Governments: Learning From the Washington State Experience." *Review of Public Personnel Administration* 22 (1): 27-51.
- McKay, Lindsey and Andrea Doucet. 2010. "Without Taking Away Her Leave'. A Canadian Case Study of Couples' Decisions on Fathers' Use of Paid Parental Leave." *Fathering* 8 (3): 300-320.
- McKay, Lindsey and Sophie Mathieu, and Andrea Doucet. 2016. "Parental-Leave Rich and Parental-Leave Poor: Inequality in Canadian Labour Market Based Leave Policies." *Journal of Industrial Relations* 58 (4): 543-562.
- Meisenbach, Rebecca J., Robyn V. Remke, Oatrice M. Buzzanell and Meina Liu. 2008. "They Allowed': Pentadic Mapping of Women's Maternity Leave Discourse as Organizational Rhetoric." *Communication Monographs* 75 (1): 1-24. doi: 10.1080/03637750801952727.

- Miller, Gloria E. 2004. "Frontier Masculinity in the Oil Industry: The Experience of Women Engineers." *Gender, Work & Organization* 11 (1): 47-73.
- Mills, Suzanne. 2011. "The Difficulty with Diversity: White and Aboriginal Women Workers' Representations of Diversity Management in Forest Processing Mills." *Labour/Le Travail* 67 (1): 45-76.
- Moss, Peter and Fred Deven. 2015. "Leave Policies in Challenging Times: Reviewing the Decade 2003-2014." *Community, Work & Family* 18 (2): 137-144.
- O' Reilly III, Charles A., David F. Caldwell, Jennifer A. Chatman, and Bernadette Doerr. 2014. "The Promise and Problems of Organizational Culture: CEO Personality, Culture, and Firm Performance." *Group and Organization Management* 39 (6): 595-625. doi: 10.1177/1059601114550713.
- Patterson, Martha. 2018. "Who Works Part Time and Why?" 1-6. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 71-222-X. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/71-222-x/71-222-x2018002-eng.htm.
- Pelletier, Rachelle, and Martha Patterson. 2018. "The Gender Wage Gap in Canada: 1998-2018." 1-15. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-004-M. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/75-004-m/75-004-m2019004-eng.htm.
- Peterson, Spike V. 2005. "How (the meaning of) Gender Matters in Political Economy." *New Political Economy* 10 (4): 499-521. doi: 10.1080/13563460500344468.
- Pettigrew, Rachel. 2020. "Canadian Employers' Reaction and Policy Adaptation to the Extended, 61-Week Parental Leave." *Canadian Studies in Population* 1 (4): 1-13. doi: 10.1007/s42650-020-00030-y.
- Pettigrew, Rachel and Karen A. Duncan. 2017. "Poking a Sleeping Bear: The Challenge of Organizational Recruitment for Controversial Topics." *Community, Work & Family* 20 (1): 35-49.
- Pold, Henry. 2001. "Trends in Part-Time Work." 20-27. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-001-XIE. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/75-001-x/00401/5727-eng.html.
- Pupo, Norene, Ann Duffy, and Daniel Glenday. 2017. *Crises in Canadian Work*. Don Mills Ontario: Oxford University Press.
- Raile, Amber N. W., Eric D. Raile, David C. Parker, Elizabeth W. Shanahan, Eliza A., and Pavielle Haines. 2020. "Women and the Weight of a Pandemic: A Survey of Four Western US States Early in the Coronavirus Outbreak." *Gender, Work & Organization*. doi: 10.1111/gwao.12590.

- Ranson, Gillian. 2010. "Establishing the Context." *Against The Grain*, 9-28. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Ravasi, Davide and Majken Schultz. 2006. "Responding to Organizational Identity Threats: Exploring the Role of Organizational Culture." *The Academy of Management Journal* 49 (3): 433-458. doi: 10.2307/20159775.
- Rehel, Erin M. 2014. "When Dad Stays Home Too: Paternity Leave, Gender, and Parenting." *Gender & Society* 28 (1): 110-132.
- Richards, Kimberly Skye. 2019. "Crude Optimism: Romanticizing Alberta's Oil Frontier at the Calgary Stampede." *The Drama Review* 63 (2): 138-157.
- Ryan, Gery W. and H. Russell Bernard. 2000. "Data Management and Analysis Methods." In *Handbook of Qualitative Research Second Edition*, edited by Carla Willig and Wendy Stainton Rogers, 769-801. Thousand Oaks London: Sage Publications.
- Schieman, Scott and Philip J. Badawy. 2020. "The Status Dynamics of Role Blurring in the Time of COVID-19." *American Sociological Association* 16 (1): 1-14. doi: 02.1317870.
- Siltanen, Janet and Andrea Doucet. 2008. "Masculinities—Hegemonic and Otherwise." In *Gender Relations in Canada: Intersectionalities and Social Change*, 73-81. Don Mills Ontario: Oxford University Press.
- Statistics Canada. 2021. "Labour Force Survey, March 2021." *The Daily* (April 9, 2021). https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210409/dq210409a-eng.htm.
- Statistics Canada. 2019. "Unemployment Rate, Participation Rate and Employment Rate by Sex, Annual." Table 14-10-0327-02. Ottawa: Ministry of Industry. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1410032702&pickMember s%5B0%5D=4.3.
- Stefanick, Lorna. 2015. "Blurring the Boundaries of Private, Partisan, and Public Interests." In *Alberta Oil and the Decline of Democrary in Canada*, edited by Meenal Shrivastava, and Lorna Stefanick, 295-312. Edmonton: AU Press, Athabasca University.
- Tracy, Sarah J. 2019. "Interview Planning and Design: Structuring, Wording, and Questioning." In *Qualitative Research Methods: Collecting Evidence, Crafting Analysis, Communicating Impact*, edited by Sarah J. Tracy, 155-180. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated. Ebook.

- Tremblay, Diane-Gabrielle and Émilie Genin. 2011. "Parental Leave: An Important Employee Right, But an Organizational Challenge." *Employee Responsibility and Rights* 23 (4): 249-268.
- Turner, Daniel W. 2010. "Qualitative Interview Design: A Practical Guide for Novice Investigators." *The Qualitative Report* 15 (3): 754-760.
- Valet, Vicky, ed. 2020. "Canada's Best Employers." *Forbes Magazine*. New York: Forbes Inc. https://www.forbes.com/canada-best-employers/#6a6255d9241f.
- Van der Lippe, Tanja, Leonie Van Breeschoten, and Margriet Van Hek. 2019.
  "Organizational Work–Life Policies and the Gender Wage Gap in European Workplaces." *Work and Occupations* 46 (2): 111-148. doi: 10.1177/0730888418791652.
- Vosko, Leah F. 2002. "The Pasts (and Futures) of Feminist Political Economy in Canada: Reviving the Debate." *Studies in Political Economy* 68 (1): 55-83. doi: 10.1080/19187033.2002.11675191.
- Williams, Christine L. 2019. "The Deserving Professional: Job Insecurity and Gender Inequality in the Oil and Gas Industry." *Labour & Industry* 29 (2) 199-212.
- Williams, Christine L. 2017. "The Gendered Discourse of Work-Family Balance in the Oil and Gas Industry." *The Southern Sociological Society* 5 (2): 120-139.
- Williams, Joan C., Mary Blair-Loy, and Jennifer L. Berdahl. 2013. "Cultural Schemas, Social Class, and the Flexibility Stigma." *Journal of Social Issues* 69 (2): 209-234.
- Yssaad, Lahouaria, and Vincent Ferrao. 2019. "Self Employed Canadians: Who and Why?" 1-10. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 71-222-X. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/71-222-x/71-222-x2019002-eng.htm.

## **APPENDIX 1: THEMATIC CODES**

\*Denotes codes that emerged from the interviews.

- 1. Structural Features Influencing Leave
  - a) \*Top-up programs.
  - b) \*Employee entitlements.
  - c) \*Knowledge and informing of HR departments.
  - d) Working over leave.
  - e) Influence of replacement employees.
- 2. Gendered Experiences of Leave and Work
  - a) \*Gender wage gaps
  - b) Stigmatization towards men's leaves.
  - c) How EI is experienced by fathers.
  - d) Gendered organizational substructures.
- 3. Penalties Towards Employees Who Take Leave
  - a) Withholding of promotions, salary increases, and position changes.
  - b) \*Inequalities among co-workers.
  - c) Workplace assumptions about who will become a parent.
- 4. Knowledge of Parental Leave Policy Knowledge
  - a) \*Limited knowledge surrounding the recently added parental benefit.
  - b) Why fathers are not taking leave.
- 5. Redefining Leave
  - a) \*Redefining leave and COVID-19.
  - b) \*Redefining leave and non-standard experiences.
  - c) \*Redefining leave as a second parent.
- 6. Reactions Towards Participants Choice of Leave From Co-Workers/Managers
  - a) Reactions towards leave by gender.
  - b) Reactions toward second parent leave.
  - c) \*Reactions toward extended leave up to eighteen months.
  - d) \*Direct criticisms towards leave uptake.
- 7. Reactions Towards Leave by Spouses
  - a) How two parent households plan their leaves.
  - b) Traditionally gendered working and parenting models.
  - c) \*Women's sense of entitlement towards leave.
- 8. Organizational Culture Influencing Leave
  - a) Creations of negative working environments.
  - b) Creations of positive working environments.

- 9. The Worker-Parent Identity Crisis
  - a) \*Constructions of parent identity.
  - b) \*Constructions of worker identities.
  - c) \*How leave choices are embedded in identity.
  - d) Working over leave.

# 10. COVID-19 and Parental Leave

- a) Managing return to work.
- b) \*Redefining leave.
- c) \*Participant answering strategies.